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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have been asked to review the reasons

         2       I gave on 14 March 2006 restricting access to certain

         3       documents.  The orders I make are as follows:  for the

         4       reasons given, I am of the view that the decision given on

         5       14 March was correct.  I decline to revoke it.  However,

         6       for the avoidance of doubt, and having now received full

         7       submissions from counsel assisting, counsel for the

         8       Commonwealth on behalf of the Australian Intelligence

         9       Community, counsel for AWB Limited, Rhine Ruhr Pty Limited

        10       and witnesses appearing before this inquiry, such

        11       submissions being received from counsel with their having

        12       the advantage of knowledge of the substance of the secret

        13       documents and their distribution, I today make a further

        14       orders in terms identical to that made on 14 March 2006.  I

        15       publish my reasons.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, this morning we have received

        18       what I believe to be Mr Hogan's notebook.  It's dated

        19       February 2003.  The first entry is Monday, 10 February.  We

        20       have been through the notebook in the time we've had.

        21       We've not found anything in it that appears to be relevant

        22       to this inquiry.  There are references here and there to

        23       Iraq, but they seem to be references made in the ordinary

        24       course of trade and they do not raise any issue before this

        25       inquiry.  So I simply announce that we have that document.

        26       I don't propose to tender it, because it doesn't appear to

        27       be relevant in any way.  If it were to be tendered, there

        28       may be other reasons why it would have to be marked

        29       confidential, but given that it doesn't seem to be

        30       relevant, I won't tender it.

        31

        32            I understood that we were to return to Mr Hogan this

        33       morning and that he was to be further examined by

        34       Mr Lacava.  Are we in a position to proceed with that?

        35

        36       MR LACAVA:   Yes, we are.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   Then I will call Mr Hogan for that purpose.

        39

        40       MR FORREST:   Commissioner, while Mr Hogan is coming to be

        41       recalled, could I, with Mr Carter, seek leave to appear for

        42       Nigel Edmonds-Wilson on the usual terms?

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Forrest.  That leave is granted

        45       on the usual terms.

        46

        47
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         1       <DOMINIC JOHN HOGAN, on former oath:              [10.16am]

         2

         3       <EXAMINATION BY MR LACAVA CONTINUING:

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Hogan, you're on your former oath.

         6

         7       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Mr Hogan, yesterday I asked you about the

         8       preparation of your first statement; do you recall that?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   You were interviewed, were you not, by Mr Agius and an

        12       instructor from the Commission at your home on 9 January

        13       this year?

        14       A.   Correct.

        15

        16       Q.   Prior to that interview had you prepared a draft

        17       statement and provided it to the Commission?

        18       A.   Yes, I did.

        19

        20       Q.   It formed the basis, did it not, of the interview that

        21       was conducted at your home?

        22       A.   Correct.  The first statement that I provided was the

        23       occurrences from 1999, that period, to the best of my

        24       recollection without the documents.

        25

        26       Q.   Yes.  Mr Agius used that statement and asked you to

        27       expand on a number of things in it, didn't he?

        28       A.   He used that statement to ask some questions, plus he

        29       provided that morning - I was provided with maybe two

        30       folders of documents and contracts, and additional

        31       questions were asked in relation to information in the

        32       folders that they had, that I'd requested.  I was also

        33       asked some questions maybe that came from some previous

        34       statements.

        35

        36       Q.   As a result of that interview, there was a further

        37       statement prepared?

        38       A.   Correct.  From that interview a draft statement was

        39       taken and the Commission took that draft statement plus the

        40       interview that we had and sent back for us to add in

        41       further information in regards to documents that I'd only

        42       seen that morning - the DFAT, letter, et cetera - make

        43       comments on that, some different things that I didn't

        44       recall in my first statement.

        45

        46       Q.   When you say the DFAT letter, you're referring to your

        47       draft fax to Ms Courtney of 27 October 2000?
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         1       A.   Correct.

         2

         3       Q.   You didn't have that when you were first interviewed

         4       by Mr Agius on 9 January this year, did you - at least he

         5       didn't have it with him?

         6       A.   No, I think - I'm confident that he showed me that

         7       document during the interview.

         8

         9       Q.   All right.  After the interview was completed, there

        10       were further changes made to your statement, and it

        11       resulted, did it not, in the statement that you produced to

        12       the inquiry when you first gave evidence on about 5 or

        13       6 February this year?

        14       A.   Correct.  I think up until 29 January, or so, we were

        15       working on the statement up until that time.  I had not

        16       received any of my diary notes or folders, which I think

        17       comprised about three or four large volumes of the diary

        18       notes that would help me.  I didn't receive those until

        19       very - I'm not sure of the date, but until very late

        20       before.  I had to rush through those.

        21

        22       Q.   The statement that was produced to the hearing and

        23       marked as exhibit 142, you were happy that that was a true

        24       and correct statement of the evidence that you could give

        25       to this inquiry at that time; is that right?

        26       A.   Yes, at that time, from the documents I've seen and my

        27       recollection of events, that is a true and correct

        28       statement.

        29

        30       Q.   It's in the form of a statutory declaration.  Did you

        31       at some stage declare it to be true and correct before a

        32       justice of the peace or a legal practitioner?

        33       A.   I think we - did we swear the statement, or something,

        34       here in the Commission when I submitted it?  I'm not sure

        35       of how that was done.

        36

        37       Q.   But you adopted it in the witness box on your oath as

        38       being true and correct?

        39       A.   Correct, because we were down in the Swissotel

        40       preparing it.  We did muck up all the formatting when we

        41       were rushing to try to get the paragraph numbers right and

        42       then submitted it, but not signed, no.

        43

        44       Q.   All right.  If I may briefly summarise.  Your evidence

        45       to this inquiry is, isn't it, that between about the middle

        46       of 1999 and up until the time of your trip to Iraq in

        47       February 2001 you were of the belief that the inland
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         1       trucking fees and the payment of them was UN approved?

         2       A.   I believed up until - even till now - that the UN,

         3       through the distribution plan, had approved the allowance

         4       or payment of trucking fees to Iraq right through, which

         5       was part of the cost.  I never denied that.

         6

         7       Q.   Part of your belief that it was UN approved through

         8       the distribution plan was what you were told by Zuhair

         9       Daoud in June of 1999; is that right?

        10       A.   Correct.  Zuhair Daoud advised us that it had been

        11       submitted to the United Nations, or this had been UN

        12       approved with the distribution plan.  Following that, I

        13       dropped out of the loop pretty much until October, when I

        14       was made to go back into Iraq, because Mark Emons couldn't

        15       attend.  At that time then, in October 1999, I was shown a

        16       contract that was submitted to the United Nations, which

        17       had $12 inland transport fees payable to the maritime

        18       agents, and that contract had been confirmed.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   When you say "it had been

        21       submitted", do you mean the distribution plan, or do you

        22       mean something else?

        23       A.   No, as in the contract had been submitted from the AWB

        24       for the July 700,000 tonnes that they concluded - had been

        25       submitted to DFAT to submit to the United Nations and those

        26       contracts had been approved.  They included the $12 payment

        27       to maritime agents in Iraq.

        28

        29       Q.   As a discharge cost?

        30       A.   As a discharge cost, yes.

        31

        32       MR LACAVA:   Q.   And they were the first contracts, were

        33       they not, that were transacted with the discharge cost or

        34       the trucking fee of $12 added?

        35       A.   Correct.  They were the first contracts that included

        36       that term and the $12.

        37

        38       Q.   They were the only contracts, weren't they?

        39       A.   No, I think they submitted another one maybe in

        40       December.  But I can't be sure on that.

        41

        42       Q.   October 1999, was there another one?

        43       A.   It may have been October '99, sorry, yes, the 200,000

        44       tonnes.

        45

        46       Q.   So it was July 1999 and October 1999 - they were the

        47       only contracts that actually disclosed a discharge fee or
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         1       an inland trucking fee, weren't they?

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't think any disclosed an inland

         4       trucking fee, did they?

         5

         6       MR LACAVA:   Did I not say a discharge fee or an inland

         7       trucking fee.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, and that's why I asked you the

        10       question.  I don't think they did say an inland trucking

        11       fee.

        12

        13       THE WITNESS:   They included under the shipping terms a

        14       discharge component of $12 payable to maritime agents in

        15       Iraq.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm right, aren't I, there was no

        18       contract that uses the expression "inland transport fee"?

        19

        20       MR LACAVA:   Correct.

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, that's not quite right.  There

        23       were the Russians contracts, of course, the provenance of

        24       which is uncertain.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm talking about AWB direct.  There

        27       are three or four other contracts we have to look at,

        28       third-party contracts, as they've been called.

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   And they have express provisions in them

        31       concerning inland transport.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Approved by the United Nations.

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   The provenance of them is uncertain.  They

        36       contain different words.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        39

        40       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Mr Hogan, you knew, didn't you, that

        41       after October 1999 there were no AWB contracts for the

        42       supply of wheat to Iraq that, on the face of them,

        43       disclosed either a discharge fee or an inland trucking fee?

        44       A.   I know that fact now.  I initially believed when I did

        45       my first statement, and up until the point of interview

        46       with the Commission - I believed that the contracts that we

        47       did in July 2000 included the term "inland transport fee of
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         1       $14 per metric tonne".  It wasn't until I was interviewed

         2       and I was shown contract documents by Mr Agius that that

         3       term was not in the July contracts.  The contracts had no

         4       reference whatsoever to inland transport.

         5

         6       Q.   You in fact, did you not, on 14 August 2000, forwarded

         7       to Ms Courtney at DFAT three contracts recently signed with

         8       Iraq for UN approval?

         9       A.   Yes, that's in the documents and it's under my

        10       signature, yes.  Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   And you know, don't you, that those three contracts

        13       did not have provision for an inland trucking fee or a

        14       discharge fee, did they?

        15       A.   I know that now after reviewing the documents, and I

        16       would say that maybe my mind was referring to the July 1999

        17       contracts had this component of $12 in there, and my

        18       confusion was that I was thinking of it as 2000, 1999, when

        19       I made my first statements.

        20

        21       Q.   I'm not being critical of that, but at least, as you

        22       now sit back and think about it, you knew, didn't you, in

        23       August 2000, by reading those three contracts that you sent

        24       to Ms Courtney, that they did not provide, on the face of

        25       them, for the provision of the inland trucking fee?

        26       A.   Correct.

        27

        28       Q.   If you knew that in August of 2000, your belief that

        29       the payment of the inland trucking fee had been approved by

        30       the UN was a belief based entirely upon what Zuhair Daoud

        31       had told you in July of 1999?

        32       A.   No, my belief was based on that contracts had been -

        33       not from what Zuhair had said.  My belief was based on - in

        34       October 1999 I was shown from the - Darryl Borlase sent me

        35       the brief plus a contract that had the term in it $12,

        36       payable to the maritime agents.  This had been confirmed by

        37       the United Nations with this fee in there, so at that point

        38       the market that we had been supplying under that term since

        39       July 1999 through to - we're talking now August 2000, over

        40       12 months, using that term.  I had no reason to believe

        41       that it wasn't approved by the United Nations.

        42

        43       Q.   When you returned to Australia from Cairo, in Egypt,

        44       in August of 2000, were you then of the belief that the

        45       payment of the inland trucking fee was UN approved?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you say that to Mr Stott?

         2       A.   I don't recall Mr Stott ever asking me about that part

         3       of the business, because Mr Stott started, I think, on

         4       3 July.  I returned one month later.  In between that

         5       period we had just done a million tonnes of business with a

         6       market brief in there with $14 per metric tonne payable to

         7       a transport company via Alia, or something, that

         8       Darryl Borlase sent me.  Charles would have been aware of

         9       that brief.  He would have been aware and --

        10

        11       Q.   I don't wish to cut you off, Mr Hogan, but I just want

        12       to know did you tell Mr Stott that your belief was that the

        13       payment of the inland trucking fee was approved by the

        14       UN - yes or no?

        15       A.   I cannot recall.  I cannot recall Mr Stott ever asking

        16       me if it was approved.

        17

        18       Q.   Had you been asked by Mr Stott or anyone at AWB on

        19       your return in August of 2000, your answer would have been

        20       that it was your belief that the payment of the inland

        21       trucking fee had been UN approved, wouldn't it?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   Indeed, as we've seen in your evidence, even in

        25       November of 2000, when you negotiated the November

        26       contracts on the night of your birthday, you recorded in

        27       your email, didn't you, that the payment of the inland

        28       trucking fee had been UN approved?

        29       A.   I think, without seeing the document here - I'll just

        30       go from my memory - I think I refer to the 10 per cent as

        31       being approved by the United Nations as per IGB.  I'm not

        32       sure if I do mention exactly the inland trucking fee.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you have the document, Mr Lacava?

        35

        36       MR LACAVA:   Yes, I do, Commissioner.   Could we bring up,

        37       please - indeed, I think it's a confidential exhibit,

        38       confidential exhibit 56C, if the witness could be handed

        39       that, please, Commissioner.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   We'll put it up on the screen.

        42

        43       MR LACAVA:   I do have the AWB number.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Could you read that out?

        46

        47       MR LACAVA:   It's AWB.0144.0221.  I'm just uncertain as to
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         1       whether or not it's been edited.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   If it is a confidential exhibit, I

         4       would have made a non-publication order in respect of the

         5       sensitive material.

         6

         7       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Is that your email?  Do you recognise

         8       that as your email, Mr Hogan, of 2 November?

         9       A.   Correct.

        10

        11       Q.   You'll see, in about the middle of the page, if we can

        12       just have it lifted up a bit, please, on the overhead, you

        13       say:

        14

        15            10% will be added to px and included into

        16            trucking fee - i.e. IGB will confirm

        17            USD214.50 and T/Fee will be USD44.50...this

        18            has been approved by UN (as per IGB - I

        19            will get this in writing.

        20

        21       Correct?

        22       A.   Correct, yes, definitely.

        23

        24       Q.   So certainly in November of 2000 you were still of the

        25       belief that the inland trucking fee had been UN approved,

        26       weren't you?

        27       A.   Definitely the inland trucking fee had been

        28       approved, but the 10 per cent - this is what I'm referring

        29       to - 10 per cent will be added to the inland trucking -

        30       included in the trucking fee.  The trucking fee is already

        31       approved.  This has been approved by the UN, I'll get this

        32       in writing, 10 per cent.

        33

        34       Q.   Yes.  It remained your belief that the payment of the

        35       inland trucking fee had been UN approved right up until the

        36       time that you went to Iraq in February 2001 and you and

        37       Mr Borlase conferred with Yousif Rahman.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Are you excluding the 10 per cent from

        40       that in that question?

        41

        42       MR LACAVA:   No.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, then you couldn't have heard the

        45       witness's last answer.

        46

        47       MR LACAVA:   Yes, I see, thank you, Commissioner.
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         1

         2       Q.   Let me start again.  Mr Hogan, it remained your

         3       belief, didn't it, right up until February, that payment of

         4       any trucking fee on the wheat contracts was UN approved?

         5       A.   Excluding the 10 per cent?

         6

         7       Q.   Including it or excluding it?

         8       A.   So up until February --

         9

        10       Q.   2001.

        11       A.   There's two components to that.  Up until February

        12       2001 I was 100 per cent confident that the inland

        13       trucking fee, whether it was 25 or 26 or 14, had been

        14       approved and was part of the UN Oil-for-Food Program.  The

        15       10 per cent at that stage - we had not reached - we

        16       accepted the contract.  No-one objected to the contract,

        17       no-one raised an issue about this contract, saying we could

        18       go back to the UN, we could go back to DFAT, we could go to

        19       Tim Snowball.  I was still to try to get this confirmation

        20       in writing.  However, we confirmed the contract - the

        21       10 per cent was - IGB told us it was approved.  We still

        22       hadn't confirmed that approval.  But my state of mind, I'm

        23       saying IGB said it's approved but I hadn't got any other

        24       approval other than that.

        25

        26       Q.   That's what I'm asking you about:  your state of mind

        27       in November 2001 was that the inland trucking fee, whether

        28       or not the 10 per cent be added, was approved by the UN?

        29       A.   Yes, as per the IGB.

        30

        31       Q.   And your state of mind was, based upon what the IGB

        32       had told you, that the inland trucking fee and the addition

        33       of the 10 per cent was also approved by the UN; correct?

        34       A.   As per how the IGB had told us and as how they had

        35       referred back to Charles Stott and myself in October, when

        36       they told us that the trucking fee would increase from

        37       $14 per metric tonne to $34 per metric tonne - $34, $35 per

        38       metric tonne - plus 5 per cent for extra additional fee for

        39       other ports in Iraq.  So we were aware of an additional fee

        40       increase plus an increase in trucking fee in the middle of

        41       October.

        42

        43       Q.   Yes, all right.  Just coming back again to

        44       February 2001, you and Mr Borlase went to Iraq; is that so?

        45       A.   Correct.

        46

        47       Q.   And you conferred with, amongst others, Yousif Rahman,
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         1       didn't you?

         2       A.   Correct.

         3

         4       Q.   Your evidence, as I understand it, and by way of

         5       summary, is that in discussions with you he - that is,

         6       Mr Yousif Rahman - made some indication that the trucking

         7       fees were being used to finance the construction of silos

         8       in Iraq?

         9       A.   Incorrect.

        10

        11       Q.   In what way is it incorrect?

        12       A.   The inland trucking fees were a legitimate cost - a

        13       legitimate cost of moving product through Iraq.  I had

        14       no doubt about that.  The 10 per cent was changed

        15       from - November my diary notes say a handling fee, or

        16       something.  In February 2001 it was changed to an

        17       aftersales service fee and the Grain Board of Iraq, through

        18       Mr Yousif - and I'm trying to recollect exactly what it

        19       said and what triggered myself and Darryl Borlase's

        20       concern - was the mention of this additional fee was being

        21       used by the Grain Board of Iraq to build infrastructure,

        22       such as silos and labs at Umm Qasr.  To the best of my

        23       recollection that is what triggered our concern.

        24

        25       Q.   All right.  So after you returned from the trip in

        26       February 2001, was it your state of mind that the inland

        27       trucking fee had been approved by the UN but the extra

        28       10 per cent added on was a means of getting around the

        29       sanctions to build infrastructure in Iraq?

        30       A.   The additional - I'll answer that.  My interpretation

        31       and understanding of it was the inland transport fee was an

        32       approved component of the Oil-for-Food Program by the

        33       United Nations.  The 10 per cent aftersales service fee,

        34       which is how it was referred to, was what we say was a way

        35       of siphoning money.

        36

        37       Q.   So your concern about the siphoning of money was

        38       confined to the extra 10 per cent only; is that correct?

        39       A.   Correct.  Correct.

        40

        41       Q.   Thank you.  Now, I just want to take you back in time

        42       a little, if I may.  Do you recall being involved in a

        43       series of email exchanges with Mr Emons and Mr Watson and

        44       Mr Officer between June and October of 1999?

        45       A.   Between June and October --

        46

        47       Q.   June and October of 1999?
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         1       A.   Can you be more - 1 June?

         2

         3       Q.   Well, perhaps I'll --

         4       A.   Maybe if you can show me the document, I can help.

         5

         6       Q.   Okay.  I'll do that, Mr Hogan.  Could we have brought

         7       up, please, AWB.5073.0125.  Is that an email from you to

         8       Mr Emons and others of 24 June 1999?

         9       A.   Correct.

        10

        11       Q.   You recall seeing this as part of your interview with

        12       Mr Agius?

        13       A.   I possibly saw it then, or it was provided to me in a

        14       folder after to refile.  I think I did see this one with

        15       Mr Agius.

        16

        17       Q.   Could we go to the second page of it, please, and just

        18       have it lifted up a bit - a bit further, please.  Thank

        19       you.  Now, you'll see there, under paragraph 1, you deal

        20       with free in truck.

        21       A.   Correct.

        22

        23       Q.   You say:

        24

        25            IGB have requested that the offers are

        26            submitted CIF, FREE IN TRUCK, IRAQ.  The

        27            cost for this is USD12.00 per tonne which

        28            the supplier adds to their offer.

        29

        30       A.   Correct.

        31

        32       Q.   Now, this is shortly after the Iraqis had sought to

        33       impose the additional $12 per tonne cost, is it not?

        34       A.   This is the first discussions after the tender that

        35       came out on 17 June that had that clause in it, correct.

        36

        37       Q.   You say in the third paragraph:

        38

        39            The problem which still needs to be

        40            resolved is the payment mechanism as all

        41            Iraq accounts have been frozen.

        42

        43       A.   Correct, as per Graham Owen's email on 17 June.

        44

        45       Q.   Well, just leave Mr Owen aside for a moment.  When you

        46       wrote this email, what was your state of mind then as to

        47       the imposition of the US$12 per tonne cost - was it UN
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         1       approved or not?  What was your understanding at that time?

         2       A.   No.  At this stage the only information we had from

         3       that was that the grain board had told us that they had

         4       submitted it, I think, under the distribution plan.  They

         5       had given us an explanation as to why they were doing it,

         6       due to the Iraqi dinar problem and inflation problems.  It

         7       was being put under the distribution plan.  We still I

         8       don't think knew whether it was true or not true, and I

         9       subsequently, I think, on 26 or 27 June sent a note to Tim

        10       Snowball to use some discretion and see what he knew about

        11       it in New York through the OIP.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  You refer to that in the paragraph

        14       above, "Free in Truck".

        15       A.   I'm just going to read that.  Oh, okay, so I've just

        16       referred to that, saying, "I don't know if this is what

        17       they've told us, can you see what you can find out?"

        18

        19       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Did you endeavour to check the

        20       distribution plan yourself?

        21       A.   No, because I was a secondary to Iraq.  Iraq wasn't my

        22       market.

        23

        24       Q.   Could we have brought up, please, AWB.5073.0129,

        25       exhibit 15C?

        26       A.   This was the email I was referring to, I think.

        27

        28       Q.   This is the email - you'd received an email from

        29       Mr Snowball, had you?

        30       A.   Correct.

        31

        32       Q.   You set out here details of the contracts, and if we

        33       could go over to the second page, in item 10 - do you see

        34       that - you say:

        35

        36            Our price has to include Land transport

        37            costs of USD12 per tonne.  Why??? and how

        38            do we pay Land Transport company when all

        39            Iraqi funds frozen???????

        40

        41            The USD12.00 will be added on to CIF

        42            price - so no skin off our nose - however

        43            we need to find a way to implement the

        44            payments as Iraq a/c's frozen.  Discretion

        45            is required here.

        46

        47       A.   Correct.
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   At the risk of interrupting my friend, not all

         3       of that is attributable to this witness.

         4

         5       THE WITNESS:  Correct.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   The first two lines that my learned friend read

         8       are actually a cut and paste of Mr Owen's earlier email --

         9

        10       THE WITNESS:   From 17 June.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   -- and then the next three lines are Mr Hogan's

        13       response.  You can't work that out unless you actually have

        14       Mr Owen's email in front of you at the same time.

        15

        16       MR LACAVA:   Q.   But, Mr Hogan, you saw all of this on or

        17       about 25 June 1999, didn't you?

        18       A.   Which bit?  I wrote most of it.

        19

        20       Q.   Yes.  And you saw the part that's attributable to

        21       Mr Owen?

        22       A.   Yeah, I saw the Mr Owen one, which was either from

        23       17 June or the response to my 24 June one; I'm not sure of

        24       the dates of it.

        25

        26       Q.   The email as you have it in front of you now you saw

        27       in 1999, didn't you?

        28       A.   Correct, yes.

        29

        30       Q.   It clearly raised, didn't it, the issue as to how the

        31       inland transport fee was going to be paid, or the transport

        32       cost, to be accurate, of $12 - how that was going to be

        33       paid - and it required discretion, didn't it?

        34       A.   Yes, I've explained this in my previous evidence.

        35

        36       Q.   I know you have.  I just want to ask you about it.

        37       A.   Yes, and I'll answer this.

        38

        39       Q.   Just answer my question, if you would.

        40       A.   I knew about --

        41

        42       Q.   I'll start again.  The paragraphs that you have before

        43       you are inconsistent with the land transport cost of US$12

        44       per tonne being approved by the UN, are they not?

        45       A.   No.

        46

        47       Q.   If it were approved by the UN --
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   -- why would it need to be paid by some circuitous

         4       route?

         5       A.   It doesn't say.  Can I just explain?

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Yes.

         8       A.   We were paying - ship owners were paying US$1500 port

         9       discharge, et cetera, to Iraqis.  That was blind-eyed, or

        10       there was no mechanism itself set up from the UN to

        11       actually make those payments.  It does not surprise me one

        12       little bit that the UN, through the distribution plan,

        13       would say or agree - and at this stage we still don't know

        14       if it in actual fact has been approved, but the United

        15       Nations process itself was not commercial.  It was final

        16       weights at the discharge port.  They didn't take any

        17       commercial considerations into giving all power to the

        18       Iraqis on that.  The payment delays were 80 to 90 days and

        19       had to go through this unusual banking system.  The tender

        20       processes themselves were slightly unusual.  For the UN to

        21       come out - and this is my state of mind - to say, "Yes, you

        22       can cover " - I think it is in the actual distribution - in

        23       the 661 or the 986, whatever, that there is a reasonable

        24       cost that can be associated with the distribution, that

        25       they could say, "Yes, these can be actually - these costs

        26       can be covered, they are true costs within the country",

        27       but it would not surprise me that the UN wouldn't put in

        28       the mechanism, considering that the mechanism itself is

        29       affected by the US embargo and not by the United Nations,

        30       and they're two separate entities.

        31

        32       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Could you just explain to the Commission,

        33       please, why was it necessary to find a way to implement

        34       payments as Iraq's accounts were frozen, "discretion is

        35       required here"?

        36       A.   Yes, and I'd like to refer to --

        37

        38       Q.   No, would you just answer the question, please?

        39

        40       MR KENNAN:   He's been interrupted a few times,

        41       Commissioner.

        42

        43       THE WITNESS:   Well, can I refer to a document?

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Yes, you may.

        46       A.   A document - and I can go back to my early education

        47       as a marketing executive on 24 March 1997 from Mr Peter
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         1       Geary, when he was in charge over in New York, and it was

         2       in regards to some changes to the Oil-for-Food Program.  He

         3       says:

         4

         5            Make sure the UN Secretariat did not

         6            mention Australia or the AWB in their

         7            briefing session in any way which might

         8            cause embarrassment to us.

         9

        10       That is in '97, when we're checking out a change to the

        11       Oil-for-Food Program.  Discretion was required because if

        12       it was approved and we were raising our red flags to the

        13       United Nations, or if it wasn't approved and we were

        14       raising red flags, we would still - we would lose the Iraqi

        15       business by just putting our nose into it.  If the

        16       Commission wants this document - that's how we dealt with

        17       Iraq.  We didn't raise AWB that often.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is this document an exhibit, Mr Agius,

        20       do you know?

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   No, it's not.

        23

        24       THE WITNESS:   Can I give you a reference number -

        25       AWB.0172.0072.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   It is an exhibit.  I'm told it's exhibit 143.

        28

        29       MR LACAVA:   Sorry, is that to be tendered?

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's already an exhibit.

        32

        33       MR LACAVA:   Sorry, Commissioner.  I thought my learned

        34       friend was clarifying something.

        35

        36       Q.   Mr Hogan, do you have in the witness box your copy of

        37       your first statement?

        38       A.   No, I don't.

        39

        40       Q.   Could the witness be handed a copy of exhibit 142 --

        41       A.   Sorry, the first statement submitted, not the first

        42       draft statement.

        43

        44       Q.   No, your first statement --

        45       A.   Yes, I do.

        46

        47       Q.   -- the one that you tendered when you first gave
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         1       evidence.  Could you go to page 9, please.  Paragraph 36 I

         2       want to ask you about.  Do you see you say there - it's

         3       WST.0005.0009 - Mr Hogan:

         4

         5            Zuhair Daoud advised the purpose of the

         6            inland transport fee was to reduce the

         7            inflation problems within Iraq.  Iraq had

         8            no access to funds as it was all controlled

         9            by the UN, so to pay for services such as

        10            grain transportation they would print

        11            money.  This caused the Iraqi Dinar to

        12            devalue...

        13

        14       Et cetera.  Then in the next paragraph you say:

        15

        16            Zuhair told us the inland transport fee was

        17            a decree by their president.  He also told

        18            us it had been approved by the UN.

        19

        20       Now, those two paragraphs do not sit comfortably together,

        21       do they?

        22       A.   No, I believe they sit comfortably together.

        23

        24       Q.   On the one hand, you were told by Zuhair that Iraq had

        25       no access to funds as it was all controlled by the UN;

        26       correct?

        27       A.   The escrow account, correct.

        28

        29       Q.   And then what he was wanting you to do was to pay a

        30       fee payable by some means which would get around the

        31       freezing of funds by the UN, wasn't he?

        32       A.   No.  The problem that I'm highlighting here is that

        33       they had an inflation problem, that it went from 350 Iraqi

        34       dinar to $1 to 2000 Iraqi dinar a dollar over these

        35       periods, and one way to reduce the cost was to say, "Well,

        36       let's include" - and the decree by the president says the

        37       president says now we're going to have an inland - the cost

        38       of inland transport is going to be paid by the supplier.

        39       It's no different than the cost of sea freight was paid by

        40       the supplier.  We did not sell FOB.  We initially sold CIF.

        41

        42       Q.   And you accepted what Mr Zuhair Daoud said to you as

        43       being in conformity with UN sanctions, did you?

        44       A.   No, this is in June I sent a note to Tim Snowball,

        45       "Check out what's going on with this".

        46

        47       Q.   I'm not asking you about what you sent to
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         1       Tim Snowball; I'm asking you about what your belief was.

         2       A.   My belief at the time was that Zuhair said they had an

         3       inflation problem due to the funds being controlled by the

         4       escrow account, and that the president has said now we're

         5       going to have the cost, which is a true cost, inland

         6       transport, paid by the suppliers.  So my belief is as

         7       stated, I don't have a belief on it.  This is a problem in

         8       Iraq and this is what the president said is going to

         9       happen.

        10

        11       Q.   But didn't you tell us earlier that part of the reason

        12       why you believed that the discharge fee or the inland

        13       trucking fee was approved by the UN was in part based upon

        14       what Zuhair had told you in June of 1999.

        15       A.   Sorry, I'm missing the point here.  Is this referring

        16       to June 1999?

        17

        18       Q.   It is, is it not?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   It's your statement.

        22       A.   I'm sorry, I don't understand your question.

        23

        24       Q.   You told us earlier that part of the reason why you

        25       believed that the payment of the inland trucking fee was UN

        26       approved right up until February of 2001 - your belief was

        27       in part based upon what you'd been told by Zuhair in June

        28       of 1999.  Is that not so?

        29       A.   No.  I believe the - sorry, the reason for an inland

        30       trucking fee seems to be a valid reason of their inflation

        31       problems.  That makes sense to me.  But I sent something

        32       off in June to Tim Snowball, "You guys please chase this

        33       down".  I was out of the correspondence loop until October,

        34       when I was pushed back in to go into a thing, and at that

        35       time I received a contract from Melbourne that had the

        36       inland - the discharge cost payable to the maritime agents

        37       and that was the contract approved by the UN.  So that was

        38       when, from my point of view, my belief became, "Well, this

        39       is UN approved" - not from what Zuhair told me.

        40

        41       Q.   Could you look at paragraph 3.  You there say - this

        42       is at WST.0005.0010:

        43

        44            I recall that at the time it seemed to me

        45            that the fee was a legitimate transport fee

        46            that Iraq would use to pay for

        47            transportation services.  I suspected
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         1            however that the money would be controlled

         2            by the Iraqi government and that the

         3            arrangement was skirting around the UN

         4            sanctions...

         5

         6       Was that your state of mind in June of 1999?

         7       A.   Yes.  Yes, it was a legitimate fee that you could see

         8       the reason for the costings.  However, we still had only,

         9       at that stage, had IGB telling us it was UN approved, part

        10       of the distribution plan, and we put it through to the UN

        11       to see if they could find something out about this.

        12

        13       Q.   What was the basis of your suspicion?

        14       A.   Of skirting around?

        15

        16       Q.   You see you say:

        17

        18            I suspected however that the money would be

        19            controlled by the Iraqi government...

        20

        21       What was the basis for that suspicion?

        22       A.   At that stage they said it was payable to the maritime

        23       agents, I think was maybe one of the things they said for

        24       us to do, and 24 June, "The problem resolved, stated they

        25       required to pay the maritime agents to a bank account in

        26       Amman".

        27

        28       Q.   Did that make you suspect that what AWB was being

        29       asked to do was to pay the fee but get around the UN

        30       sanctions?

        31       A.   No.

        32

        33       Q.   Well --

        34       A.   It was that I'd had no confirmation at that stage that

        35       the Director-General was saying this is UN approved, the

        36       fee seems legitimate, but we still needed clarification.

        37       You have to bear in mind here - may I continue?

        38

        39       Q.   Well, Mr Hogan --

        40       A.   -- that I am the transcriber of this as a secondary to

        41       the Iraqi market, which I had not been in for 14 months.

        42

        43       Q.   All I'm asking you about is what you have put in your

        44       witness statement; do you understand?

        45       A.   Correct.

        46

        47       Q.   Now, what I want to know first of all is why did you
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         1       suspect that the money would be controlled by the Iraqi

         2       government?

         3       A.   Because they asked us to pay - they were setting the

         4       fee at $12 and they were asking us to pay maritime agents

         5       in Iraq.  They were telling us that, that this is the fee.

         6

         7       Q.   Why did you suspect that the arrangement was skirting

         8       around UN sanctions?

         9       A.   Because at that stage we had no actual confirmation

        10       that the UN had approved it.

        11

        12       Q.   In the next paragraph you refer to an email recording

        13       your trip on 24 June 1999, do you not?

        14       A.   Correct.

        15

        16       Q.   Could we have that brought up, please - AWB.5070.0139.

        17       A.   Wrong number.

        18

        19       Q.   Sorry, I'm reading off your witness statement.  Could

        20       we try again, please - AWB.5073.0125.  You recall I asked

        21       you about this a little earlier.  I think we might have to

        22       go over to the second page.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   This is confidential exhibit 15C.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        27

        28       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Could we keep going down a bit?  Yes.

        29       Now, you pick this email up and discuss it, do you not, in

        30       paragraph 40 of your witness statement?

        31       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        32

        33       Q.   Having refreshed your memory from the earlier

        34       paragraphs that I've taken you to this morning in your

        35       witness statement, do you recognise that your use of the

        36       words "the problem" was a reference to the problem created

        37       by the UN sanctions?

        38       A.   No, I still say that the problem that still needs to

        39       be resolved is because of US embargos, more so than Iraq

        40       accounts are frozen, you can't pay US dollars to the Grain

        41       Board of Iraq or into Iraq.

        42

        43       Q.   Could we have brought up, please, exhibit 98 -

        44       AWB.5044.0241.  Do you recognise that, Mr Hogan, as an

        45       email that you received from Mr Emons on about 30 September

        46       1999?

        47       A.   Yes, I do, because I was called in to do this trip
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         1       with the chairman and CEO at the last minute, sort of

         2       thing.

         3

         4       Q.   Could I take you to the paragraph numbered 1, please.

         5       Could you just read that to yourself.

         6       A.   Point 1?

         7

         8       Q.   Point 1.

         9       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        10

        11       Q.   Do you agree with me that that email was setting out

        12       details and searching for a way to make the payment

        13       contrary to UN sanctions?

        14       A.   It doesn't say UN sanctions; it says sanctions are

        15       lifted in the first one.  Because of sanctions, which would

        16       be US embargo sanctions on US dollar payments, that's why

        17       you go through an OECD country - the same as how we did the

        18       Iranian and some of the Sudanese business, I think.

        19

        20       Q.   Are you telling the Commission that it's your

        21       understanding - or it was your understanding in September

        22       1999, when you received this email - that there was a

        23       mechanism being looked at to get around US sanctions, not

        24       UN sanctions; is that right?

        25       A.   Because you couldn't make - and I've said this, I

        26       think, 10 times - you cannot make US dollar payments into

        27       Iraq.  There's a US embargo on it.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   There are also UN sanctions

        30       against it.

        31       A.   Yes, correct.

        32

        33       Q.   So there were both?

        34       A.   There were two sets of sanctions, but the actual UN

        35       sanctions I don't think was concerned about - as far as I

        36       was concerned, wasn't concerned about currency payments,

        37       the same as Iran or Sudan or a number of - 83 other

        38       countries the US have sanctions on.

        39

        40       MR LACAVA:   Q.   When you came back to Australia in August

        41       of 2000, did you bring this email to the attention of

        42       Mr Stott?

        43       A.   I didn't actually have to bring any emails to the

        44       attention of Mr Stott, because --

        45

        46       Q.   Please answer my question --

        47       A.   No, I did not.
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         1

         2       Q.   -- did you or did you not?

         3       A.   No, I did not.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Why did you not have to bring it

         6       to the attention of Mr Stott?

         7       A.   Because I think we'd done the previous business in

         8       July, so there had been discussions in Australia while I

         9       was still in Egypt for one month.  We'd just concluded a

        10       million tonne contract with a $14 inland transport fee

        11       applicable to it.  Those discussions were held in Melbourne

        12       while I was in Cairo, I was just the one who was going in

        13       to do the business, and then probably I think maybe

        14       September, October, the Arthur Andersen report and inquiry

        15       started up on all of this.

        16

        17            All of our computers were - I'm not sure of the

        18       technical term, but basically all of our emails were

        19       dumped.  I had Mark Emons' PC.  Every email that was on

        20       that PC had been dumped and taken.  Every email from I

        21       think my Cairo computer had been dumped and taken.  The

        22       AWB, through the Arthur Andersen forensic accountants who

        23       were doing it, would have had all these emails which were

        24       brought to Charles Stott's attention, I don't know, in

        25       October and in December - those periods of time.  So I did

        26       not raise it myself.

        27

        28       MR LACAVA:   Q.   You didn't do it, did you?

        29       A.   No, I didn't raise it.

        30

        31       Q.   Nor did you bring to his attention exhibit 15C, the

        32       email that I took you to earlier from yourself of 25 June

        33       1999 to Mr Emons - did you?

        34       A.   No, I did not.  We'd been operating in Iraq for

        35       12 months with an inland transport payment.

        36

        37       Q.   Could we go to exhibit 9.  Could we bring up, please,

        38       AWB.5035.0337.  Do you recognise that as an email from

        39       yourself to Mr Emons, amongst others, on 11 October 1999?

        40       A.   Yes, I do, because I think this is pretty much the

        41       last correspondence I had on Iraq until August 2000 and --

        42

        43       Q.   Now, you were asked about this in your interview by

        44       Mr Agius, weren't you?

        45       A.   I could have been, yes.

        46

        47       Q.   In the first paragraph you say:
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         1

         2            I did have a brilliant idea how to settle

         3            the USD12 Free In Truck payment to

         4            transport CO's - we do a contract with them

         5            when enough equity was built up and then

         6            they sell to IGB and IGB pay them in USD

         7            (via 986 system).

         8

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Now, in this paragraph was your brilliant idea

        12       directed towards getting around US sanctions or UN

        13       sanctions --

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Or both?

        16

        17       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Or both?

        18       A.   Pretty much both.  Basically my brilliant idea was

        19       just to - let's just - we're grain traders and let's just

        20       trade grain on this - an equity, a barter system.  I wish

        21       they had have taken up our brilliant idea.

        22

        23       Q.   So by October of 1999 was it still your belief that

        24       the payment of the $12 trucking fee was UN approved?

        25       A.   Yes, I had received a copy of the contract that had

        26       payable $12 to maritime agents in Iraq.

        27

        28       Q.   If it was UN approved, why would there be any reason

        29       to enter into this elaborate bartering system, for want of

        30       a better way of putting it?

        31       A.   It's not an elaborate barter system.  Mark told me on

        32       30 September there's still a problem with how we effect the

        33       payment - and again I would say it's with the US

        34       sanctions - and I'm just saying "How about we just do a

        35       grain transfer and let someone else worry about it?"

        36

        37       Q.   If this payment of this fee was UN approved and you

        38       understood it to be UN approved on 11 October 1999, why was

        39       there any need to pay it through maritime agents, vessel

        40       owners or to buy a very large suitcase?

        41       A.   Because these - let's go back on this.  I'm happy to -

        42       right.

        43

        44       Q.   You take your time, Mr Hogan.

        45       A.   Certainly.  All right.  "Create an account in Jordan",

        46       which is the Grain Board of Iraq's suggestion, and

        47       Graham Owen and that had had previous discussions about
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         1       this.  This was a June thing and these came from them about

         2       this account.  We would transfer - basically the IGB must

         3       have said there was a nominated account, so there was no

         4       money being paid into Iraq, it was paid into Jordan.

         5

         6            My suggestion was bypass - but you don't have to do

         7       it - how about a special account, just directly transfer

         8       from Australia or our US dollar account to a Jordan one -

         9       the Iraq account - as long as the link is not apparent,

        10       because of US sanctions again, if you had Iraq on it, if

        11       you make the freight payment with Iraq on it, it gets

        12       kicked out.  So that was it.  So that's nothing new.  Apart

        13       from actually just saying paying it direct and not a

        14       special nominated account, that's my suggestion.  So I've

        15       got "Mark and Graham can keep working on this".  This is

        16       not my market, it's not -  "further option is to use the

        17       maritime agents suggested by the Grain Board of Iraq".

        18       "Vessel owners accounts", which was discussed in June with

        19       Mark and Michael Watson, and "buy a very large suitcase" is

        20       just, sorry, part of my humour.

        21

        22       Q.   That's funny, is it?

        23       A.   It refers back to the Grain Board of Iraq used to

        24       transfer money into Jordan through a bank there in large

        25       suitcases.  I'm sorry about my humour, but it's no

        26       different than Darryl Borlase writing "get a large

        27       shredder".

        28

        29       Q.   Well, we'll come to that a bit later.

        30       A.   I'm happy to.

        31

        32       Q.   Could we go now to exhibit 10, AWB.5035.0338.  This is

        33       the following day, isn't it?

        34       A.   Yes, but I was in Sudan.

        35

        36       Q.   This is after what I call the suitcase email.  This

        37       was from Mr Graham Owen and it deals, does it not, with

        38       setting up a mechanism to get around UN sanctions?

        39       A.   Can you just point that out to me?

        40

        41       Q.   Well, he says:

        42

        43            Why do we try and make our business more

        44            difficult?

        45

        46       Then he sets out what would be required in order to open a

        47       bank account in the name of AWB in Iraq.
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         1       A.   Amman.

         2

         3       Q.   Sorry, in Jordan.

         4       A.   Mmm-hmm.

         5

         6       Q.   He says:

         7

         8            In view of the above, I do not think that

         9            the proposal is a possibility.

        10

        11       Then he goes on to say:

        12

        13            I do not think we need to open an account,

        14            I think that we could effect payment to the

        15            Iraqi transport companies USD account with

        16            a bank in Jordan from Australia.

        17

        18       A.   Correct - correct, yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Why not Iraq if it was UN approved?

        21       A.   You can't pay Iraq.  There's a US embargo.

        22

        23       Q.   All right.  Could I take you forward, Mr Hogan, to

        24       July of 2000.  In your witness statement, your first

        25       witness statement, at paragraph 80, if you could go to

        26       that, please, you're referring, are you not, to your trip

        27       into Iraq with Mr Borlase in June of 2000?

        28       A.   No - are you talking July 2000?

        29

        30       Q.   I beg your pardon, July --

        31       A.   Yes, July --

        32

        33       Q.   In paragraph 78 you're referring to June 2000.

        34       A.   A brief that Darryl Borlase gave me in June 2000, yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Sorry.  Then you say in paragraph 80:

        37

        38            I prepared a trip report which records the

        39            agreement of this contract...

        40

        41       And then, if you go over to paragraph 82, you say:

        42

        43            The AWB contracts make no specific

        44            reference to the amount of the inland

        45            transport fee and were in the same format

        46            as previously negotiated contracts.  I was

        47            of the belief that the amount payable for
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         1            inland transport was recorded on the AWB

         2            contracts, but on reviewing the contracts

         3            now, the amount of inland transport fee is

         4            clearly not recorded.

         5

         6       A.   Correct.

         7

         8       Q.   Are you telling the Commission that up until January

         9       of this year you were of the belief that the AWB contracts

        10       recorded the inland transport fee clearly?

        11       A.   I believe that the contracts, July contracts, recorded

        12       an inland transport fee, correct.

        13

        14       Q.   That's not what I'm asking you.

        15       A.   Sorry.

        16

        17       Q.   If you'd just take your time and listen to my

        18       question.  Are you telling the Commission that up until

        19       January of this year you were of the belief that AWB

        20       contracts recorded the inland transport fee; is that your

        21       evidence?

        22       A.   Up until January 2006 I was of the belief there were

        23       contracts and it was my belief, or my recollection, July

        24       contracts had recorded an inland transport fee component on

        25       them.

        26

        27       Q.   I'm not asking you about the July 2000 contracts.  I'm

        28       asking you about paragraph 82 of your statement; do you see

        29       that?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   You say there:

        33

        34            I was of the belief that the amount payable

        35            for inland transport was recorded on the

        36            AWB contracts, but on reviewing the

        37            contracts now, the amount of inland

        38            transport fee is clearly not recorded.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's referring to the contracts --

        41

        42       THE WITNESS:   July contracts.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, in paragraphs 80 and 81.

        45

        46       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Well --

        47       A.   Sorry, the word - maybe I should have been more
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         1       specific in my witness statement that I was referring to

         2       July contracts.

         3

         4       Q.   So we should read paragraph 82 to say "I was of the

         5       belief that the amount payable for inland transport was

         6       recorded on contracts A0265 through to A0267"?

         7       A.   Correct.

         8

         9       Q.   "but on reviewing them now the amount of inland

        10       transport fee is clearly not recorded" - is that right?

        11       A.   Correct.

        12

        13       Q.   You're not suggesting, are you, that up until January

        14       of this year you were of the belief that all AWB contracts

        15       had the inland transport fee recorded on them?

        16       A.   No, not at all.

        17

        18       Q.   On 14 August of 2000 you I think have already agreed

        19       that you sent those three contracts that I've just asked

        20       you about to Ms Courtney.

        21       A.   If that's the dates on the documents.  I agree that I

        22       faxed them to DFAT.

        23

        24       Q.   Well, did you read them before you faxed them?

        25       A.   No, they were signed by Charles Stott and authorised -

        26       can I just explain?

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Yes.

        29       A.   I was in Cairo until I think 7 or 8 August.  The

        30       contracts were done on 16 July.  The contracts admin people

        31       in Melbourne would have done the short-form contracts up.

        32       They would have potentially - normal practice, I was the

        33       negotiator.  They would fax them through to me in Cairo.  I

        34       would tick them off, check them off, everything seems

        35       legitimate, prices are correct, terms are correct, send a

        36       note back to Rex Lister in the administration, "These are

        37       all okay and correct to go".  We were waiting on the Grain

        38       Board of Iraq to submit their long-form contracts, which

        39       would have been faxed to Melbourne, so we're talking now

        40       nearly a space of nearly one month before - I came back on

        41       7 or 8 August.  The UN approvals - or the Grain Board of

        42       Iraq contracts had not been received, I don't think, until

        43       that point.  Charles Stott had signed the short-form

        44       contract.  I got the long-form contract, compiled them

        45       together and sent them off to the Department of Foreign

        46       Affairs and Trade.

        47
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         1       MR LACAVA:   Q.   And that's all you know about it; is that

         2       right?

         3       A.   Correct.

         4

         5       Q.   In November you negotiated the November 2000 contract,

         6       didn't you?

         7       A.   Correct.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Page 27.

        10

        11       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Could we have brought up, please,

        12       exhibit 56C again, which is AWB.0144.0221.  Do you recall I

        13       asked you about this earlier in the morning, Mr Hogan?

        14       A.   (Witness nods).

        15

        16       Q.   You say in a paragraph in the middle of the page:

        17

        18            10% will be added to px and included into

        19            trucking fee - i.e. IGB will confirm...

        20

        21       US dollar amount, et cetera:

        22

        23            ...this has been approved by UN (as per

        24            IGB - I will get this in writing).

        25

        26       A.   Correct.

        27

        28       Q.   Why did you say that you would get it in writing?

        29       A.   Just being pedantic, to get it confirmed, I suppose -

        30       not pedantic, but just saying I'll try to get something

        31       from the IGB in writing on this.

        32

        33       Q.   Why was that?  Why did you feel the need to get that

        34       in writing?

        35       A.   Just to keep the file up to date, that we had --

        36

        37       Q.   Just to keep the file up to date?

        38       A.   Just to have the approval in writing.  They told us

        39       about something new, a little bit different than what they

        40       told Charles and myself in the middle of October, where

        41       they said it was going to be 35 and then this 5 per cent

        42       for some other ports.  It still works out to be about the

        43       same amount, $44, $45, so no big surprise to Charles or

        44       myself, but they changed it to 25 and 10 per cent and said

        45       this was all UN approved and I said I'll try - I should

        46       have put "I'll try" - "I'll get this in writing".

        47
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         1       Q.   You put that in the email, didn't you, because

         2       Mr Stott asked you to get it in writing, didn't he?

         3       A.   I do not recall Mr Stott asking me to get this in

         4       writing.

         5

         6       Q.   He asked you, when you told him about the transaction,

         7       to get it in writing, didn't he?

         8       A.   I have no recollection or no note to say that Charles

         9       Stott asked me to get this in writing.

        10

        11       Q.   You may not have a note, but it's your recollection,

        12       isn't it, that you carried out this transaction in the

        13       middle of the night, Melbourne time, over the phone with

        14       the Iraqis?

        15       A.   11.30 until 1am, or something.

        16

        17       Q.   Yes.  And during the night you were speaking with

        18       Mr Stott?

        19       A.   I would have spoken with Mr Stott, yes.

        20

        21       Q.   And Mr Stott told you, didn't he, to get it in

        22       writing?

        23       A.   I have no recollection of Mr Stott asking me to get

        24       this in writing, and it does not make sense, because what

        25       we could - we had four mechanisms to probably get this

        26       confirmation.  We could have rung DFAT, who Charles had a

        27       great relationship with Bob Bowker.  We could have

        28       approached Tim Snowball in New York to ask for it.  We

        29       could have put it in our short-form contract, or we could

        30       have made our contract conditional upon this being

        31       received.

        32

        33       Q.   Well, you could have done all sorts of things, but

        34       what I'm suggesting to you is that you did it here for the

        35       first time because Mr Stott asked you to get it in writing,

        36       didn't he?

        37       A.   I have no recollection of Mr Stott asking me to get

        38       this in writing.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Did your client give evidence to that

        41       effect, Mr Lacava?

        42

        43       MR LACAVA:   Yes, Commissioner.  I don't have the

        44       transcript reference with me.

        45

        46       THE WITNESS:   I think he referred to a mission report that

        47       he asked us to get it in writing.  We're in Melbourne here,
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         1       so --

         2

         3       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Now, Mr Hogan, you did seek to get it in

         4       writing, didn't you?

         5       A.   The next day, and I only saw this email yesterday,

         6       that I sent to the Grain Board of Iraq, "Please send me

         7       some confirmation in writing", and then I raised it in

         8       February and I raised it - did I raise it in February?

         9       Maybe not.  I think I raised it in May and June 01, to get

        10       these issues.

        11

        12       Q.   I'm not asking you about May or June 2001; I'm asking

        13       you about 2 November 2000.  I want you to confine yourself

        14       to what you did around that time; do you understand?

        15       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        16

        17       Q.   Could we bring up, please, exhibit 688, AWB.5049.0201.

        18       Your earlier email, exhibit 56C, was at 1.08am in the

        19       morning, wasn't it?

        20       A.   Correct, as soon as I confirmed the contract.

        21

        22       Q.   So presumably you went home and had a sleep?

        23       A.   No, I did the negotiation from my home.

        24

        25       Q.   You did it from your home, did you?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   So you had a sleep, came into work, did you, the next

        29       day, or the same day but during daylight hours, and shot

        30       this email off to the Iraqis, did you?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   And you asked them not for proof of UN approval, did

        34       you, but for the terms of the contract that relate to that?

        35       A.   "Could you please forward the conditions especially

        36       regarding the UN approved Trucking fee and percentage

        37       increase" - that's part of it, the percentage increases.

        38

        39       Q.   You did not ask them for proof that the 10 per cent

        40       increase in the trucking fee or the trucking fee itself had

        41       been UN approved; what you asked the Iraqis for, I suggest,

        42       were the conditions in the contract relating to UN-approved

        43       trucking fee.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   And percentage increase.

        46       A.   Percentage increase --

        47
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         1       MR LACAVA:   Q.   And percentage increase?

         2       A.   I've asked them exactly what's on my email.  I'm not

         3       sure what you're asking here.

         4

         5       Q.   You asked them for the conditions in the contract,

         6       didn't you?

         7       A.   If someone could - if I could look at a November

         8       contract, there may have been some changes to the

         9       conditions.

        10

        11       Q.   No, I'm not asking you about changes to the

        12       conditions.  I'm just asking you what you asked them for;

        13       do you understand?

        14       A.   I asked them for the conditions, especially regarding

        15       the UN approved trucking fee and percentage increase.

        16

        17       Q.   And you got back a contract from the Iraqis, didn't

        18       you?

        19       A.   Correct.

        20

        21       Q.   And you showed that to Mr Stott, didn't you?

        22       A.   No.  Why would I?

        23

        24       Q.   Because he asked you to get proof in writing, didn't

        25       he?

        26       A.   No, he didn't.

        27

        28       Q.   So did you show the contract that you got back from

        29       the Iraqis to anyone?

        30       A.   No, I put it together with the - I had the authority

        31       to sign off on the Iraqi contracts.  You'll see my

        32       signature is on the short form, the long form.  I would

        33       have done it for UN approval and faxed it to DFAT on

        34       2 November, probably late - 5 or 6 o'clock in the

        35       afternoon - I went home because I was probably tired from

        36       the night before.

        37

        38       Q.   Are you saying you had the authority to sign off on

        39       that contract?

        40       A.   It was already approved by Charles the night before,

        41       and I did sign off on that contract.  My signature is on

        42       the Iraqi long-form contract.

        43

        44       Q.   When did you do that?

        45       A.   Monday afternoon, after we fixed the Deutsche Mark

        46       currency with the Treasury.

        47
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         1       Q.   What was the date of that, do you recall?

         2       A.   2 November.

         3

         4       Q.   This says Thursday, 2 November, does it not?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   Melbourne Cup must have been late this year.

         8       A.   Melbourne Cup is the first Tuesday in November.

         9

        10       Q.   Yes.  Were you at work on the Monday?

        11       A.   On, what, 30 October?

        12

        13       Q.   No --

        14       A.   Sorry, this is Oaks Day.

        15

        16       Q.   -- 6 October.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Someone must know.  Was 2 November 2000

        19       a Tuesday or a Thursday?

        20

        21       MR LACAVA:   Just going by what's on the exhibit, it seems

        22       to be a Thursday.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, no, what's the fact?

        25

        26       THE WITNESS:   Melbourne Cup Day was on the first Tuesday

        27       in November.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   So is the "Thursday" a mistype or is

        30       "2 November" a mistype?

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   2 November 2000 was a Thursday.  What the

        33       horses were doing on that day --

        34

        35       THE WITNESS:   Oaks Day.  Ladies Day at the races.

        36

        37       MR LACAVA:   No, you're a week out, Mr Hogan.  Oaks Day

        38       would have been a week later.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   The first Tuesday in November, if that's the

        41       question, was 7 November 2000.

        42

        43       MR LACAVA:   That's right.

        44

        45       Q.   Were you at work on the Monday?

        46       A.   Before Melbourne Cup?

        47



            .30/3/06 (57)              5687     D J HOGAN (Mr Lacava)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       Q.   Yes.

         2       A.   30 October - is that the date, 30th or 31st?

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   No, it's 6 November, apparently?

         5       A.   Oh, the following Monday?

         6

         7       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Yes, the following Monday.

         8       A.   I wouldn't - I've got no recollection.  I've got no

         9       recollection, sorry.

        10

        11       Q.   Where is the document that you got back from the

        12       Iraqis consequent upon your email?

        13       A.   The long-form contract is all they sent me back on

        14       2 November, I think, and I can only go by the date of when

        15       I sent it off to Jill Courtney and that, but - here, I'll

        16       give you a copy now.

        17

        18       Q.   Mr Hogan, you understand what I'm asking you for; I'm

        19       asking you for the document that you got back from the

        20       Iraqis, consequent upon your email of 2 November 2000.

        21       A.   The document I got back from the Grain Board of Iraq

        22       is reference AWB.0069.0076 through to AWB.0069.0080, signed

        23       and sealed by Yousif Abdul Rahman and stamped by the Grain

        24       Board of Iraq, signed by Dominic Hogan, signed on every

        25       page.

        26

        27       Q.   What date is it?

        28       A.   I assume it's on 2 November, because that's the day I

        29       sent it to - 2 November 2000, "2/11/2000" is at the top

        30       here.

        31

        32       Q.   Where are the conditions in that document that relate

        33       to the UN approval of the trucking fee?

        34       A.   They didn't provide them.

        35

        36       Q.   So is it your evidence that you did not get back from

        37       the Iraqis any document that complied with your request to

        38       them?

        39       A.   Correct.

        40

        41       Q.   Is it your evidence that you sent your email on

        42       2 November 2000, in which you said that you would get in

        43       writing that the 10 per cent increase had been UN approved,

        44       and then you went ahead and executed the contract yourself

        45       without getting that evidence?

        46       A.   Correct.  I had the authority to sign off on that

        47       contract.
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         1

         2       Q.   But you told all the readers of your email, didn't

         3       you, that you would be getting proof in writing?

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Which email is that?

         6

         7       MR LACAVA:   Exhibit 56C.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Dated?

        10

        11       MR LACAVA:   It's the email of 2 November 2000,

        12       AWB.0144.0221.

        13

        14       THE WITNESS:   I agree, "(as per IGB, I will get this in

        15       writing)".  I didn't actually say date specific, because I

        16       say:

        17

        18            All,

        19            Confirm the following sale:

        20            300,000 tonnes.

        21

        22       It doesn't actually say "conditional upon the confirmation

        23       of IGB".  It says "confirm the following sale".  We

        24       confirmed the sale.

        25

        26       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Mr Hogan, you told the readers of this

        27       email that you would get some evidence in writing, did you

        28       not --

        29       A.   Correct.

        30

        31       Q.   -- that the 10 per cent increase had been UN approved,

        32       didn't you?

        33       A.   100 per cent, I do not disagree with you.

        34

        35       Q.   From the evidence that you've given to the Commission

        36       this morning, you went ahead and executed the contract

        37       yourself without being in possession of that evidence; is

        38       that your evidence?

        39       A.   My evidence is I confirmed the sale at 1.08pm under

        40       Charles's instructions on the night of 2/11.  It was not

        41       conditional and nowhere does it say here conditional upon

        42       getting this in writing.  If you can find that, please

        43       point it out.

        44

        45       Q.   I'm not asking you about whether or not it's

        46       conditional, Mr Hogan; I'm asking you whether or not you

        47       went and acted contrary to what you told all the readers of
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         1       this email.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   I object to that.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   I reject that question.

         6

         7       MR LACAVA:   May I ask why, Commissioner?

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, because it assumes conditionality.

        10       The witness has simply said it wasn't conditional.

        11

        12       MR LACAVA:   All right.  Well, I'll put it another way.

        13

        14       Q.   Is it your evidence that you went ahead and signed the

        15       contract despite what you had told the readers of this

        16       email?

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   Well, I object to that.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   I reject the question.  It has the same

        21       vice, Mr Lacava.

        22

        23       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Did you tell any reader of this email

        24       that you had signed the contract without getting proof in

        25       writing of UN approval of the extra 10 per cent?

        26       A.   It wasn't conditional upon the actual --

        27

        28       Q.   I'm not asking you whether it's conditional.  Did you

        29       tell anyone?

        30       A.   I did not tell anyone after I signed the contract that

        31       I had the confirmation in my hand of the UN 10 per cent.

        32

        33       MR LACAVA:  Perhaps that's time for a break, Commissioner,

        34       if that's a convenient time.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  We'll take a short

        37       adjournment.

        38

        39       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        40

        41       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Mr Hogan, I want to ask you some

        42       questions about your draft letter to DFAT in October of

        43       2000.  Could we bring up, please, exhibit 159 -

        44       AWB.0106.0108.  Is that the draft fax prepared by you on or

        45       about 27 August 2000?

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   Could we just go up to the top, please?
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         1

         2       THE WITNESS:   Yes.

         3

         4       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Now, did you prepare it at the request of

         5       Mr Stott?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Did you prepare it in order to bring to DFAT's

         9       attention a problem that AWB had at the port of Umm Qasr

        10       relating to discharge and accumulating demurrage cost?

        11       A.   Yes, it was all linked to demurrage costs and

        12       establishing a demurrage dispatch account.

        13

        14       Q.   The paragraph beginning "Currently all Iraq contracts

        15       are concluded as 'Free In Truck' all governates Iraq",

        16       et cetera, would you just read that to yourself and tell me

        17       when you've finished, please?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Did that paragraph accurately reflect your belief on

        21       27 August 2000?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   Do you recall being asked questions about this by

        25       Mr Agius when you first gave evidence?

        26       A.   When I first gave evidence with Mr Agius, that was the

        27       first time I'd seen that since October, so I can't recall

        28       what I commented on it.  It was the first time I'd seen it

        29       in six years, or something.

        30

        31       Q.   Well, do you recall being asked at transcript 2050

        32       this question:

        33

        34            Q.   Now, did that --

        35

        36       referring to the fax on the screen --

        37

        38            truly reflect your point of view, that the

        39            predetermined transport fee had been

        40            approved by the United Nations?

        41            A.   Correct.

        42

        43       Do you recall being asked that question and giving that

        44       answer?

        45       A.   In?

        46

        47       Q.   In this Commission, in the inquiry?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   On your oath?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   And do you say that that was a true answer?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       MR LACAVA:   I might indicate, Commissioner - I see that

        10       your associate is getting you the copy - I'm reading off

        11       the real-time and I think that there is a slight page

        12       variation with the actual printed copy.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   It's 2050 at line 17.

        15

        16       MR LACAVA:   Thank you.

        17

        18       Q.   Do you recall being asked this question --

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Actually, the answer he gave "correct"

        21       was not just to that passage but was to the whole

        22       paragraph.

        23

        24       MR LACAVA:   Sorry, in fairness, I'll put the whole lot to

        25       him, Commissioner.

        26

        27       Q.   Let me go back, Mr Hogan, please.  You were asked this

        28       at the bottom of page 2049 on the version I'm reading from:

        29

        30            Q.   We saw in your Iraq trip report that

        31            the IGB had denied that?

        32            A.   Correct.

        33            Q.   You go on in this draft to say:

        34

        35            Currently all Iraq contracts are concluded

        36            as "Free In Truck" all governorates Iraq,

        37            with a predetermined and UN approved

        38            transport fee.  The inclusion of the

        39            transport fee in the contract reduces AWB's

        40            ability to negotiate rates directly with

        41            the transport company, and subsequently

        42            there is no performance incentive for the

        43            transport company to maximize the discharge

        44            rates at Umm Qasr.

        45

        46            Now, did that truly reflect your point of

        47            view, that the predetermined transport fee
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         1            had been approved by the United Nations?

         2            A.   Correct.

         3

         4       Do you recall being asked that question and giving that

         5       answer?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Then you were asked:

         9

        10            Q.  And so you were intending in your draft

        11            to tell the UN that which you believed to

        12            be the case - that there was a

        13            predetermined and UN-approved transport

        14            fee?

        15

        16       Your answer was:

        17

        18            Correct.  I presumed that every phase that

        19            it was done - whether it was 12, 14 or 35 -

        20            this was a pre-approved transport fee.

        21

        22       Do you recall being asked that question and giving that

        23       answer?

        24       A.   Correct, yes.

        25

        26       Q.   Was that evidence truthful?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   Are you sure?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   When you were interviewed by Mr Agius on 9 January

        33       this year, do you recall being shown the number of emails

        34       that I took you to earlier today that were email exchanges

        35       in June, July and October 1999?

        36       A.   I was shown certain emails.  I don't know if I was

        37       shown all of those, but --

        38

        39       Q.   Do you recall my learned friend Mr Agius, when he

        40       interviewed you, putting to you words to this effect, "What

        41       do you say as to the suggestion that you were the architect

        42       of putting this mechanism into place?"

        43       A.   I recall that I was astounded.  I recall after that we

        44       had discussions that the Commission is thinking I am the

        45       architect in this.  It was seen subsequently that I'd been

        46       part of a core group.  I had minimal discussions in June

        47       and was given a trip and I had some discussions in October,
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         1       and I was - I don't know what my answer was, but I was in

         2       no way the architect of the inland transport fee and how it

         3       was finally put in place.

         4

         5       Q.   So any allegation or suggestion from Mr Agius to you

         6       on 9 January this year that you were or could be regarded

         7       as the architect of putting this mechanism into place came

         8       as a complete surprise to you, did it?

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   What mechanism are you referring to?

        11

        12       MR LACAVA:   The mechanism to pay the inland trucking fee.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   By paying it to Alia?

        15

        16       MR LACAVA:   By paying it through ship owners and later

        17       through Ronly into an Iraq account for Alia.

        18

        19       THE WITNESS:   Definitely.  I can't recall my answer, but I

        20       recall after that I spoke with Gavin and Gary.  That was a

        21       major concern, that the Commission had a view that I was -

        22       being implied I was an architect in all of this.

        23

        24       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Do you remember telling Mr Agius these

        25       words:

        26

        27            I still think at the time we knew it wasn't

        28            UN approved and you couldn't do it.

        29

        30       Do you remember saying that to Mr Agius on 9 January 2005?

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Just before the witness answers that question,

        33       we do not have a transcript of that interview.  To ask the

        34       witness to remember a two-line statement like that,

        35       unsupported by any question or any context, and to put it

        36       into this context, is, in our respectful submission,

        37       perhaps not the best way to do this.

        38

        39       MR LACAVA:   I will play the recording of the interview to

        40       the witness, Commissioner, if I may be permitted to do

        41       that.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Either that or we get a transcript made

        44       of the relevant portion, if you can tell me what it is.

        45

        46       MR LACAVA:   We have in the inquiry room a computer which

        47       has the necessary program to play a cassette which we
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         1       received last evening, after the conclusion of the hearing.

         2       I want to take you to the first tape and I want to have my

         3       junior commence it at 46 minutes and 49 seconds.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   If it's on a computer disk, can we not

         6       print off the passage?

         7

         8       MR LACAVA:   I'm sorry?

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   If it is on a computer disk, can we not

        11       print off the passage?  Then we will all have a copy of it.

        12

        13       MR LACAVA:   It's an audiotape taped digitally on to a CD.

        14       As I understand it, there has been no transcript prepared.

        15       We got the last of the tapes at nearly 10 o'clock last

        16       night.  We've been listening to them through the night and

        17       haven't had time to prepare a transcript.  Would it be

        18       convenient if my junior brings her computer up to the

        19       front, because the volume is not all that high, unless

        20       there is a facility here.  I notice that the terminals on

        21       our desk seem to have a CD-ROM drive in them.  I'm not sure

        22       whether or not we can play it through those.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Don't ask me, Mr Lacava.

        25

        26       MR LACAVA:   Could I have my junior bring her computer up

        27       to the front so that you can hear it, Commissioner, and the

        28       witness can hear it?

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        31

        32       MR LACAVA:   We'll perhaps put it in the witness position

        33       and turn it up loud.  We will go to 46:40.

        34

        35       MS JUDD:  It is just a little bit before that.

        36

        37            (Audio recording played)

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is that the passage you wanted?

        40

        41       MR LACAVA:   That's the passage we wanted, sir.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   The statement was "I still think we knew at the

        44       time it probably wasn't UN approved".

        45

        46       THE WITNESS:   That's reference to October '99?

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think it's reference to June '99,

         2       actually, but I may be wrong.

         3

         4       MR LACAVA:   The whole thing needs to be put in context,

         5       and no doubt it will be, Commissioner.  Could I just

         6       address you on the matter.  We want our learned friends

         7       assisting you to tender the four cassettes as a public

         8       exhibit.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why?

        11

        12       MR LACAVA:   Because they show evidence of a prior

        13       inconsistent statement with the sworn evidence of this

        14       witness when he first gave evidence and the evidence he has

        15       given today.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, I'll certainly facilitate that,

        18       but not in that form, because it would be impossible for me

        19       to use it.  What will have to happen is we'll have to take

        20       a transcript, but I'm not going to have all six hours

        21       transcribed, unless there's a good reason for it.  If you

        22       can give me the passages that you say are material to that

        23       submission, I will have those transcribed and you can check

        24       them.  Then we can have those tendered.

        25

        26       MR LACAVA:   There are two significant passages.  The first

        27       is the one we have just played, and there is another short

        28       passage which we'll draw attention to and raise with our

        29       learned friends in what is the fourth CD that we've been

        30       provided.  I'm anxious to ensure that the tapes themselves

        31       are marked as an exhibit, which they should be, in our

        32       submission.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, no, I won't do that at this

        35       stage.  I'll consider that when we see the relevant

        36       passages.

        37

        38       MR LACAVA:   Very well.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Can we have an agreement about what

        41       that tape said?  It would be much more convenient if we had

        42       a transcript of that passage.

        43

        44       MR LACAVA:   Yes.  My note, made albeit late at night, was

        45       to this effect:

        46

        47            I still think at the time we knew it wasn't
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         1            UN approved.

         2

         3       My learned junior tells me there's a "probably" in there

         4       somewhere, "it probably wasn't UN approved".

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   If you're going to impugn the witness's

         7       credit, I think it has to be an accurate transcript, not a

         8       rough one.  We'd better play that again.

         9

        10       MR KENNAN:   The context, Mr Commissioner, in the questions

        11       preceding it in our submission is important, because that's

        12       about the mechanism of the payment.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  No doubt.  Could we bring that

        15       forward and we'll play it again.  We'll go back a little

        16       earlier and see what the context is.  Mr Agius, as I recall

        17       it, had just read the suitcase email to the witness, which

        18       is June 1999.  And this was commentary, as I recall it, on

        19       that email.

        20

        21       MR LACAVA:   It was commentary on that email and, in

        22       fairness, Commissioner, one would need to listen to several

        23       minutes before, because my learned friend was putting to

        24       the witness not only that email but a number of other

        25       emails, culminating in that email, which served as the

        26       foundation for putting to the witness "What do you say as

        27       to the suggestion that you were the architect?".  So we may

        28       need to have some discussions with both my learned friend

        29       Mr Kennan and Mr Silbert and also with Mr Agius and

        30       Mr Condon.  I'm sure we can settle the transcript.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm sure you can too.

        33

        34       MR LACAVA:   My junior reminds me that when I went over it

        35       a second time late at night I've written down "I still

        36       think we knew at the time it probably wasn't UN approved

        37       and you couldn't do it".  We'll play that again.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   That's what I recall hearing when you played it

        40       just then.

        41

        42       MR LACAVA:   Can we work on that basis?

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   We'll work on that basis.

        45

        46       MR LACAVA:   If there's any alteration, I'm prepared to

        47       concede it.
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         1

         2       Q.   Mr Hogan, when you were interviewed by Mr Agius on

         3       9 January this year, when he put to you, "What do you say

         4       as to the suggestion that you were the architect of this?",

         5       part of your answer was, "I still think we knew at the time

         6       it probably wasn't UN approved and you couldn't do it".

         7       Now, do you recall saying that?

         8       A.   I think my first response, when he said I was the

         9       architect, was that I actually laughed at that, but - I'm

        10       still having trouble whether we're talking about the June

        11       email and which we still didn't know was UN approved and I

        12       didn't subsequently find out that it was approved in

        13       October until I was able to see the contract to remind me

        14       that the contract had been submitted and approved.  So I

        15       was answering questions without seeing all of the

        16       documentation, which I'd only seen that morning.

        17

        18       Q.   We don't see any suggestion in either of your

        19       statements presented to this Commission that you knew at

        20       any time that the inland transport fee or any variations of

        21       it were not UN approved, do we?

        22       A.   Sorry, could you explain that again, sorry?

        23

        24       Q.   You have put before this commission of inquiry --

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Lacava, is that really fair?  I

        27       don't know if it's accurate or not, but I thought the

        28       substance of this witness's evidence, at least today, when

        29       he had the June suitcase email put to him, was he explained

        30       it, and in the very email itself it said it was to be

        31       submitted to the United Nations, the distribution plan.

        32

        33       MR LACAVA:   The suitcase email was in November 1999.

        34

        35       THE WITNESS:   October.

        36

        37       MR LACAVA:   Sorry, 11 October.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is it that email that is the subject of

        40       the tape or is it the June email?

        41

        42       MR LACAVA:   No, it's the suitcase email that my learned

        43       friend Mr Agius concludes with.  We would need to play

        44       about 10 minutes or so of the tape to get it all in

        45       context, but my recollection is that he concludes by

        46       putting to him the suitcase email after a series of them

        47       and then says, "Well, what do you say as to the suggestion
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         1       that you were an architect of this?" Then we get the

         2       answer, "I still think we knew at the time it probably

         3       wasn't UN approved and you couldn't do it".

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Could we just play that last portion

         6       again, please?

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   I don't think I can be heard saying "What do

         9       you say to the suggestion?"  I think what I said was "It

        10       might be suggested to you".

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's right.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   It certainly wasn't at that time my suggestion

        15       that this witness was the architect.

        16

        17       MR LACAVA:   I accept that.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Could we bring the machine forward and

        20       play it again, please?

        21

        22       MR LACAVA:   We'll have to boot it up again, but it's under

        23       control.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   The suitcase email is dated 12 October 1999.

        26

        27       MR LACAVA:   Exhibit 9, Commissioner.  My junior is going

        28       to start it this time 45 minutes and 44 seconds in.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's tape 3, did you say?

        31

        32       MR LACAVA:   Tape 1.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   If anyone can't hear, please gather

        35       round.

        36

        37            (Audio recording played)

        38

        39       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Mr Hogan, you knew, didn't you, in

        40       October 1999 that the payment of the inland trucking fee

        41       was not UN approved.

        42       A.   No, what I have said there had been recorded only

        43       after seeing a couple of documents from six years previous,

        44       or something, seven years previous, that - I said we

        45       probably don't believe it was approved.  But at that stage

        46       I hadn't been shown any document there that showed me that

        47       I received a copy of the contract that had been approved by
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         1       the United Nations for $12 inland maritime agents - whether

         2       I'd seen that.  That was the confirmation, that it had been

         3       then approved.

         4

         5       Q.   When you returned from Iraq in February 2001 and you

         6       said that you spoke with Mr Stott on 12 February --

         7       A.   I said I can't - I was returned back to Melbourne, to

         8       the office, on 12 February, I think.  I can't recall if I

         9       spoke to him in the morning or in the afternoon or even on

        10       that day.

        11

        12       Q.   But it was around 12 February?

        13       A.   When I returned back.

        14

        15       Q.   After you returned from Iraq?

        16       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        17

        18       Q.   You told him what Mr Yousif Rahman had told you, did

        19       you not?

        20       A.   I relayed a concern and I believe the relay of the

        21       concern was something Mr Yousif said.

        22

        23       Q.   As I understand your evidence, Mr Stott dismissed you,

        24       dismissed what you were saying to him, on the basis that

        25       you had no proof?

        26       A.   Correct, he said that I was making an assumption.  It

        27       was more than "Do you have proof?", he said, "You are

        28       making an assumption".

        29

        30       Q.   Yes.  Now, did you tell Mr Stott at that time about

        31       the emails that had been exchanged between yourself and

        32       Mr Emons and Mr Officer and Mr Watson between June and

        33       October of 1999?

        34       A.   No, because I was referring directly to the

        35       10 per cent and the siphoning of the Iraqis - nothing to do

        36       with the inland transport.

        37

        38       Q.   Did you tell Mr Stott, when you returned from your

        39       February trip, on or about 12 February 2001, that in

        40       October 1999 you probably knew that the payment of the

        41       inland trucking fee was not UN approved?

        42       A.   No, because I probably knew, if I had have actually

        43       looked at the file and saw the October 1999 contract signed

        44       and approved by the UN, I wouldn't have told him that's my

        45       state of mind.  I think - if we really want to see my state

        46       of mind, the DFAT letter on the 27th is a good way to look

        47       at the state of mind that everything was UN approved.  I
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         1       was willing to tell DFAT this.

         2

         3       Q.   That draft was false, wasn't it?

         4       A.   No, the draft is not false.

         5

         6       Q.   It was not your state of mind in October 2000 that the

         7       payment of the inland trucking fee was UN approved, was it?

         8       A.   It was my state of mind that the UN trucking fee had

         9       been approved, and I had written it.

        10

        11       Q.   You had known for over a year that it was not; that's

        12       so, isn't it?

        13       A.   No, and I may even refer to an email I sent in July of

        14       that year to Mr Peter Hart showing my state of mind and how

        15       we should operate under the UN.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Do we have that email?

        18       A.   I think we do.  I've submitted it under my statement

        19       prior to this October DFAT letter.

        20

        21       Q.   What's the date, the 9th of --

        22       A.   2 July 2000, AWB.5038.0129.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Could we bring that up, please?

        25

        26       THE WITNESS:   Excuse my comedy again.  I'm referring to

        27       point number 3, how we should be operating as AWB.

        28

        29       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Well, that's very interesting, Mr Hogan.

        30       Now can we get back to my question?  Did you tell Mr Stott,

        31       on or about 12 February 2001, that you had been complicit

        32       with Messrs Emons, Officer and Watson in setting up the

        33       mechanism for the payment of this inland trucking fee?

        34       A.   Definitely not, because I was not part of the core

        35       group that set up the inland trucking fee, and I can refer

        36       to - in my statement you will see all the correspondence

        37       surrounding the establishment of the trucking fee and

        38       exhibits that have been made to this Commission - I think

        39       the list may be about 15 of them - that I'm not even copied

        40       in on.

        41

        42       Q.   Is the answer to my question no?

        43       A.   No, I did not tell - no, I did not tell Mr Stott that

        44       I was complicit in setting up the inland transport fee.

        45

        46       Q.   Did you offer a copy of the email exchanges between

        47       yourself, Mr Officer, Mr Emons and Mr Watson between June



            .30/3/06 (57)              5701     D J HOGAN (Mr Lacava)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       and October of 1999 to Mr Stott as evidence?

         2       A.   In February 2001?

         3

         4       Q.   In February 2001?

         5       A.   No, because he had an Arthur Andersen report and they

         6       had every email we'd ever written since 1999 on this

         7       matter.

         8

         9       Q.   Is that so?

        10       A.   Correct - that's what we were told.  Mr Stott told us

        11       that two people were corrupt and they had found it from

        12       these emails and correspondence.  They did a blanket screen

        13       of my computer, which was Mark Emons' computer.  They

        14       downloaded every email.  He had it.

        15

        16       Q.   You have told the inquiry - and I summarise - that

        17       when you spoke to Mr Stott in February 2001, on or about

        18       12 February, that he dismissed you and said you didn't have

        19       proof, and that you felt intimidated and felt that you

        20       couldn't take your complaint to anyone else, didn't you?

        21       A.   I don't think I said I felt intimidated.  Mr Charles

        22       Stott was intimidating, full stop, irrespective of what

        23       conversation we were having.  In that Mr Stott said I was

        24       making an assumption and I had no direct proof, "Continue

        25       on with your business".

        26

        27       Q.   But you've told the Commission, haven't you, that you

        28       felt that you couldn't go to anyone else?

        29       A.   Definitely not.

        30

        31       Q.   You haven't said that?

        32       A.   No, I said "definitely not" - I could not go to

        33       someone else.  Sorry, I was answering your --

        34

        35       Q.   You couldn't go to anyone else at AWB --

        36       A.   No.

        37

        38       Q.   -- is that what you're saying?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   You couldn't go to Mr Long?

        42       A.   Mr Long was a regional manager who - no, I would not

        43       have went to Mr Long, sorry.

        44

        45       Q.   And you could not have gone to Mr Geary?

        46       A.   Mr Geary was - I don't even know where Mr Geary's

        47       position was at that stage.
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         1

         2       Q.   He was your friend?

         3       A.   Mr Geary?

         4

         5       Q.   Yes.

         6       A.   I've got a lot of friends in the AWB.

         7

         8       Q.   Is Mr Geary your friend?

         9       A.   Yeah, I - yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Why didn't you go and speak to him?

        12       A.   Because it would have come back around through to

        13       Mr Stott and Mr Stott would have got rid of me, and it

        14       would have put Mr Long in as regional manager of the Middle

        15       East, which is what they wanted to do.

        16

        17       Q.   The reason why you didn't speak to anyone is because

        18       you were one of the four architects of the mechanism for

        19       setting this siphoning process in place, weren't you?

        20       A.   No, I was not.

        21

        22       Q.   And what you have done at this inquiry is give false

        23       evidence in order to lessen your involvement, haven't you?

        24       A.   No, I have not.

        25

        26       Q.   You have sought, right from the time that you were

        27       interviewed, to lessen your involvement and seek to

        28       highlight the involvement of others, haven't you?

        29       A.   No, I have not.  I have been completely honest and

        30       provided all the information I can to this Commission.

        31

        32       Q.   Well, your first statement that you tendered and swore

        33       on your oath as being true and correct was in fact false,

        34       wasn't it?

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   I reject that question.  It's I don't

        37       know how many hundreds of paragraphs long, Mr Lacava.  If

        38       you want to put that to him, you'd better put particular

        39       passages to him directly.

        40

        41       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Well, it was part true and part false,

        42       wasn't it?

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   I reject that question.

        45

        46       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Do you have your statement there,

        47       exhibit 142?
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         1       A.   Yes, I do.

         2

         3       Q.   Could you go to paragraph 50, please?  Now, bearing in

         4       mind what you told Mr Agius when he interviewed you on

         5       9 January this year, that you knew in October 1999 that it

         6       probably wasn't UN approved, is the paragraph at the bottom

         7       of page 14 true or false?

         8       A.   By this, I'm saying that I was aware that the

         9       contracts had been approved and I would have been aware

        10       that the ITF was in order in August '99.

        11

        12       Q.   You say:

        13

        14            At that time, I believed that the ITF was

        15            acceptable to the UN...

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:

        18

        19            ...because the issue had been raised in

        20            July 1999 and I was not aware of any

        21            statement saying that the fee was

        22            disapproved by the UN.

        23

        24       THE WITNESS:   So I'm saying my awareness that it was UN

        25       approved was August '99 and not October '99.

        26

        27       MR LACAVA:   Q.   So we should read that and put out of our

        28       minds, should we, all of the exchanges of emails between

        29       yourself and Mr Emons and Mr Officer between June and

        30       30 September 1999?

        31       A.   If you could find emails between June - can you please

        32       show me the emails between the June 24 trip and

        33       30 September between myself, Mr Emons and Mr Officer?

        34

        35       Q.   Could you go over to page 16, please?

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Are you leaving the point you just

        38       sought to make?

        39

        40       MR LACAVA:   Yes, Commissioner.

        41

        42       Q.   Would you go to page 16, please, paragraph 57.  You

        43       see there you're dealing with an email of Mr Emons of

        44       30 September 1999, which, amongst other things, said:

        45

        46            (We could probably by pass the account in

        47            Jordan and transfer directly to the
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         1            "special" nominated account - as long as

         2            the link was not apparent that the funds

         3            were going into Iraq.)

         4

         5       You then go on and say, in the last paragraph, last

         6       sentence:

         7

         8            In this case I thought that the UN had

         9            approved the transport fee but that the

        10            payment of it would be stopped by the

        11            banking system automatically if direct

        12            payment to Iraq was attempted.

        13

        14       Was that your belief at the time?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   You say that on your oath, do you?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Could you go to page 21.  You there deal with the

        21       amendments to the Australian Criminal Code, do you not?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   In paragraph 73 you say:

        25

        26            Charles Stott did not mention Iraq in the

        27            cleaning up of Commissions.  At that time I

        28            thought the ITF was sanctioned by the UN

        29            and therefore not illegal.

        30

        31       Is that a true statement --

        32       A.   Correct.

        33

        34       Q.   -- of your belief?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   You say that on your oath, do you?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   All right.  Would you go to page 26, please.  You

        41       there deal with the draft fax to DFAT, do you not?

        42       A.   Yes, yes.

        43

        44       Q.   You say in the second-last paragraph:

        45

        46            At the time I wrote this draft letter, I

        47            was of the belief that the UN and DFAT were
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         1            aware of the ITF and it had UN approval.

         2

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Is that a true statement of your belief?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   On what basis do you say that DFAT were aware of the

         9       inland trucking fee?

        10       A.   Because they got sent contracts from AWB with the $12

        11       included in it and I thought it was --

        12

        13       Q.   Back in 1999?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       MR LACAVA:   I have no further cross-examination, sir.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        19

        20       <EXAMINATION BY MR KENNAN:

        21

        22       MR KENNAN:   Q.   Mr Hogan, you gave evidence about

        23       problems with the US sanctions in relation to the banking

        24       system; do you remember that?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   And you referred to some experience that you had, or

        28       the Wheat Board had, with Iran and Sudanese business?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   What mechanisms were put in place in relation to those

        32       countries?

        33       A.   We had problems with Iraq freight for a start, and

        34       that goes right back to the start of the Oil-for-Food deal.

        35       If we put on the freight payments anything on Iraq it used

        36       to be rejected out of the US banking system.  The Iranian

        37       one, I'm not sure how they did that, through the OECD,

        38       through a European bank, or something.  They changed the

        39       system.  But I think that eventually seemed to be - later

        40       in 2000, that seemed to alleviate that problem.  I think

        41       there might have been changes to some of those sanctions.

        42       Sudan, we paid them through - their banking system was done

        43       out of London out of Canary Islands or Gibraltar, or

        44       somewhere like that.  So the Sudanese guys had their own

        45       account outside.  So you couldn't do it straight in Sudan.

        46

        47       Q.   You also were asked on a couple of occasions whether



            .30/3/06 (57)              5706     D J HOGAN (Mr Kennan)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       you brought to Mr Stott's attention in August 2000 the

         2       emails that had passed between Mr Emons and yourself back

         3       in 1999; do you remember those questions?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   I think you said you didn't bring them to his

         7       attention?

         8       A.   No, I did not.

         9

        10       Q.   Why was that?

        11       A.   Because at that stage, when I came back to Australia,

        12       we'd just done a one million tonne contract with $14

        13       included.  That went in July.  There was discussion groups

        14       established in Melbourne, including the pool and Charles

        15       Stott, and that was early July.  I was still operating out

        16       of Cairo.  So all of those sorts of things should have been

        17       investigated if there were concerns in regards to it.

        18

        19            Then just later, probably I think in September, we

        20       then started - I think September, October, we started the

        21       Arthur Andersen inquiry, which was all about inland an the

        22       operations of two people - Mark Emons and Michael Watson -

        23       which covered pretty much Iraq and maybe a little bit on

        24       Pakistan.  So that came up.  And the question was never

        25       asked, for a start.

        26

        27       Q.   Mr Stott never asked you for those emails?

        28       A.   He never asked me anything in regards to the inland

        29       transport payment system.

        30

        31       Q.   You were also asked questions about an email that you

        32       sent saying that you would try or get in writing what the

        33       IGB had said about the UN approval; do you remember that?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   That was in relation to the 10 per cent?

        37       A.   Yes, the 10 per cent that had been added on.

        38

        39       Q.   Could I take you to paragraph 67 of your supplementary

        40       statement.

        41       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        42

        43       Q.   Can you just read through that.

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   You say there, at the end of that statement, that you

        47       didn't in fact obtain the approval in writing; is that
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         1       correct?

         2       A.   Correct.

         3

         4       Q.   What happened about it being listed as an agenda item

         5       in 2001; what's that a reference to?

         6       A.   Because the Iraqis hadn't provided me anything up

         7       through November and those periods, I still had it listed

         8       in my diary as issues in May '01, transport confirmation

         9       fee confirmed in writing to raise with the minister or the

        10       IGB.  I also raised it again as an issue to raise with the

        11       Grain Board of Iraq, and this is whilst I was in Baghdad,

        12       not from Melbourne, in June 2001, a confirmation again.  So

        13       I continually listed it as an issue to obtain the approval.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you ever in fact obtain it as a result of those

        16       meetings?

        17       A.   No, we didn't.  I'm not - my recollection is not so

        18       great, but I don't even think it was even tabled.  We might

        19       have had 14 or 15 issues to discuss with the Grain Board of

        20       Iraq.  Sometimes you might only get seven or eight of

        21       those.

        22

        23       Q.   Now, you've heard part of a tape of a discussion

        24       between yourself and Mr Agius --

        25       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        26

        27       Q.   -- in relation to what your state of mind was relating

        28       to a UN approval back in October 1999, and there was an

        29       extract played saying that you thought it was probably not

        30       approved at that time.

        31       A.   Correct.

        32

        33       Q.   Do you remember saying that to Mr Agius?

        34       A.   Correct, as per the tape.

        35

        36       Q.   What documents had you seen when you made that

        37       statement?

        38       A.   I'd seen none.  They brought the documents - Alice

        39       brought the documents to my house the morning of the

        40       interview, which was maybe 15, 20 minutes before Mr Agius

        41       turned up to start.  So I had a very, very quick chance to

        42       kind of flick through the folder, but that was the start of

        43       me seeing the documents.

        44

        45       Q.   And then between that time you were interviewed by

        46       Mr Agius and making your first statement, did you have

        47       access to all the documents that are referred to in your
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         1       first statement?

         2       A.   By the time we'd done the first statement, I'd been

         3       able to actually have a look at every email and my diary

         4       notes and piece together the actual timeline of events and

         5       when things were sent to me, what was sent to me, and able

         6       to formulate exactly what my state of mind was at certain

         7       periods along the timeline.

         8

         9       Q.   Yes.  How did seeing those documents change your mind,

        10       if at all, in relation to your state of mind about UN

        11       approval, if and when?

        12       A.   The UN approval became then - it was the issue being

        13       raised in June.  I dropped out of the loop - I seemed to be

        14       involved in a lot of correspondence and be part of this

        15       core team in - and I don't deny that, I had discussions.  I

        16       dropped out of that loop until 30 September, I think, but

        17       really dropped out of the discussions on the inland

        18       transport until 30 September, when I was taken off the

        19       bench basically and said, "You've got to go into Iraq with

        20       the chairman, I'll bring you up to date with what's

        21       happening ".  Then I think at the same time I would have

        22       been given - the contract from Darryl Borlase, which had

        23       that confirmation in it, that it had been approved by the

        24       United Nations, and that was probably the main bit of

        25       evidence that really shows that this has been approved.

        26       There's a $12 fee written on the front page of that

        27       contract.

        28

        29       Q.   Having read all those documents, what do you say about

        30       the accuracy of the statements you've tendered in the

        31       Commission as to your state of mind?

        32       A.   Both of my statements are completely factual and

        33       truthful and accurate.

        34

        35       Q.   You've referred to an email to Peter Hart of 2 July

        36       2000?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Who was Peter Hart?

        40       A.   Peter Hart was a grain technician who - yes, a grain

        41       technician.  He was a cereal chemist.

        42

        43       Q.   Where was he employed?

        44       A.   He was employed in Melbourne.

        45

        46       Q.   What do you say that that email shows about your state

        47       of mind at that time?
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         1       A.   Well, it's showing that this was - Mr Hart was only

         2       bringing in some equipment for EColi testing for the

         3       central laboratories of Iraq.  It was a minor thing.  But

         4       some of the actual equipment he was bringing in could have

         5       been considered dual purpose under the UN sanctions.  Some

         6       of it was not dual purpose, some of it could have been

         7       considered.  My state of mind was, whatever we're bringing

         8       in, let's get it all approved, we have to be good global

         9       corporate citizens and seen to be - you know, not seen, but

        10       acting as if we're complying with the United Nations and

        11       the sanctions.  This was just a very minor thing, just some

        12       equipment.

        13

        14       Q.   Now, you were also asked about why you didn't go to

        15       anyone else apart from Mr Stott.  In terms of the

        16       hierarchy, was there anyone else that you reported to

        17       directly apart from Mr Stott at the time, February 2001?

        18       A.   February 2001?  Mr Stott was my general manager.

        19       Above him was Mr Goodacre, who I've said was a friend of

        20       Mr Stott's, and above Mr Goodacre was Mr Andrew Lindberg,

        21       and Mr Lindberg and Mr Stott I think got on quite well as

        22       well.

        23

        24       MR KENNAN:   I have no further questions.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius?

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   Yes, thank you.

        29

        30       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In the course of his examination of you,

        33       Mr Hogan, Mr Lacava took you back to some evidence that you

        34       gave on 6 February 2006 at page 2050, line 17, where I had

        35       put to you what you had written in the draft letter of

        36       October 2000 to DFAT, and I read that to you:

        37

        38            Currently all Iraq contracts are concluded

        39            as "Free In Truck" all governorates Iraq,

        40            with a predetermined and UN approved

        41            transport fee.  The inclusion of the

        42            transport fee in the contract reduces AWB's

        43            ability to negotiate rates directly with

        44            the transport company, and subsequently

        45            there is no performance incentive for the

        46            transport company to maximize the discharge

        47            rates at Umm Qasr.



            .30/3/06 (57)              5710     D J HOGAN (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       I asked you:

         3

         4            Now, did that truly reflect your point of

         5            view, that the predetermined transport fee

         6            had been approved by the United Nations?

         7

         8       You said:

         9

        10            Correct.

        11

        12       Then the transcript records that I asked you this question:

        13

        14            And so you were intending in your draft to

        15            tell the UN that which you believed to be

        16            the case - that there was a predetermined

        17            and UN-approved transport fee?

        18

        19       Your answer was:

        20

        21            Correct.  I presumed that every phase that

        22            it was done - whether it was 12, 14 or 35 -

        23            this was a pre-approved transport fee.

        24

        25       I want to ask you that question in the way in which I

        26       believe I intended it, and I want your answer.  And so you

        27       were intending in your draft to tell DFAT that which you

        28       believed to be the case?

        29       A.   No, I think my letter starts off "As you are aware",

        30       or something - is that the letter?

        31

        32       Q.   I'll bring it up.

        33       A.   I might have been reiterating, not telling.

        34

        35       Q.   Well, leaving aside my use of the word "tell" --

        36       A.   No, I've got it as "consequently" --

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   The problem, Mr Hogan, is with

        39       Mr Agius's question, not your answer?

        40       A.   Okay.

        41

        42       Q.   The question was you were intending to tell the UN,

        43       rather than you were intending to tell DFAT?

        44       A.   No, the letter was going to DFAT.  So it was to DFAT

        45       that we were writing, not to the United Nations.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Yes, and you were intending to tell DFAT
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         1       what you believed to be the case?  I don't mean tell them

         2       for the first time, but you were intending to pass on to

         3       DFAT what you believed to be the case?

         4       A.   Correct.  Reiterate what I already knew and they knew.

         5

         6       Q.   There are some additional documents that we have

         7       located in relation to the November contract.  Yesterday I

         8       tendered exhibit 688, which was an email from Mr Hogan to

         9       the IGB of 2 November 2000 at 3.31pm.  We have since

        10       located an email from Mr Hogan to Mr Alvares.  Mr Alvares

        11       we understood to work in Treasury of the AWB.  Could we

        12       bring up, please, AWB.5056.0038.  Is that an email that you

        13       sent to Mr Alvares on 2 November 2000 at 2.02pm?

        14       A.   Yes.  Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   Mr Alvares was doing what job at the AWB Limited at

        17       that time?

        18       A.   He was a trader in the Treasury.

        19

        20       Q.   And it was necessary then to speak to him about some

        21       aspect of this contract?

        22       A.   I would have spoken with Doug probably, I think,

        23       several days before the actual contract, because it was the

        24       first time we were doing a currency conversion for Iraqi

        25       business, so we would have had to know whether we could

        26       actually do it, for a start.  I was just then confirming

        27       that we did the business and that we needed to fix - you

        28       know, "I'd like you to join me at the hook-up with the

        29       buyers today at 4 o'clock", and when we did that hook-up,

        30       we fixed the Deutsche Mark - the Euro.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   I'll tender that, Mr Commissioner.  I don't

        33       know whether my learned friend Mr Judd would consider that

        34       to at this date contain confidential in-confidence

        35       material, but perhaps I'll tender it as a public exhibit

        36       and await my learned friend's opportunity to have a look at

        37       it.  It seems to be old news.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I'll mark it as exhibit 695.

        40

        41       EXHIBIT #695 EMAIL FROM DOMINIC HOGAN TO DOUG ALVARES,

        42       DATED 2/11 /2000, BARCODED AWB.5056.0038

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Q.   We've located another email.  Could we

        45       bring up, please, AWB.5049.0207 this an email from you on

        46       15 November 2000 to the Grain Board of Iraq to Ms Moona, in

        47       which you say:
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         1

         2            I am sorry for not responding earlier, but

         3            I did advise Mr Yousif on the telephone

         4            that we have received the contract (thanks

         5            to Ahmed) and this contract was submitted

         6            to the United Nations on the 2nd of

         7            November, 2000.

         8

         9            Hopefully we will receive the approval very

        10            soon.

        11

        12       Ahmed was who?

        13       A.   I don't know.

        14

        15       Q.   Which contract were you referring to there?

        16       A.   That's the 300,000 tonnes.

        17

        18       Q.   The November contract?

        19       A.   Yes, correct.

        20

        21       Q.   And the long form or the short form?

        22       A.   No, we received the long form from the Grain Board of

        23       Iraq on 2 November, and I'd already advised Mr Yousif.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   I tender that email, Mr Commissioner.

        26

        27       EXHIBIT #696 EMAIL FROM DOMINIC HOGAN TO MISS MOONA,

        28       BARCODED AWB.5049.0207

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   Previously we have tendered exhibit 358, which

        31       was an email from Mr Borlase to Mr Hogan of 7 October 1999,

        32       which ended with the words, "Have attached beautifully

        33       written briefs for Turkey and Iraq if you're interested".

        34       We have since been provided by AWB with a copy of the Iraq

        35       brief September 1999, which was believed to be annexed to

        36       this email, AWB.0372.0004.  I will tender that Iraq

        37       September 1999 brief.

        38

        39       EXHIBIT #697 IRAQ BRIEF SEPTEMBER 1999, WHICH WAS ANNEXED

        40       TO AN EMAIL FROM MR BORLASE TO MR HOGAN DATED 7/10/1999,

        41       BARCODED AWB.0372.0004

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Again, it's old news, Mr Commissioner, but I

        44       don't know whether my learned friend would want to claim

        45       any commercial in confidence for the material.

        46

        47       MR JUDD:   We'll have a look at it.
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   Perhaps it could wait with the other exhibit.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   That completes the further examination of

         7       Mr Hogan.  Might he be excused, Mr Commissioner?

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Thank you, Mr Hogan.  You're

        10       excused.

        11

        12       THE WITNESS:   Thank you.

        13

        14       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Commissioner, we will return at 2 with

        17       Mr Hargreaves, if that's suitable.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  I'll adjourn until

        20       2 o'clock.

        21

        22       MR FORREST:   Could I briefly raise a matter before we

        23       rise, Mr Commissioner.  It doesn't concern Mr Hogan.

        24       Commissioner, we've had a very brief chance to digest your

        25       reasons that were published this morning.  I'm not asking

        26       that you relitigate your reasons.  I'm not sure that those

        27       reasons dealt with one of the propositions we put that the

        28       seven notices to produce served on the Commonwealth

        29       Government departments and all documents produced pursuant

        30       to them be made available to us.  That was a submission we

        31       put at paragraph 16 of our submissions and was repeated in

        32       paragraph 18.  I would ask you, sir, to consider whether

        33       you would rule on those aspects that we raise; that is, the

        34       production of the notices to produce and the documents that

        35       flow therefrom.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   So you want to have access to all

        38       documents produced by all security agencies to this

        39       inquiry?

        40

        41       MR FORREST:   What we argued, sir, at paragraph --

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, is that what you're asking me to

        44       order?

        45

        46       MR FORREST:   No.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   What is it you're asking me to order?

         2

         3       MR FORREST:   We seek the seven notices to produce served

         4       on Commonwealth Government departments and all the

         5       documents pursuant to them and we invite your Honour to

         6       peruse my learned friend Mr Agius's comments at transcript

         7       4444 and 4445 in opening, which, in effect, identified

         8       those documents.  That was part of the submissions we

         9       handed up to you, sir.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Let me say to you again:  is the order

        12       that you are seeking from me that I allow production to you

        13       of all of the notices issued by this Commission to the

        14       Australian security services and all of the documents that

        15       they produced to this inquiry?  If that's not what you're

        16       asking for, please tell me what you are.

        17

        18       MR FORREST:   It's broader than that.  We are picking up on

        19       Mr Agius's words --

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Please just tell me what you're asking

        22       for.

        23

        24       MR FORREST:   That notices to produce served upon

        25       Commonwealth Government departments and the documents

        26       produced pursuant to them be made available to us for

        27       perusal - for example, Prime Minister and Cabinet,

        28       Attorney-General's Department - nothing to do with

        29       security.  We say, sir, with respect, that --

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   How does that arise in relation to

        32       anything?  It certainly didn't arise in relation to the

        33       issue of whether I should make an order under section 6.

        34

        35       MR FORREST:   It was a submission we made under the heading

        36       "Other Related Issues".  It is not obviously part of your

        37       public interest immunity ruling.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   If you wish me to make such an order,

        40       you will need to put some submissions to me as to why.

        41

        42       MR FORREST:   With respect, sir, we have.  We'll put in

        43       further submissions.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I think you had better do that.

        46

        47       MR FORREST:   Thank you.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll adjourn until 2 o'clock.

         3

         4       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

         5
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, can I raise a matter that I have

         4       raised with my learned friend Mr Agius.  I mentioned the

         5       other day that we've had difficulties from time to time in

         6       dealing with issues concerning our client in preparations

         7       as necessary for this Commission.  We are conscious of the

         8       fact that this Commission is seeking some additional

         9       material from some of the directors, and we have a unique

        10       opportunity to turn our mind to that issue, and I am going

        11       to ask the Commission for an indulgence to allow us

        12       tomorrow to undertake that task, or at least start it, with

        13       the object of being able to resolve it, if not over the

        14       weekend very early next week.  I understand the Commission

        15       was proposing to not sit tomorrow after 2pm, and we seek,

        16       in effect, an indulgence to have the morning available, so

        17       that we can return to Melbourne tonight and address that

        18       issue.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   We think it is sufficiently important to

        23       interrupt the proceedings.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  It does seem to me to be

        26       important that each of the directors should have the

        27       opportunity to put a statement on before this Commission,

        28       just as a matter of fairness to them.  I don't necessarily

        29       mean that they will all be called.

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   So if the process can assist that,

        34       I think it is worthwhile.

        35

        36       MR JUDD:   That is what we had in mind.  There are a number

        37       of issues that have been identified in the examination of

        38       the directors just recently, and we propose to address each

        39       of those meetings and issues.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.

        42

        43       MR JUDD:   Not lengthy statements, but to address those

        44       issues in a sufficient way to enable the matter to be

        45       before the Commission.  If it means that time can be better

        46       used, then it will enable the Commission to go about its

        47       business without the need to call all of the directors.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  Does anyone oppose that

         3       course?

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   We will make arrangements, then, to move the

         6       witnesses whose evidence we would have taken tomorrow to

         7       Monday.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  All right.  I won't sit

        10       after whatever time we finish the telephone conference

        11       tonight.  There is a conference at 5 o'clock, I think, with

        12       the ambassador in Beijing.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   There is a telephone hookup with Mr Nicholas

        15       at 5.  We will need to clear this hearing room by about

        16       4.30 to enable arrangements to be made.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   I would not propose to participate in that.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Anyone who doesn't wish to examine

        21       Mr Nicholas may take it that there is no need to remain.

        22

        23       MR CLELLAND:   Before the examination of Mr Hargreaves

        24       commences, could I seek authorisation to appear on his

        25       behalf and indicate that a statement has been provided to

        26       counsel assisting.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  That leave is granted on

        29       the usual terms.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   I will call Mr Hargreaves.

        32

        33       <PETER GEOFFREY HARGREAVES, sworn:           [2.13pm]

        34

        35       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Hargreaves, might we have your full

        38       name, please?

        39       A.   Peter Geoffrey Hargreaves.

        40

        41       Q.   You appear here in answer to a notice requiring your

        42       attendance?

        43       A.   I do.

        44

        45       Q.   We have a statement from you, Mr Hargreaves.  Could we

        46       bring up WST.0038.0001.  Is that the first page of your

        47       statement?
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         1       A.   Yes, sir.

         2

         3       Q.   Could we bring up 0012 - the last page of your

         4       statement?

         5       A.   Yes, sir, that appears to be it.

         6

         7       Q.   Are the contents of that statement true and correct to

         8       the best of your knowledge and belief?

         9       A.   To the best of my knowledge and belief.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   I tender that, Mr Commissioner.

        12

        13       EXHIBIT #698 STATEMENT OF PETER GEOFFREY HARGREAVES,

        14       BARCODED WST.0038.0001

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Some material has been edited from the

        17       statement.  The edits are apparent because the blacking

        18       out can be seen.  I understand that the edits reflect the

        19       claim for legal professional privilege by AWB in the main.

        20       They also reflect the removal of the names of IIC

        21       investigators.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   I also tender, Mr Commissioner, the annexures

        26       to the statement of Mr Hargreaves.

        27

        28       EXHIBIT #699 ANNEXURES TO STATEMENT

        29       OF PETER GEOFFREY HARGREAVES

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Lest there be a mention of a name of an IIC

        32       investigator in any of those annexures, could you make

        33       again a non-publication order in relation to the names of

        34       the IIC investigators.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I shall make a non-publication

        37       order in respect of the names of any IIC investigators.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Are you still with AWB, Mr Hargreaves?

        40       A.   Yes, sir.

        41

        42       Q.   What's your current position with AWB?

        43       A.   National Manager, Corporate Affairs.

        44

        45       Q.   I'm not going to take you through all the detail of

        46       your statement, but there are one or two matters to

        47       commence with that I would like you to expand upon, if you
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         1       would.  When you were first appointed to head Project Rose,

         2       what did you understand that your duties would be?

         3       A.   Well, the first approach from Andrew Lindberg and my

         4       immediate manager, Michael Thomas, was that they would -

         5       they needed a stakeholder management input into the Project

         6       Rose team.

         7

         8       Q.   Can I ask you there what do you understand by the

         9       words "stakeholder management input"?

        10       A.   Well, to provide expertise to the project in managing

        11       external stakeholders to AWB.

        12

        13       Q.   Who were the external stakeholders to AWB?

        14       A.   Well, we hadn't gone through a list, but we expected

        15       that because - it was described to me that PSI, having made

        16       an inquiry, brought a new element to the work of the Rose

        17       team.

        18

        19       Q.   That's the permanent subcommittee of the US Senate?

        20       A.   Yes.  That would inevitably mean dealing with

        21       government and also the committee in the United States, and

        22       would possibly lead to media and other interests as well.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Does "stakeholder management" mean

        25       keeping stakeholders fully informed?

        26       A.   No, it is more about managing the relationship between

        27       the company --

        28

        29       Q.   You will have to explain that to me.

        30       A.   Well, it might be about, for example, dealing with the

        31       media.  It might be about building the relationship between

        32       AWB and farmers.  So there is an information flow, but it

        33       is not just information to a stakeholder.  It often is

        34       taking information and disseminating that through the

        35       company.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   It is just this word "stakeholder", you see.

        38       I think it creates more problems than it solves.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  There are shareholders and

        41       directors and there are wheat growers.  Who else is a

        42       stakeholder?

        43       A.  It could be anyone that we are dealing with at the

        44       time, but the ones you have mentioned would be the typical

        45       and standing groups that we would deal with - shareholders,

        46       media.

        47
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         1       Q.   And why the media?  Why are they a stakeholder?

         2       A.   It is just a word that has become the norm for

         3       describing the profession.

         4

         5       Q.   They have no stake in AWB or any other company, do

         6       they?

         7       A.   Not in that strict sense, sir, no.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   But part of your job, then, was to manage

        10       the relationship with the media?

        11       A.   Not normally.  That's handled by a media manager.

        12       I was there to coordinate matters across a range of

        13       stakeholders.

        14

        15       Q.   Well, yes.  Let's just deal with the media.

        16       A.   Sure.

        17

        18       Q.   You had a job in relation to the media?

        19       A.   No, sir.  I had a coordinating role across the

        20       corporate relations unit, but it didn't involve me directly

        21       managing media.  That was managed by the media relations

        22       manager.

        23

        24       Q.   Was it part of your task to deal with government

        25       departments?

        26       A.   Not normally federal government departments.  It was

        27       part of my task normally to deal with State government

        28       departments.

        29

        30       Q.   I am talking about after you were appointed to Project

        31       Rose?

        32       A.   Well, my task was to - where there would be

        33       coordination or dealing with federal government

        34       departments, I would work with the government relations

        35       manager.  I was simply the point man to create a point of

        36       contact for Project Rose across other stakeholder managers.

        37

        38       Q.   Across other stakeholder managers - does that mean

        39       across other people within AWB who had various

        40       responsibilities to deal with people who might be

        41       identified as stakeholders?

        42       A.   Yes, sir.  So - yes.

        43

        44       Q.   So what was the arrangement?  If any of those other

        45       managers - a manager who had to look after shareholders'

        46       interests - needed to know any information, or needed to

        47       say anything on that topic publicly, that person had to
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         1       deal with you first?

         2       A.   They would normally deal with me or the Rose team, but

         3       I was the point of contact or focus for them for their

         4       first inquiry, usually.

         5

         6       Q.   Were you then generally, so far as the public was

         7       concerned - and by "the public", I include the media and

         8       government departments - the spokesperson for Project Rose?

         9       A.   No, sir.

        10

        11       Q.   I am just at a loss to understand what in fact you

        12       did.  I don't say that in any sarcastic way.  I am just

        13       trying to get a handle on what your job description was and

        14       what its responsibility was, Mr Hargreaves, so I know what

        15       areas I can reliably ask you questions about.

        16       A.   Sure.  I understand.  It was simply a coordinating

        17       role.  So if the Rose team wanted advice on how to deal

        18       with a particular stakeholder, they would - I would be the

        19       person that would then guide them towards either the media

        20       manager or the government relations manager or the investor

        21       relations manager, as well as providing expertise that

        22       I had in that area over a number of years.  I hope that's

        23       helped.

        24

        25       Q.   We might come back to it as we go through your

        26       statement.  You have set out in your statement the briefing

        27       that you got from Mr Cooper and then another briefing from

        28       Mr Quennell.  It seems that you only had general awareness

        29       about particular issues - for example, the quality

        30       compensation issue, you only had a general awareness in

        31       relation to that?

        32       A.   Before I joined the Rose team?

        33

        34       Q.   Yes.

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you develop a fuller knowledge of that once you

        38       joined the Rose team?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   You said that Mr Long was appointed to the Rose team.

        42       I am just trying to find your turn of phrase.  What was his

        43       position on Project Rose?

        44       A.   He was there for his commercial knowledge and as a

        45       member of the international sales and marketing team, and,

        46       in particular, his knowledge of our trade with Iraq.

        47
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         1       Q.   When was he appointed to the Rose team?

         2       A.   It would have been within weeks of my appointment.

         3

         4       Q.   Your appointment was in 2003?

         5       A.   2004.

         6

         7       Q.   Sorry, 2004, and a few weeks before Mr Long?

         8       A.   Yes, sir.

         9

        10       Q.   From when do you date your appointment in 2004?

        11       A.   I can't date it exactly.  I think it was

        12       around June/July of 2004.

        13

        14       Q.   So were you full time, then, with Project Rose?

        15       A.   No, I had other - my other duties that I was

        16       undertaking as corporate affairs manager as well.

        17

        18       Q.   Corporate affairs manager - what did that entail?

        19       A.   The relationship between AWB and growers and grower

        20       bodies, State governments, State entities, and I also

        21       managed the farmer complaints handling process, if there

        22       were difficulties or complaints over transactions.

        23

        24       Q.   Was Mr Long full time with Project Rose after his

        25       appointment?

        26       A.   Not to my knowledge.

        27

        28       Q.   So although you were appointed as manager of Project

        29       Rose, you didn't in fact manage the project; is that right?

        30       A.   I saw it more as a coordinating role.  Initially it

        31       was just looking after - providing that stakeholder

        32       management perspective.  It did grow over time, but -

        33       I don't really - I didn't see myself as the manager, no.

        34

        35       Q.   Did people come to you for direction about Project

        36       Rose?

        37       A.   People came to me really to connect, whether it would

        38       be later on, during 2005, I would get - I would handle

        39       coordination of communication between the legal firms and

        40       internal people.  I was involved in basically day-to-day

        41       coordination.

        42

        43       Q.   I understand, then, that the project comprised

        44       commercial people and also legal people?

        45       A.   Yes, sir.

        46

        47       Q.   Other people?
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         1       A.   Well, it was a three-person team at that point -

         2       Jim Cooper, myself and Michael Long - with the support of a

         3       range of advisers.  Some of them were legal.

         4

         5       Q.   Did you deal directly with the legal people, other

         6       than as a point of contact or a conduit?

         7       A.   What do you mean by that?

         8

         9       Q.   Well, did you give instructions to the legal people

        10       about what tasks they should undertake?

        11       A.   Sometimes.

        12

        13       Q.   Did you formulate those tasks yourself?

        14       A.   No, it was normally done in consultation with either

        15       Jim Cooper or Andrew Lindberg.

        16

        17       Q.   Would you initiate such a thing?

        18       A.   Not normally, unless it was low-level activity that

        19       was required.

        20

        21       Q.   Were there people within Project Rose whose sole job

        22       was simply to gather information?

        23       A.   Not - when I began with the project, that information

        24       gathering exercise, to my understanding, had been largely

        25       completed.

        26

        27       Q.   We have a memo from Mr Lindberg, which I won't take

        28       time putting up.  It is dated 6 May 2004.  It refers to the

        29       fact that there had been a rigorous investigation which

        30       included an examination of 30,000 emails and other

        31       documents.  You understood that that examination had been

        32       completed by the time you joined Project Rose?

        33       A.   Yes, sir.

        34

        35       Q.   In terms of searching for emails and other documents,

        36       that project had no doubt resulted in the collection of a

        37       large database of material?

        38       A.   That was my understanding, through a briefing that

        39       I had from Mr Quennell.

        40

        41       Q.   Was that material electronically stored or was it

        42       stored on paper copy?

        43       A.   I understood that there was some material stored

        44       electronically and some was still archived within AWB.

        45

        46       Q.   Was it searchable - the electronically stored

        47       material?
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         1       A.   Not very well, to my experience.

         2

         3       Q.   What, did you attempt to search it from time to time?

         4       A.   No, I certainly didn't.  I'm a Luddite with

         5       technology.  But it wasn't easy to search.  There were

         6       problems with the technology, I understood.

         7

         8       Q.   Did you have a search engine, something like ISIS, or

         9       something similar?

        10       A.   I didn't.  I'm not sufficiently --

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You don't know what ISIS is, do

        13       you?

        14       A.   No, I don't.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So you don't know what software was

        17       attached to this database --

        18       A.   No.

        19

        20       Q.   -- to enable it to be searched or indexed?

        21       A.   No, I have got no idea.

        22

        23       Q.   Ant it wasn't part of your job to search the material?

        24       A.   No.

        25

        26       Q.   From time to time, though, you were the spokesperson

        27       for AWB when it came to dealing with, for example, the

        28       Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, after your

        29       appointment to Project Rose?

        30       A.   It wasn't normally me, but on occasion I did have some

        31       meetings with DFAT.

        32

        33       Q.   When you had those meetings, prior to going to those

        34       meetings, did you receive a briefing on, for example - and

        35       I don't put any sinister implication on this - what you

        36       could and couldn't say, what you might be expected to have

        37       to deal with, what you might be expected to have to respond

        38       to and what you should say on behalf of AWB?

        39       A.   It was my practice, with any meeting like that, to get

        40       approval and authorisation as to what I would be presenting

        41       to an external organisation.

        42

        43       Q.   When you obtained that approval, as a matter of

        44       practice, who did you obtain it from?

        45       A.   It depended on the level of information or the

        46       importance of the meeting.  It might be the Rose team.  It

        47       would normally involve legal advice, and possibly approval
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         1       by Andrew Lindberg.

         2

         3       Q.   So if you were, for example, going to meet with an

         4       Australian ambassador, would you obtain approval from the

         5       legal team as to what you should say, what you could say?

         6       A.   Well, I relied on the legal team to be the knowledge

         7       of Rose, so I would talk to them and we would discuss what

         8       would be appropriate to be saying.

         9

        10       Q.   Did you rely on Mr Lindberg to give you direction and

        11       instruction as to not the substance of what you could say

        12       but as giving you authority to say it?

        13       A.   Generally, yes.

        14

        15       Q.   Can I bring you to your statement at paragraph 27.  Do

        16       you have a copy of your statement handy?

        17       A.   Yes, sir.

        18

        19       Q.   This is at page 0007.  You speak here of having had a

        20       telephone conversation with Fran Freeman, who was based at

        21       the Australian Embassy in Washington, on 8 October 2004 and

        22       her inquiry as to whether AWB would be prepared to submit a

        23       goodwill document for the Senate inquiry?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   What was the nature of the goodwill document that was

        27       being spoken of at that time?

        28       A.   Something that would be a gesture towards the PSI of

        29       us providing some information about our experience of doing

        30       trade in Iraq under the Oil-for-Food Program.

        31

        32       Q.   Was it envisaged as a document which would relate to

        33       the way in which AWB executed its wheat contracts with

        34       Iraq?

        35       A.   It was going to be more likely to be just a general

        36       discussion about doing trade under the Oil-for-Food

        37       Program.  We did explore whether it would provide detail

        38       about the approvals process, and so on.

        39

        40       Q.   Was any such document ever put together?

        41       A.   A document was put together by MinterEllison.

        42

        43       Q.   For provision to the PSI?

        44       A.   As a possible provision to the PSI.

        45

        46       Q.   Was it ever provided to the PSI?

        47       A.   No.
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         1

         2       Q.   Why was it not provided?

         3       A.   Senator Coleman didn't take up the offer.

         4

         5       Q.   Otherwise it was ready to go, was it?

         6       A.   No.

         7

         8       Q.   What, it wasn't yet refined?

         9       A.   That's correct.

        10

        11       Q.   The telephone call that you refer to in paragraph 36 -

        12       was that a call to which you were a party?

        13       A.   What do you mean by that, sir?

        14

        15       Q.   Well, did you take the call?  Did you speak to the

        16       Minister For Foreign Affairs?

        17       A.   No.

        18

        19       Q.   That was a call that Mr Stewart took and he told you

        20       what Mr Downer had said to him, did he?

        21       A.   Yes, sir.

        22

        23       Q.   Was a decision made after that phone call that AWB

        24       would cooperate fully with the IIC?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   As a result of that phone call?

        28       A.   Yes, sir.

        29

        30       Q.   At paragraph 40 you speak of attending DFAT's offices

        31       in Canberra and providing a briefing to them.  You refer to

        32       a copy of your PowerPoint presentation.  Who put that

        33       PowerPoint presentation together?

        34       A.   It was done by the Rose team in collaboration with the

        35       legal advisers.

        36

        37       Q.   Who gave you authority to present that PowerPoint

        38       presentation?

        39       A.   The legal team and, if I recall correctly,

        40       Andrew Lindberg.

        41

        42       Q.   Was the board aware that you were going to meet with

        43       DFAT officers and provide them with such a presentation?

        44       A.   I don't know.

        45

        46       Q.   What did Mr Lindberg tell you that you had authority

        47       to do on that day in the course of your meeting?
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         1       A.   I don't recall a discussion with him.

         2

         3       Q.   But you do recall that he gave you authority to go

         4       there?

         5       A.   Well, certainly the presentation was forwarded to him

         6       by me with a note to say, "This is what I would be

         7       presenting".

         8

         9       Q.   Did you yourself have any knowledge of the content of

        10       the presentation?

        11       A.   What do you mean by that, I am sorry?

        12

        13       Q.   Well, we have the presentation as an annexure to your

        14       statement?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   It sets out a long list of facts and issues.  Were

        18       they facts and issues of which you yourself were aware, or

        19       were you reliant upon others for that material?

        20       A.   It would have varied depending on the subject matter,

        21       sir.

        22

        23       Q.   Well, we notice first, if we bring up this annexure -

        24       AWB.0395.0216 --

        25       A.   Sorry, what annexure is it?  I am a little bit lost on

        26       my --

        27

        28       Q.   I think it is annexure 8.  That's the paper copy of

        29       the PowerPoint presentation?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   We have got some limited familiarity with this form of

        33       document over the last few days, but, just correct me if

        34       I am wrong, each page is a different slide?

        35       A.   That's correct.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you actually draft and prepare the slides, or was

        38       that work done by others?

        39       A.   No, this document, as I said, was done in

        40       collaboration with the legal team.

        41

        42       Q.   Well, that word "collaboration" - did you have any

        43       role in collaborating with the legal team?

        44       A.   I am sorry, yes, I did.

        45

        46       Q.   As to the input?

        47       A.   As to the content, yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   Were you basically giving advice as to strategy?

         3       A.   On this document?

         4

         5       Q.   Yes.

         6       A.   No.  We were just deciding what information we needed

         7       to be included to cover all topics.

         8

         9       Q.   What was the purpose of the meeting with DFAT?

        10       A.   To give them a briefing on the visit by the IIC

        11       investigators, following our undertaking to the government

        12       and to Minister Downer.

        13

        14       Q.   That you would fully cooperate - that undertaking?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   Was it also envisaged that this presentation would put

        18       AWB's position to the Department of Foreign Affairs and

        19       Trade?

        20       A.   No, it was more just to tell them what had happened

        21       with the visit and where things stood and where we expected

        22       the inquiry to proceed.

        23

        24       Q.   Can you tell us why it is that each page of this

        25       document has on it the words "Legally privileged document

        26       prepared for the purpose of receiving legal advice"?

        27       A.   No, I don't recall how that ended up there, I am

        28       sorry.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   It is not right, is it?

        31       A.   I am sorry?

        32

        33       Q.   It is just not right - it was prepared for the purpose

        34       of showing to DFAT?

        35       A.   Well, I would imagine that in the initial stages, when

        36       we were preparing it, we were getting advice on the

        37       material, sir.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Wasn't this actually put together with the

        40       assistance of lawyers?

        41       A.   I don't recall whether it started off as a document

        42       with them, or whether I started it.

        43

        44       Q.   But at some time they came in and assisted you; is

        45       that right?

        46       A.   Whether they came in or whether we did it by

        47       telephone, I don't recall.
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         1

         2       Q.   I thought your evidence earlier was a little different

         3       to that.  How was this document put together - what was the

         4       process?

         5       A.   I am sorry, I don't remember.

         6

         7       Q.   Where did you obtain the information from that we see

         8       in the document?  Would you look, for example, at the next

         9       page - not the cover sheet, but 0217.  Where did that

        10       information come from?

        11       A.   It could have been provided by the IS&M team or it

        12       could have been provided by the legal team.

        13

        14       Q.   If we go to the next page, 0218, do you see the last

        15       dot point:

        16

        17            When selling wheat under the OFF Program,

        18            AWB initially bore the risk until delivery

        19            was certified by the UN's agents and later

        20            (following the June 1999 tender) bore the

        21            risk until deliveries to silos was

        22            completed.

        23

        24       Where did you get that piece of information from?

        25       A.   I don't remember, I am sorry.

        26

        27       Q.   Is that what you say you believed to be the facts as

        28       at March of 2005 - that after June 1999 and the tender

        29       therein AWB "bore the risk until deliveries to silos was

        30       completed"?

        31       A.   Well, I would have relied on the information that

        32       I was being provided by the legal team, who I expected to

        33       sign off on the accuracy.

        34

        35       Q.   But did that information come from the legal team, or

        36       did it come from IS&M?

        37       A.   I am sorry, I don't recall where it initiated from.

        38

        39       Q.   We have been told that the facts are that AWB never

        40       bore the risk until deliveries to silos were completed.  Do

        41       you know which of the two statements is accurate - either

        42       it did bear the risk or it didn't.  Are you able to say?

        43       A.   I will just read the paragraph again, if you don't

        44       mind.

        45

        46       Q.   Yes, please do.

        47       A.   It is not an area that I am an expert in, sir, but
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         1       I think it may be incorrect.  Looking at that with

         2       hindsight, and more experience in the company, I think that

         3       might be incorrect.

         4

         5       Q.   But at the time is that what you believed to be the

         6       case?

         7       A.   Well, it certainly, if I had noticed it - I imagine

         8       I would have looked to correct it, if I had known something

         9       different.

        10

        11       Q.   What does that answer mean as a response to my

        12       question?  Did you believe this to be the case, that

        13       following the June 1999 tender AWB bore the risk until

        14       deliveries to silos were completed?

        15       A.   Look, I can't recall what my state of knowledge was on

        16       that at the time, I am sorry.

        17

        18       Q.   You see, the next sentence is linked in to that

        19       statement, because it goes on to say:

        20

        21            This abnormal level of risk exposure had to

        22            be factored in to the price of wheat under

        23            OFF contracts.

        24

        25       A.   Mmm.

        26

        27       Q.   What that dot point, or that paragraph, seems to be

        28       saying is, look, AWB was on risk for this wheat until the

        29       delivery to silos was completed, and that's one of the

        30       reasons why the price for the wheat was so high, because

        31       that was an abnormal level of risk exposure.  I just

        32       suggest that to you as the ordinary meaning of that

        33       paragraph - would you agree with me?

        34       A.   That seems to be what it is saying.

        35

        36       Q.   I think you have said to us more than once that this

        37       would have been checked, at least, by the lawyers, if not

        38       composed by them?

        39       A.   Well, certainly I would have expected that they would

        40       have checked any of the information.

        41

        42       Q.   Now, again, I am not impugning the lawyers who put

        43       this together, but ought we not reasonably to infer that

        44       that is what the lawyers were being told?

        45

        46       MR FORREST:   Commissioner, I object to that.  In my

        47       submission, the witness's answers at the moment are to the
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         1       effect that he does not know whether this information came

         2       from the lawyers or from IS&M.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am sorry, I can't hear you.

         5

         6       MR FORREST:   I am sorry.  The witness at the moment is, as

         7       I understand his position, saying that he doesn't know

         8       whether the information contained in that paragraph came

         9       from the lawyers or from IS&M.  I understood my learned

        10       friend's question to be presuming that it came from someone

        11       to the lawyers.  I don't think the witness has said that.

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   I understood the witness said that this

        14       material, if not created by the lawyers, had been checked

        15       by them before he received it.  Now, these are the same

        16       lawyers who examined 30,000 emails and any number of other

        17       documents, and had all the resources of AWB, and on the

        18       state of the evidence they checked this document and

        19       provided it in a circumstance where it was to have weight.

        20       It was a report to DFAT.  In my submission, I am entitled

        21       to put to this witness whether we ought not reasonably

        22       infer that this is what the lawyers were being told.  The

        23       witness can answer.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will allow it at this stage.

        26

        27       THE WITNESS:   Well, as I said earlier, sir, I can't

        28       remember whether that information was provided by IS&M or

        29       by the lawyers.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   But whether it was provided by IS&M or the

        32       lawyers, it was clearly wrong, wasn't it?

        33       A.   Well, in hindsight --

        34

        35       MR CLELLAND:   With respect, the witness has already said

        36       that at the time he wasn't able to say that.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Are you able to say?

        39       A.   Well, with hindsight, it appears to be wrong, but I'm

        40       not an expert in this area.  It is a complex area and I am

        41       not an expert in it.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   When you say "with hindsight, it appears

        44       to be wrong", do you mean, based upon what you now know,

        45       that statement is inaccurate?

        46       A.   I am not confident enough to give a definitive answer

        47       on it, I am sorry.
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         1

         2       Q.   I thought you had already answered that question in

         3       another form.

         4       A.   Well, I said it appears to be wrong.

         5

         6       Q.   But does it appear to you to be wrong now?

         7       A.   It does appear to me to be wrong now.

         8

         9       Q.   And would it have appeared to you to be wrong if you

        10       had read it in March of 2005?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       Q.   What source of information do you have now that leads

        14       you to believe that that statement now appears to be wrong?

        15       What are you relying upon to be able to say that?

        16       A.   Well, more knowledge, which I think suggests to me

        17       that we were paid after discharge.

        18

        19       Q.   Who gave you that source of knowledge?

        20       A.   I don't know.  It could have come from the lawyers or

        21       from the IS&M team.  I don't know.

        22

        23       Q.   Did you have that knowledge in March of 2005?

        24       A.   No.

        25

        26       Q.   But you were the person sent to DFAT to speak to this

        27       PowerPoint presentation?

        28       A.   Well, not the only person, sir.

        29

        30       Q.   But you were the one who was to speak to the

        31       PowerPoint presentation?

        32       A.   That's correct.

        33

        34       Q.   And you were the one who had sent a copy of it to

        35       Mr Lindberg for his approval before you spoke to the

        36       PowerPoint presentation?

        37       A.   Yes, sir.

        38

        39       Q.   You understood that this document had been vetted by

        40       the lawyers?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   And would have been seen at least by Mr Long before

        44       you presented it?

        45       A.   Not necessarily.

        46

        47       Q.   So not the whole of the Project Rose team?
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         1       A.   Well, it would depend on who was available to check

         2       it.

         3

         4       Q.   On Project Rose, of all the people who were on Project

         5       Rose, who was the person best able to inform the lawyers as

         6       to the nature of the risk that AWB bore and whether or not

         7       this was an abnormal level of risk exposure?

         8       A.   I am sorry, could you repeat the question?

         9

        10       Q.   On Project Rose, of all the people who were on it, who

        11       was the person best able to inform the lawyers as to the

        12       nature of the risk that AWB bore and whether or not this

        13       was an abnormal level of risk exposure?

        14       A.   Michael Long.

        15

        16       Q.   But you can't say whether or not he saw this document?

        17       A.   No, I can't.

        18

        19       Q.   But you have no doubt, have you, that it was seen by

        20       the lawyers who were consulting to or on the Project Rose

        21       team?

        22       A.   Yes, and I think I say in my statement that I believe

        23       Mr Quennell came with me to Canberra for that briefing.

        24

        25       Q.   Did you have instructions from AWB that you were to

        26       tell DFAT of the outcome of the legal review that had been

        27       undertaken by AWB?

        28       A.   I would have to check whether that was in the

        29       presentation.

        30

        31       Q.   It is in the presentation at 0228.

        32       A.   I am sorry, I can't see it there.

        33

        34       Q.   There is a page headed "Issues"?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   The next line "Focus - inland trucking arrangements".

        38       It should be on your screen now.

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   It is the last line:

        42

        43            . Was AWB aware of any payments being

        44            channelled from Alia to the old regime?

        45            . No and subsequent legal review has found

        46            no evidence to the contrary.

        47
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         1       A.   Well, I would have been authorised to say that.

         2

         3       Q.   What was the nature of the legal review to which you

         4       were referring?

         5       A.   Mr Quennell's legal review.

         6

         7       Q.   Project Rose?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   So you were authorised to tell DFAT the result of the

        11       Project Rose review?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   If someone from DFAT had asked you more questions

        15       about the nature of that review, were you authorised to

        16       answer their questions?

        17       A.   I don't recall, I am sorry.

        18

        19       Q.   Well, would you have felt it within your authority to

        20       say to DFAT, "Oh, yes, we've reviewed 30,000 emails and

        21       we've had a rigorous review of all the documents at AWB

        22       that touch on this matter"?  Is that not just the very sort

        23       of thing you would have said if you were asked any

        24       questions about that last line on this page?

        25       A.   It would not have been unusual for me to say that the

        26       legal review as I understood it had reviewed thousands of

        27       documents and had interviewed staff.

        28

        29       Q.   Because that's what you had said on other occasions,

        30       isn't it?

        31       A.   As in when, I am sorry?

        32

        33       Q.   On other occasions when you had spoken to other DFAT

        34       personnel?

        35       A.   Prior to this meeting?

        36

        37       Q.   No.

        38       A.   Do you mean after this meeting?

        39

        40       Q.   Yes.

        41       A.   I think I would have, yes.

        42

        43       Q.   It was part of your armoury, wasn't it, to convince

        44       the government that there had been a very detailed review

        45       and the result of that review was that AWB could not be

        46       found to have done anything wrong under the Oil-for-Food

        47       Program?
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         1       A.   Well, I wouldn't have characterised it as armoury.

         2

         3       Q.   I am just not up with the speak.  That was part of the

         4       message that you were employed to deliver, was it not?

         5       A.   Well, the message as told to me was that an extensive

         6       review had taken place.

         7

         8       Q.   By independent lawyers?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   And it had reviewed tens of thousands of documents?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   And nothing untoward had been located?

        15       A.   Well, that wasn't the way I put it.

        16

        17       Q.   Well, what did you understand was the way in which you

        18       were to put that?

        19       A.   Well, as I have got there in my presentation.

        20

        21       Q.   The legal review had found no evidence to the

        22       contrary?

        23       A.   Do you mind if I just refer to the --

        24

        25       Q.   It is on the screen.

        26       A.   I know, but there is other material I would like to

        27       refer to.  If you go back several pages to AWB's response,

        28       we say there:

        29

        30            ...AWB's own legal review had found no

        31            evidence of:

        32            . corruption by AWB or individuals

        33            . side payments or after sales payments to

        34            individuals of the former regime, or

        35            . payments by the regime to former or

        36            existing AWB representatives.

        37

        38       Q.   Well, that's a little fuller than the way in which I

        39       have put it to you.

        40       A.   That's the sort of language that I would have used.

        41

        42       Q.   That was the message that you understood you were to

        43       deliver to the government?

        44       A.   As part of briefing them on this, yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Indeed, that was AWB's message to be delivered to the

        47       world, wasn't it?
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         1       A.   It was certainly one of the pieces of information that

         2       we wanted people to have, yes.

         3

         4       Q.   You wanted the world to know that you had had an

         5       independent legal review and that, in effect, it had

         6       cleared you?

         7

         8       MR CLELLAND:   Could Mr Agius specify when he is referring

         9       to when he says that this witness wanted the world to know

        10       something?

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   I will put it another way.  Let's not get

        13       bogged down in words.

        14

        15       Q.   The strategy was that AWB should sell that message to

        16       the world, for at least that time that you were associated

        17       with Project Rose; isn't that right?

        18       A.   No, sir.  It was part of information that was provided

        19       when I met with various people, but I wouldn't characterise

        20       it as a strategy to sell it to the world.

        21

        22       Q.   Well, okay, that may be an exaggeration - to sell it

        23       to those who might be interested to know whether or not AWB

        24       had acted in breach of sanctions?

        25       A.   Well, not to sell it, but to give them that

        26       information.

        27

        28       Q.   Yes.  So that they would believe it?

        29       A.   Are you asking me a question?

        30

        31       Q.   Yes.  For that purpose - so that it might be believed

        32       and accepted?

        33       A.   Well, the information was given to them that this is

        34       what - this was our position, this is what had occurred.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, in those circumstances, I fail

        37       to see how AWB can maintain its claim for privilege in

        38       relation to the Project Rose material.  In our respectful

        39       submission, the Project Rose material, at least up until

        40       the date of this document, 24 March 2005, ought now to be

        41       made available, and I just cannot see how legal

        42       professional privilege can still attach to that material,

        43       given that it was, on the evidence as we have it, part of

        44       AWB's strategy to indeed impart that material.  It seems

        45       odd that AWB would be in the position of being able to say,

        46       "We've had an independent review.  It has exonerated us",

        47       and to say that loudly to government, so that it might be
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         1       acted upon, and still claim privilege in relation to the

         2       material.  So we would ask that that material now be made

         3       available; that is, the material upon which those

         4       statements recorded in this document might be based.

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   It has, with respect, nothing to do with

         7       anything, sir.  First of all - and we have been through

         8       this before - one has to look at what is undertaken under

         9       the general rubric of Project Rose.  You can't simply seek

        10       to place a brush across Project Rose as being stakeholder

        11       relations at one minute, and that includes informing

        12       government about matters, Project Rose at another time

        13       involving the preparation of material to present to the

        14       world.  One has to look at what is undertaken and each

        15       piece of material which is said may no longer be privileged

        16       on the assumption that it first was.

        17

        18            If material is brought into existence in a privileged

        19       circumstance, it doesn't lose its privilege merely because

        20       one of the eventual outcomes is that one element of Project

        21       Rose intends to disclose some of that product to the

        22       public.  One can use the example of preparation of witness

        23       statements or the preparation of affidavits, and the like.

        24       Those documents are intended to be disclosed to the public,

        25       but until that occurs in the preparation of that material

        26       it is privileged.

        27

        28            If this document is brought into existence for the

        29       purpose --

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   But after that disclosure does it

        32       remain privileged?

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   Certainly not - no, not the document, just as

        35       this document --

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, no.  If privilege attaches during

        38       preparation of affidavits, for instance, and the affidavit

        39       is then made public, does the privilege attach to the

        40       documents used in preparation of the affidavit?

        41

        42       MR JUDD:   Absolutely.  Absolutely.  Just as with this

        43       document, one might look at the provenance of this document

        44       in the course of its preparation.  It goes through a number

        45       of drafts.  Lawyers have some input.  Commercial people

        46       have some input.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   And it is prepared for the purpose of

         2       informing government.

         3

         4       MR JUDD:   What is privileged is the document insofar as it

         5       is prepared for the input of lawyers.  Once it is finished

         6       and ready to be published, and in fact is published, the

         7       document is no longer privileged.  That has gone from the

         8       document in the publication of it.  It doesn't interrupt

         9       the privilege attaching to the drafts and the legal input.

        10

        11            So what my friend says has nothing to do with the

        12       process of privilege at all.  It just means that this

        13       document is not privileged.  No claim of privilege is

        14       maintained over this because it was plainly published to a

        15       third party - the government.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   It plainly was.

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   We had an example a little earlier where there

        20       was some legal advice from Sir Anthony Mason, or an expert

        21       opinion.  That was published.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   And all of the documents --

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   That was published --

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   -- provided to sir Anthony then became

        28       public.  Here we have publication of the outcome of Project

        29       Rose, and all the documents used to prepare it are not made

        30       public.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   No, certainly not.  All the documents used to

        33       prepare Sir Anthony's advice have not been made public.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   I thought they were.

        36

        37       MR JUDD:   No, that's not so, sir.  Otherwise we would be

        38       having drafts of Sir Anthony's document --

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't mean the drafts of

        41       Sir Anthony's opinion; I mean the documents which grounded

        42       it, the information --

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   The instructions?

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        47
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         1       MR JUDD:   Yes.  But that is an example of an expert

         2       opinion.  That is what it was.  With any expert opinion,

         3       the instructions inherently form part of what is then

         4       produced.  That's a very typical ingredient of an expert

         5       opinion.  That happens every day in courts.

         6

         7            Simply because the product of Project Rose is

         8       published does not in the least, in our submission, impact

         9       on the work that has gone behind the preparation of the

        10       document.  Otherwise it would make a mockery of the whole

        11       concept of legal professional privilege.  That just can't

        12       be so.  In our submission, it is just not so.

        13

        14            One of the errors that is occurring here, in our

        15       submission, is the point I started on, and that is the way

        16       in which Project Rose is used as a generic description, so

        17       that a challenge is made to the management of it, its

        18       various objectives, and the like.  In our submission, that

        19       is a misunderstanding of the application of the concept of

        20       privilege to what is being undertaken.  We have never

        21       maintained that everything that happens under the rubric of

        22       Project Rose is privileged.  There are documents that are

        23       produced here, in this Commission, without any claim for

        24       privilege which have emblazoned across them "Legal

        25       professional privilege".  That's not the test.  And yet

        26       there are documents that are produced that don't find any

        27       sort of endorsement on them that plainly are.

        28

        29            Taking one example in Project Rose, the Project Rose

        30       team may decide that it wants to get some advice from

        31       counsel, so it puts together a brief to counsel.  It

        32       submits the brief to counsel and gets some advice.  It's a

        33       uniquely privileged circumstance.  There's no suggestion

        34       that that is not privileged as a result of the publication

        35       of this.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   And the advice is then incorporated in

        38       a document which is published to government.

        39

        40       MR JUDD:   If the substance of the advice is incorporated

        41       into a document, then the privilege may well have been

        42       waived.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why don't the passages to which the

        45       witness has been taken do exactly that:

        46

        47            ...AWB's own legal review had found no
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         1            evidence of:

         2            . corruption by AWB or individuals

         3            . side payments or after sales...

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   It doesn't disclose advice.  It discloses a

         6       conclusion that someone has drawn about the product of it.

         7       If one were in a piece of litigation --

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   But surely that is the advice, isn't

        10       it?  If it is not the advice, what is it?

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   That's a product of someone's analysis of what

        13       is contained there.  It may well be what Mr Quennell says.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   But that's what advice is.

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   It is the product of work.

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   But the fact --

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   And that's what this document says.

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   The fact that somebody discloses material of

        26       that sort in a document like this does not waive privilege

        27       in relation to legal advice that goes behind it.  It can't

        28       be so.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Even if they say, "We have had legal

        31       advice and it produces the outcome X.  Therefore, we tell

        32       you X."

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   This actually surprises me a little, sir, for

        35       this reason:  I raised this very point with my friend on

        36       two or three occasions over the past few weeks as to

        37       whether or not an issue was arising, or likely to arise, in

        38       connection with this very matter.  One of the issues

        39       directly concerned a memorandum which is attached to this,

        40       which would suggest that something was said to government

        41       to the effect that a QC's opinion - it is the memo of

        42       Sunday, 25 June.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   What tab number?

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   It is tab 9, the second-last line.

        47
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         1       MR JUDD:   Yes.  I must say that the approach of the

         2       Commission indicated to me was that if not disclosing the

         3       substance of the advice no point was to be taken about it.

         4       It was a matter raised by me.

         5

         6            I assume it wasn't some sort of trick, that it was a

         7       genuine response and a genuine view that was conveyed.  But

         8       in our submission, if what is conveyed doesn't contain the

         9       substance of the advice, there is no waiver.  There may be

        10       an implied waiver, in circumstances if one had a

        11       contradictory party in litigation, as we --

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   But, Mr Judd, I don't understand how it

        14       can be said that that which appears under the heading

        15       "AWB's Response" doesn't contain the substance of the

        16       advice.  That is precisely what it says it does - "We have

        17       conducted our own legal review and found no evidence of",

        18       as it were, fault.  That's the substance of the advice from

        19       the legal review.

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   The point I am making, sir, is this:  this

        22       document and these issues have been alive for some time.

        23       They have been the matter of discussion.  What this witness

        24       says about Project Rose has got nothing to do with what is

        25       said in this particular document.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, I am sorry, I think it does.

        28       This is the first time, at least in my recollection, that

        29       we've had somebody with authority going to government with

        30       authority to disclose all of this information, and he did

        31       so.

        32

        33       MR JUDD:   I accept what you say, Commissioner, that it is

        34       the first time that it has come to your attention, but in

        35       our submission it has been a live issue for some time and

        36       what has now been said takes me by surprise.

        37

        38            We can give this matter some consideration, but we had

        39       come to conclude that no issue of this kind was being made

        40       about this material, because this has not been news to us

        41       or to my learned friend, and it has been on the table for

        42       some time.  I am surprised that it has been raised in the

        43       way it is now, if the intention is to contend that this

        44       constitutes some sort of waiver.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Just on basic principles it does appear

        47       to be a waiver, doesn't it?  To go to Canberra to tell
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         1       government what the outcome of your legal review is seems

         2       to me to be a waiver of the privilege attaching to it.

         3

         4       MR JUDD:   But of what?  If I may say so, sir, the outcome

         5       of the legal review is such and such - all that is doing is

         6       waiving the protection on the outcome of the legal review.

         7       It doesn't waive the protection on the review itself.

         8       That's the difference.  In our submission, it is a bit like

         9       someone saying, for example, "I have had advice that I can

        10       do such and such".  That doesn't waive the privilege on the

        11       advice, except in circumstances where there is an implied

        12       waiver because it is unfair that a person should be able to

        13       maintain that position.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   You can't maintain two positions at

        16       once.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   And that's not the position before this

        19       Commission.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, is it?

        22

        23       MR JUDD:   No, with respect, it is not.  It is not the

        24       position before this Commission, where an implied waiver

        25       operates which might otherwise operate between parties in

        26       litigation.  Therein lies a difference.  There can be a

        27       waiver in fact if the substance is communicated, but then

        28       it is only the waiver of that; it is not the waiver of what

        29       goes behind it.  The implied waiver of what goes behind it

        30       is something that occurs as a matter of fairness between

        31       competing parties in an adversarial context.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   So you get the advantage of disclosing

        34       the outcome of the inquiry, telling it to government,

        35       having government relying on it, but it is not able to be

        36       inquired into as to whether in fact that is true or how

        37       that position is reached.

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   We don't get any advantage at all.  The only

        40       reason that these documents are before this Commission is

        41       because they are here under compulsion.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Quite.

        44

        45       MR JUDD:   If it were the government, for example, in

        46       litigation concerning an issue in connection with a

        47       representation, for example, that had been made to them,
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         1       saying, "You can't contend that you had this advice and at

         2       the same time not produce it", that might give rise to an

         3       implied waiver.  Not here.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why not?

         6

         7       MR JUDD:   Because the principle doesn't apply in this

         8       process.  It doesn't apply because this is a coercive

         9       process.  It is not adversarial.  It is an inquisitorial

        10       hearing, and we are producing these materials under

        11       compulsion.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   I understand that, but why doesn't it

        14       still apply.  If you claim legal professional privilege,

        15       why don't the usual principles apply?

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   Because the usual principles in relation to

        18       implied waiver, sir, only apply as a matter of fairness in

        19       litigation between adversaries.  That is not a circumstance

        20       here.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   What is the consequence of that

        23       submission, Mr Judd?  The consequence is that, where there

        24       is an inquisitorial inquiry, documents can be required to

        25       be produced, a claim of legal professional privilege can be

        26       made, and that's the end of the matter - is that --

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   That's correct.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   What about the provisions of the Act.

        31       No-one has taken me to that.  The documents are produced

        32       pursuant to a notice, under section 2(3), as I recall.

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   I don't have my copy of the Act here, I am

        35       sorry, sir.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Section 2(3A), which says:

        38

        39            A member of a Commission may, by written

        40            notice served (as prescribed) on a person,

        41            require the person to produce a document or

        42            thing specified in the notice to a person,

        43            and at the time and place, specified in the

        44            notice.

        45

        46       Section 3(4) says:

        47
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         1            A person served with a notice under

         2            subsection 2(3A) must not refuse or fail to

         3            produce a document or other thing that the

         4            person was required to produce in

         5            accordance with the notice.

         6

         7       MR JUDD:   Yes.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Full stop.

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Subsection 5 says:

        14

        15            Subsection (4) does not apply if the person

        16            has a reasonable excuse.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   "Reasonable excuse" is defined "in

        21       relation to any act or omission by a witness or a person

        22       summoned as a witness before a Commission means an excuse

        23       which would excuse an act or omission of a similar nature

        24       by a witness or a person summoned as a witness before a

        25       court of law".

        26

        27       MR JUDD:   Yes.  Might I ask, sir, is it the contention of

        28       the Commission that legal professional privilege is thereby

        29       abrogated?  We would say no.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, no, I am not in the slightest

        32       suggesting that.  What I am suggesting is that a proper

        33       construction of the statute may well result in the

        34       obligation being to produce the document to the Commission

        35       but then to seek to have that obligation set aside - in

        36       other words, to negate the application of subsection (4) -

        37       by establishing that you have a reasonable excuse for

        38       non-production, and, as I understand it under the criminal

        39       code, you bear the onus of that.

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   Yes.  Reasonable excuse, sir, on my

        42       recollection, has generally been interpreted as matters

        43       relating to the physical ability of the witnesses to attend

        44       on subpoena, and the like, and the legal professional

        45       privilege is not caught up in reasonable excuse.  It falls

        46       back into --

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Anyway, I just raise that because --

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   -- the point that we were making the other day,

         4       sir, in connection with the power.  It is like a search

         5       warrant.  If the power is not there, production can't be

         6       compelled.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   We don't need to go over that again.

         9       I am thinking about that and I will have something written

        10       about it in the not too distant future, I hope.  But

        11       I thought I should draw those matters to your attention,

        12       because nobody, in that argument, addressed what I would

        13       have thought would have been the source of the power;

        14       namely, the Act.

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   Yes.  I might say, sir, we had turned our mind

        17       to those provisions in considering the issue, and it is

        18       those provisions which are not dissimilar to the powers

        19       that are found in connection with search warrants and

        20       compulsion.  I have heard what you have said - and I don't

        21       mean that with disrespect.  We can consider our position.

        22       As I have said before, we will not maintain legally

        23       untenable positions in relation to legal professional

        24       privilege.  If privilege has properly gone, then documents

        25       will be produced.  We have endeavoured to adopt that course

        26       throughout.  This is one example where privilege could not

        27       be contended as applicable, and we haven't sought to claim

        28       it.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think the appropriate course is to go

        31       ahead.  You have heard what Mr Agius has said in relation

        32       to production of the documents.

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   It will probably flow from whatever

        37       I decide in relation to the matters we debated the other

        38       day.

        39

        40       MR JUDD:   Yes, thank you, sir.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   It is our submission that not everything that

        43       Project Rose has is caught by this what we would say was an

        44       explicit waiver, because here the substance of the advice

        45       has been revealed in the document which was freely given to

        46       government.  Our primary argument is that, unlike other

        47       circumstances that have arisen in the course of this
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         1       inquiry, this is an actual waiver of legal professional

         2       privilege in relation to the substance of the legal review,

         3       because its content has been disclosed and, indeed, relied

         4       upon.  It is entirely distinguishable from the circumstance

         5       where somebody says, "I have got a QC's opinion that says I

         6       can do what I am doing".  This disclosure goes much further

         7       than that.  It goes to the substance of the legal review,

         8       and it is our submission that it is entirely

         9       distinguishable from anything that has happened up to this

        10       point in the inquiry.

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   It might be useful if my friend formulates for

        13       our consideration quite what that means, so that we can

        14       take the proposition away and give it some serious

        15       consideration.

        16

        17            I want to say this constructively, so that we can have

        18       the issue properly defined for us to think about.  If what

        19       is said is that what is waived is the result of the legal

        20       review, that's, in our respectful submission, a rather

        21       indefinite thing.  If it is the result of the analysis of

        22       documents which are assembled, then if my friend says it is

        23       the documents that are assembled which form the subject

        24       matter of the disclosure and therefore the assembled bundle

        25       of documents is no longer privileged, if it was, then we

        26       know what we're talking about.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think the problem, if I may say so,

        29       arises because what you are suggesting is really putting

        30       the boot on the wrong foot.  The reality is it is you who

        31       are making the claim for the legal professional privilege.

        32       It is you who have the obligation to establish it.  It is

        33       you who should have the affidavits in support of it.  It is

        34       you who should produce the documents and say, "In respect

        35       of these, we claim it for the following reasons, A, B, C

        36       and D."  Maybe Mr Agius would be happy to formulate

        37       something.  I don't know.

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   We are providing lists of documents on an

        40       ongoing basis to the Commission with the basis for the

        41       claim.  I don't think Mr Agius would be suggesting for a

        42       moment that the documents under consideration are not all

        43       before the Commission.  It is really the compilation that

        44       is the issue, as I understand.  If that be the position,

        45       perhaps he can let me know so that we can work out what it

        46       is that we are really concerned with that's the subject of

        47       the waiver, and then that enables us to give suitable
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         1       consideration to it.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   One difficulty I have - I really do

         4       have - is I don't believe I understand what Project Rose

         5       is.  It keeps changing.  It is this one day and it is

         6       something else the next.

         7

         8       MR JUDD:   We only have the evidence, Commissioner, to

         9       assist us.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  And that evidence is very

        12       inconsistent.

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   It is very much like a rambling rose.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   It is, absolutely.  That is a very good

        17       analogy.

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   It appears to us --

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   It creeps out to cover whatever needs

        22       to be covered.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   With respect, that's not the way that we are

        25       approaching privilege.  We are not maintaining that Project

        26       Rose is in whole privileged.  We are saying only the work

        27       that is undertaken for the purpose of obtaining legal

        28       advice, and the legal advice, is privileged.  We don't seek

        29       to maintain privilege over media relations and over

        30       whatever else, stakeholder relations, and the like, that

        31       might be undertaken under the general banner of Project

        32       Rose.  So we are not approaching it as a mechanism to dress

        33       up a claim for legal professional privilege.  We see the

        34       issue quite separately from Project Rose.  We want to look

        35       at the communications and ensure that there is a proper

        36       basis for claims.  So we are not being caught up in the

        37       rubric of Project Rose as a general mechanism.  I can

        38       assure the Commission of that.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I accept that, from your point of

        41       view.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   And what we press for is all the documents that

        44       are encompassed in the words "legal review", either "our

        45       own legal review", or "subsequent legal review", which we

        46       say was the subject of an explicit waiver when those

        47       statements were made to DFAT in March of 2004 - so the
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         1       advice itself and the documents upon which it was based,

         2       because that, in our respectful submission, is what it is

         3       that has been explicitly waived.  In the meantime, I will

         4       press on and get as close as I can to finishing

         5       Mr Hargreaves by 4.30.

         6

         7       Q.   Could we go to page 0229, Mr Hargreaves, of this

         8       document, the PowerPoint presentation.  It is the

         9       third-last page.

        10       A.   Yes, sir.

        11

        12       Q.   "Issues", "Focus - Inland Trucking Arrangements".  The

        13       first dot point is:

        14

        15            . Questions regarding working relationship

        16            between AWB, Alia, and Grains Board of Iraq

        17            (IGB) and Iraqi State Company For Water

        18            Transport (ISCWT).

        19

        20       And two subsequent dot points:

        21

        22            . Concern over close collaboration on

        23            issues such as gist charge of vessels

        24            . Correspondence causing confusion due to

        25            poor translations

        26

        27       Had you seen such correspondence?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   Was this correspondence documentation from the IGB or

        31       the ISCWT chasing inland transportation fees?

        32       A.   It was - I hope I am answering the question.  They

        33       were documents that were found by the investigators when

        34       they visited AWB that caused them some interest.  I am just

        35       trying to recall.  I think, for example - I think they were

        36       characterised by, for example, the ISCWT saying something

        37       to the effect of a vessel is due in on such and such a date

        38       and trucking fees need to be remitted.

        39

        40       Q.   You didn't produce any samples of that correspondence

        41       to DFAT in March of 2004?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   2004 or 2005?

        45

        46       THE WITNESS:   Sorry, 2005.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Sorry, my apologies, 2005.  Your answer is

         2       still "no", isn't it?

         3       A.   That's correct.

         4

         5       Q.   Moving on through your statement, can I bring you

         6       to June of 2005 --

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am sorry, just before you leave that,

         9       could you go back to the preceding page to this one?

        10

        11       Q.   You will see the fifth-last dot point - how does one

        12       read this?  There is:

        13

        14            Questioning also sought to establish...

        15

        16       This is questioning by the IIC, I take it, is it?

        17       A.   Yes, sir.

        18

        19       Q.   Then there are some dot points which are not in bold

        20       and some which are in bold.  Are some of these answers to

        21       questions, or what?

        22       A.   In some cases.  In other cases I think they are

        23       stand-alone statements.

        24

        25       Q.   The fifth-last point says:

        26

        27            It was no secret the Iraqis were paying for

        28            inland trucking - it was stated on the

        29            contracts.

        30

        31       Which contracts are you referring to?

        32       A.   I would have been referring to the contracts between

        33       AWB and the IGB.  I would agree it is not well --

        34

        35       Q.   But it wasn't the Iraqis who were paying for inland

        36       trucking according to AWB - it was AWB who were paying for

        37       it.  What's more, it was paying it to a Jordanian company.

        38       So what does that dot point mean?

        39       A.   I think it was meant to say the money through the

        40       escrow account, but I agree, it is confusing.

        41

        42       Q.   Well, what did you intend to convey by it?

        43       A.   That AWB were paying for this.  I agree, it is not

        44       well written.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   Q.   And the next line, Mr Hargreaves:

         2

         3            UN contractors Contechna were inspecting

         4            the port operation including the discharge

         5            into Alia trucks.

         6

         7       From where did you get the information that the wheat was

         8       being discharged into Alia trucks?

         9       A.   I think this came out of Michael Long's evidence to

        10       the investigators.  That's my recollection.

        11

        12       Q.   So discharge into Alia trucks is sourced to Mr Long,

        13       is it?

        14       A.   I can't be sure, but I think so.

        15

        16       Q.   I had taken you to June of 2005.

        17       A.   Is this a reference to my statement?

        18

        19       Q.   Yes, at page 10 of your statement.

        20       A.   Yes.  I have got that.

        21

        22       Q.   Did you indicate to the Australian Embassy in

        23       Washington at some time between 20 April and 15 June that

        24       AWB wished to engage a prominent firm of Washington

        25       consultants?

        26       A.   I am sorry, could you repeat that, please?  I was

        27       having trouble finding the page.

        28

        29       Q.   Did you indicate to the Australian Embassy in

        30       Washington at some time between 20 April and 15 June that

        31       AWB wished to engage a prominent firm of Washington

        32       consultants?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   They were a firm that you understood to be known to

        36       the embassy and to be respected by it?

        37       A.   That's correct.

        38

        39       Q.   Did you speak with Mr Baxter on that topic?

        40       A.   I'm not sure that I spoke to Mr Baxter.

        41

        42       Q.   I wonder if we could bring up, please, a statement of

        43       Anastasia Carayanides, which is presently a confidential

        44       exhibit.  I will now tender it as a public exhibit,

        45       Mr Commissioner.  It is DFT.0020.0528 through to and

        46       inclusive of 0542.  It is dated 20 March 2006.

        47
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         1       EXHIBIT #700 STATEMENT OF ANASTASIA CARAYANIDES,

         2       BARCODED DFT.0020.0528-0542

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring it up at DFT.0020.0533.

         5       You met with the deponent of this statutory declaration in

         6       the ordinary course of your work for AWB, did you not?

         7       A.   Are you referring to Ms Carayanides?

         8

         9       Q.   Yes.

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   I am just waiting for it to come up.  In paragraph 29

        13       Ms Carayanides deals with a meeting on 15 June 2005.  She

        14       is speaking of a meeting which took place between

        15       Peter Baxter, the embassy's charge d'affaires, Ms Freeman,

        16       herself and yourself, you being the only representative of

        17       AWB at the meeting.

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Is this the meeting that you attended and that you

        21       refer to in paragraph 42 of your statement.  She says it

        22       was a meeting held on 15 June 2005, and you say that on

        23       11 June 2005 you flew to Washington to meet with Stanley

        24       McDermott.  You say the purpose of your visit was to update

        25       the embassy staff on the IIC progress and to appoint

        26       advisers in the US to assist AWB's media profile?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   So we're speaking of the same meeting?

        30       A.   Yes, yes, sir.

        31

        32       Q.   Have you read paragraphs 29, 30 and 31?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   If we go over the page, she goes on:

        36

        37            Mr Baxter told Mr Hargreaves that he had

        38            spoken with the Consultants, and then said

        39            words to the following effect:  "They are a

        40            top class firm with an excellent

        41            reputation.  Before they take you on they

        42            want to be absolutely sure that AWB had not

        43            engaged in any kickbacks or wrong doing

        44            under the Oil for Food Programme.  I want

        45            AWB's assurance that it has not been

        46            involved in any kickbacks or wrongdoing,

        47            and that it is being completely up front
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         1            with us and not hiding anything.

         2

         3       Did Mr Baxter say words to that effect to you?

         4       A.   I think he did.

         5

         6       Q.   And you replied as set out in paragraph 33, or words

         7       to that effect:

         8

         9            I can assure you that AWB has not been

        10            involved in any illicit payments to the

        11            Iraqi regime or breaches of sanctions.  AWB

        12            has conducted an internal audit and an

        13            independent legal review by a law firm, and

        14            both had found no wrongdoing.

        15

        16       Did you say words to that effect?

        17       A.   I don't know about - I wouldn't have been talking

        18       about an audit.  I would have mentioned, again, the review

        19       that we've been - you asked me about before.

        20

        21       Q.   And Ms Carayanides has you speaking of two inquiries,

        22       one she calls an internal audit, and another one, an

        23       independent legal review by a law firm, and both found no

        24       wrongdoing.  She is speaking of two inquiries.

        25       A.   Mmm.

        26

        27       Q.   Might you have said words to that effect?

        28       A.   No, I would be talking about the one review.

        29

        30       Q.   The legal review that's referred to in the document

        31       of March 2005?

        32       A.   Yes, sir.

        33

        34       Q.   Mr Baxter said words to the following effect:

        35

        36            This is extremely important.  The Embassy

        37            is only talking with AWB on the basis that

        38            it is being up front.

        39

        40       Did Mr Baxter say words to that effect?

        41       A.   I don't remember, I am sorry.

        42

        43       Q.   Do you remember Mr Baxter making the point with you

        44       that the embassy was only prepared to deal with AWB on the

        45       basis that AWB, (a), had not breached sanctions and, (b),

        46       was being truthful and frank - I am speaking as a matter of

        47       substance?
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         1       A.   He certainly wanted the company to be upfront with

         2       him, yes.

         3

         4       Q.   And might you have said words to the effect:

         5

         6            AWB has done nothing wrong.  It has not

         7            been involved in breaking sanctions.  All

         8            of AWB's contracts were approved by the UN.

         9            No-one in AWB is aware of paying kickbacks

        10            to Iraq.

        11

        12       A.   I don't know whether they are my words.  I would

        13       have - I can imagine myself giving him an assurance, based

        14       on the review.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Based on the review what?

        17       A.   The internal review.

        18

        19       Q.   Based on that, what?

        20       A.   That there had been no evidence of illicit payments,

        21       no evidence of payments back to any AWB employees, and no

        22       breach of the sanctions.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Q.   This statement that Ms Carayanides has at

        25       paragraph 35 says - and you may well have been saying this

        26       as an outcome of the review; you may have been describing

        27       the review:

        28

        29            AWB has done nothing wrong.  It has not

        30            been involved in breaking sanctions.  All

        31            of AWB's contracts were approved by the UN.

        32

        33       Was that all material that you had learnt as a result of

        34       this review?

        35       A.   Well, that was my understanding at the time.

        36

        37       Q.   And "No-one in AWB is aware of paying kickbacks to

        38       Iraq" - is that material you had learnt as a result of this

        39       review?

        40       A.   That was my understanding.

        41

        42       Q.   Then Ms Carayanides goes on:

        43

        44            Mr Baxter then asked for AWB's assessment

        45            of where things were with the Volcker

        46            Inquiry.

        47
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         1       And you will recall this is June of 2005:

         2

         3            Mr Hargreaves replied in words to the

         4            following effect:  "There seems to be some

         5            concern in the IIC that Alia was a front

         6            company and was not providing trucking

         7            services.  This is not true."

         8

         9       Might you have said words to that effect?

        10       A.   I believe I would have.

        11

        12       Q.   Again, were you expanding on what you had learnt from

        13       the inquiry?

        14       A.   That was my - that was the state of my knowledge at

        15       the time, yes.

        16

        17       Q.   The independent legal review?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Then she continues in paragraph 38 saying that you

        21       continued in words to the following effect:

        22

        23            Alia is a Jordanian trucking company that

        24            provided real trucking services to AWB in

        25            Iraq.  Alia unloaded ships at Umm Qasr

        26            directly on to its trucks and delivered the

        27            wheat throughout the country.  As far as

        28            AWB knew Alia was not a front company.  AWB

        29            was not aware of Alia channeling money to

        30            Iraq.

        31

        32       Might you have said words to that effect?

        33       A.   Can I just read it, please?

        34

        35       Q.   Yes.

        36       A.   That was the state of my knowledge, yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Again, sourced to the independent legal review?

        39       A.   Well, and also - just - you know, ongoing briefings by

        40       the legal team, but sourced back to that, yes, sir.

        41

        42       Q.   By the legal team that were retained and fell under

        43       the umbrella of Project Rose?

        44       A.   Yes, sir.

        45

        46       Q.   Ms Carayanides says that she asked whether there were

        47       alternative trucking companies - this is at page 0535 - AWB
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         1       could have used at the time, and she attributes words to

         2       the following effect to you:

         3

         4            I don't think so - because Alia was the

         5            only company that could physically off load

         6            from the ship to the truck.  This was

         7            supervised by UN inspectors.

         8

         9       Might you have said words to that effect?

        10       A.   No, I don't believe I would have.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Why not?

        13       A.   Well, sir, I don't believe I would have known whether

        14       another company could offload from the ship.  The advice

        15       I had from IS&M was that there was no other company that

        16       could undertake the work.

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Isn't that the substance of what she has

        19       you saying here?

        20       A.   I am sorry, I am not trying to be pedantic.  I am just

        21       trying to fit it with my understanding.

        22

        23       Q.   I am not holding you to a word here or there.  It is

        24       really the substance or the effect of what you said.

        25       I don't think anybody could be expected, even in the most

        26       dramatic of circumstances, to remember everything they said

        27       in a long conversation six years ago, and more so if it

        28       was - I am sorry, not six years ago.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Nine months.

        31

        32       THE WITNESS:   Perhaps it feels like six years.

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   Q.  It feels more than six years to me,

        35       Mr Hargreaves.  Nine months ago.  It is the substance that

        36       I am interested in.  I don't think Ms Carayanides is

        37       meaning to imply any more than the substance, because she

        38       does use the words "in words to the following effect"?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   The substance of paragraph 39 would accord with the

        42       substance of your knowledge at the time, would it not?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   It is likely that you might have said that during the

        46       course of this conversation?

        47       A.   All I can say is that it fits with my knowledge at the
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         1       time.

         2

         3       Q.   In paragraph 40 Ms Carayanides says that she thought

         4       it was Ms Freeman who had asked whether any other companies

         5       or countries used Alia, and the substance of your reply

         6       was:

         7

         8            I'm not sure, but I think Vietnam and

         9            companies from a few other countries used

        10            Alia for humanitarian assistance.

        11

        12       And that you would look into it.  Might you have said words

        13       to that effect?

        14       A.   I certainly had an awareness that other companies had

        15       used Alia.

        16

        17       Q.   In the next paragraph Ms Carayanides says that she

        18       can't remember who asked about allegations of overpricing

        19       and she says you replied to the effect:

        20

        21            I am not aware of overpricing.  The price

        22            reflected the costs of providing trucking

        23            services, which involved costs of

        24            demurrage, insurance, transport throughout

        25            the country, and so on.  AWB has already

        26            made that clear.

        27

        28       Is it likely you had said words to that effect or of that

        29       substance in the course of this conversation?

        30       A.   I can't remember any of this conversation in these

        31       paragraphs that we are mentioning, Mr Agius.

        32

        33       Q.   Well, does that accord with your state of knowledge at

        34       the time?  AWB had already made the substance of what

        35       I read to you clear, had it not?

        36       A.   Well, it was certainly the state of my knowledge at

        37       the time.

        38

        39       Q.   But you can't recall whether or not you said it?

        40       A.   No, I can't.

        41

        42       Q.   Would you think about the next paragraph,

        43       Mr Hargreaves?  Ms Carayanides said "it would be helpful to

        44       AWB to get information in writing or publicly available

        45       testimonial from Alia to the effect that it was providing a

        46       legitimate service to a number of companies including AWB".

        47       She reports you saying that you would look into it?
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         1       A.   I think I recall her advising me that we should be

         2       getting more information about other companies that Alia

         3       had provided a service to, and I said I would have a look

         4       at it.

         5

         6       Q.   Did she include within that a suggestion that you

         7       should perhaps get a statement from Alia saying, "Yes, we

         8       did this - we provided this legitimate trucking service for

         9       AWB"?

        10       A.   I don't recall her suggesting that.

        11

        12       Q.   Mr Hargreaves, why is it that AWB never obtained a

        13       statement from Alia to the effect that it was providing a

        14       legitimate service in trucking the wheat within Iraq?

        15       A.   I don't know, sir.

        16

        17       Q.   Did anybody ever think to do it - under the

        18       Oil-for-Food Program, when this was all being examined by

        19       the IIC?  Can you recall anybody at AWB, up to this point

        20       in time - I think we are still in the middle of 2005 -

        21       obtaining a statement or attempting to obtain a statement

        22       from Alia?

        23       A.   Not that I recall.

        24

        25       Q.   At the time did you think it was strange that nobody

        26       at AWB, even up until the time of the IIC investigators'

        27       visit to Australia, had attempted to obtain a statement

        28       from Alia to corroborate the fact or support AWB's position

        29       that Alia had in fact provided a trucking service?

        30       A.   I think there might - no, I am sorry, I am

        31       speculating.  No, I don't think there was any discussion of

        32       that kind.

        33

        34       Q.   Then, going on, Ms Carayanides speaks of Ms Freeman

        35       mentioning the article published concerning the US Wheat

        36       Associates allegations, and referred to the fact that US

        37       wheat contracts to Afghanistan were priced comparably to

        38       AWB wheat contracts to Iraq.  Do you recall a statement

        39       being made to that effect?

        40       A.   No, I don't.  I'm aware of the article, but I don't

        41       recall the discussion.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   How did you become aware of the

        44       article?

        45       A.   I think it was forwarded to me by one of the IS&M

        46       team, Commissioner.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you remember who that was?

         2       A.   I think it was Darryl Hockey.

         3

         4       Q.   Ms Carayanides goes on that an embassy officer - and

         5       she can't remember who - asked why you thought the IIC had

         6       focused on AWB.  It is said that you replied to the

         7       following effect:

         8

         9            The IIC seems to think Alia was a front

        10            company channelling money to Iraq.  We have

        11            no knowledge of that.  I also think one of

        12            the investigators on IIC may have felt he

        13            did not get sufficient access to AWB

        14            documents in Australia and was disgruntled

        15            or suspicious with AWB.  AWB has cooperated

        16            with the IIC and will continue to do so.

        17

        18       Did you say words to that effect?

        19       A.   I can't imagine me having any reason to - could we go

        20       back to the enlargement, sorry?  I have lost my place

        21       there.

        22

        23       Q.   It is the last paragraph on the page, paragraph 44.

        24       A.   The reference to the investigator, I don't believe

        25       I would have said that.

        26

        27       Q.   Was it your view at the time --

        28       A.   No.

        29

        30       Q.   -- that the IIC was suspicious because somebody

        31       thought they didn't get sufficient access to documents?

        32       A    That wasn't my view at the time - my state of

        33       knowledge

        34

        35       Q.   Was it your state of mind that the IIC seemed to think

        36       that Alia was a front company channelling money to Iraq?

        37       A.   Sorry, could you ask that question again?

        38

        39       Q.   Was it your view that the IIC seem to think that Alia

        40       was a front company, and that it channelled money to Iraq?

        41       A.   Well, it was my - my state of mind was that the IIC

        42       did seem to think that money was flowing from Alia to Iraq.

        43       I don't know whether I would have characterised it as a

        44       front company.

        45

        46       Q.   Did you say that AWB had no knowledge of that?

        47       A.   I - my belief is that I would have said that we found
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         1       no evidence of it.  I would have gone back to the review.

         2

         3       Q.   Was it your view as at June 2005 that AWB had no

         4       knowledge that Alia was channelling money to Iraq?

         5       A.   I believe so, yes.

         6

         7       Q.   And what was the source of that view?

         8       A.   It would have been just my state of knowledge working

         9       within the Rose team, I think.

        10

        11       Q.   Information provided to you by the lawyers associated

        12       with Project Rose?

        13       A.   I think so.

        14

        15       Q.   Information which it seems you felt free to share with

        16       the DFAT officers in Washington?

        17       A.   On the review, do you mean?  Do you mean about the

        18       review, I am sorry?

        19

        20       Q.   Yes.

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Then over the page, at the top of the page:

        24

        25            I asked whether AWB was in contact with

        26            Canberra on all of that and keeping

        27            Canberra informed of their assessment of

        28            IIC.

        29

        30       Mr Carayanides records the substance of you saying that AWB

        31       was doing this and keeping people in DFAT in the loop in

        32       the same way that you were talking to the embassy staff in

        33       Washington?

        34       A.   I don't remember that conversation, I am sorry.

        35

        36       Q.   You don't remember one way or the other?

        37       A.   No.

        38

        39       Q.   Was it your belief that AWB was attempting to keep

        40       DFAT in the loop, as it were, to keep DFAT in Canberra up

        41       to speed on what AWB was doing in response to the Volcker

        42       Inquiry?

        43       A.   I would believe so.  I think by June there had been a

        44       meeting with government to talk about what was happening.

        45

        46       Q.   And which you were aware of?

        47       A.   I was aware that the meetings were happening, yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   Then Ms Carayanides moves on to 16 June 2005.  This is

         3       a meeting attended by yourself, Mr Baxter, Ms Freeman,

         4       herself, and representatives of the consultants.  Do you

         5       recollect meeting with the consultants and embassy staff on

         6       16 June, or thereabouts?

         7       A.   I think I did.  I think I did.

         8

         9       Q.   Then she records the conversation which you will see

        10       in paragraphs 49 onwards.  Again, you should read this only

        11       as the substance of the conversation, Mr Hargreaves.

        12       I won't hold you to a word.  She has the consultants

        13       saying:

        14

        15            The firm wants very clear assurances that

        16            AWB has not been involved in sanctions

        17            violations.

        18

        19       And Mr Baxter adding:

        20

        21            It is very important for both the

        22            Consultants and the Embassy that AWB is

        23            up front and honest about its dealings.

        24

        25       And your response:

        26

        27            AWB appreciates the Embassy's assistance,

        28            and is very pleased to be working with the

        29            Consultants.  AWB has not done anything

        30            wrong or improper.  It has not been paying

        31            bribes to the Iraqi regime.

        32

        33       Do you recollect conversation to that effect?

        34       A.   No, I don't.

        35

        36       Q.   Do you say that it may have happened and you can't

        37       recall, or do you say that, to the best of your

        38       recollection, there was no such conversation?

        39       A.   I just can't recall it, I am sorry.

        40

        41       Q.   Ms Carayanides goes on to say that one of the

        42       consultants said words to the effect:

        43

        44            I want to emphasise that the only basis on

        45            which we --

        46

        47       It is typed as "is", but I will read it as "are" --



            .30/3/06 (57)              5761     P G HARGREAVES (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2            are prepared to be engaged with AWB is that

         3            AWB has given these assurances that it was

         4            not involved in any way with breaking

         5            sanctions or paying kickbacks.

         6

         7       And your response:

         8

         9            I can assure you that that is the basis of

        10            AWB's engaging the Consultants and with the

        11            Embassy.

        12

        13       Do you recall a conversation to that effect?

        14       A.   No, I can't, I am sorry.

        15

        16       Q.   Do you remember that whilst you were in Washington you

        17       did have a meeting with a representative of the

        18       consultants?

        19       A.   Yes, I did.

        20

        21       Q.   And do you remember generally that the consultants

        22       wanted to be assured that AWB had not done anything wrong

        23       or improper?

        24       A.   They wanted - they were looking - they wanted a

        25       briefing from us, and I gave them - I attended a meeting

        26       between myself and Stanley McDermott of Piper Rudnick, and

        27       gave the Cohen group a briefing on our position in relation

        28       to Iraq.

        29

        30       Q.   Do you recall that the consultants were insistent on

        31       having an undertaking from you, as it were, that AWB had

        32       not done anything wrong or improper?

        33       A.   They wanted an assurance that we hadn't been engaged

        34       in breaching sanctions.

        35

        36       Q.   And you gave them that assurance?

        37       A.   Well, I would have to go to the briefing that they had

        38       with Stanley McDermott.  To the best - I gave them an

        39       assurance to the best of my knowledge based on the legal

        40       review.

        41

        42       Q.   Did you tell them the same things that you told DFAT

        43       in March?

        44       A.   I don't recall, I am sorry.

        45

        46       Q.   Did you have a similar slide show or PowerPoint

        47       presentation to show these consultants?
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         1       A.   No, I didn't.  It was verbal.

         2

         3       Q.   And if you did give them a briefing, as you said you

         4       did, is it not likely that you would have conveyed the same

         5       message to the consultants that you had conveyed to embassy

         6       staff and to DFAT?

         7       A.   I would have given the same assurance that had been

         8       based on the legal review.

         9

        10       Q.   Ms Carayanides then goes on to speak of another

        11       meeting that she said occurred between 16 June

        12       and September 2005, and summarising what she said, her

        13       impression was that it occurred in the second half of June

        14       2005, it might have been later; that you requested the

        15       meeting on short notice; and that you were accompanied by

        16       Stanley McDermott of Piper Rudnick Grey and Cary, who she

        17       understood to be AWB's New York lawyers.  Do you recall

        18       such a meeting?

        19       A.   I remember having a meeting with her with McDermott.

        20

        21       Q.   And do you remember at that meeting saying that you

        22       had been following up on some of the ideas that had been

        23       discussed earlier and telling her that you had learnt that

        24       Alia had been used by a number of other companies, and you

        25       named five or six of them?

        26       A.   Well, I was aware that other companies - so I may have

        27       provided her with that information.

        28

        29       Q.   Do you generally recall that they were Vietnamese,

        30       Thai and Syrian companies?

        31       A.   I don't recall Syria, but I do recall some Vietnamese

        32       and Thai companies.

        33

        34       Q.   Then in paragraph 61 Ms Carayanides says that you said

        35       words to the following effect, and again it is the

        36       substance that we are interested in, Mr Hargreaves:

        37

        38            I have also learnt that Alia had asked for

        39            an increase in the trucking fees of 10% in

        40            2000 which AWB had agreed to pay.  This

        41            increased progressively to 35-45% of the

        42            trucking fees by the end of the Oil for

        43            Food Programme.  Alia is a Jordanian

        44            company.  AWB had paid Alia in Jordan.  AWB

        45            did not pay any money to Iraq.

        46

        47       Do you remember saying words to that effect?



            .30/3/06 (57)              5763     P G HARGREAVES (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       A.   I remember she asked about how the fees - how the

         2       trucking was paid.  McDermott, I think, gave her an

         3       explanation of how the fees had been introduced and paid,

         4       and did mention to her the 10 per cent uplift.

         5

         6       Q.   Did you have knowledge of this 10 per cent uplift in

         7       fees in 2000?

         8       A.   Not in 2000, no.

         9

        10       Q.   Did you have knowledge that it had occurred in the

        11       year 2000 - that is, after-acquired knowledge?

        12       A.   Acquired knowledge.  I did know that an uplift had

        13       occurred around about that time.

        14

        15       Q.   And you had learnt that the uplift was 10 per cent?

        16       A.   That's correct.

        17

        18       Q.   And you had learnt that AWB had agreed to pay it?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Had you passed that information on to Mr McDermott?

        22       A.   Well, Mr McDermott was part of the team that was doing

        23       the review.  Mr McDermott knew more about it, probably,

        24       than I did.

        25

        26       Q.   So this was information, then, that we can source to

        27       the legal review that was being undertaken by Project Rose?

        28       A.   I don't know whether - where Mr McDermott got his

        29       knowledge.

        30

        31       Q.   Well, where did you get yours?

        32       A.   I was briefed by Mr Quennell.

        33

        34       Q.   And did your knowledge appear to coincide with

        35       Mr McDermott, when you heard him speak?

        36       A.   Looking at that paragraph there, it seems to reflect

        37       what I was told.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Paragraph 61?

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Then Ms Carayanides goes on that she

        43       recalls responding in words to the effect:

        44

        45            This sounds like a grey area to me.  It

        46            seems to me to turn on what was a

        47            reasonable price to pay for the trucking
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         1            services at the time.  Was the amount paid

         2            to Alia for trucking services reasonable?

         3

         4       Do you recall an inquiry to that effect?

         5       A.   No, I don't, I'm sorry.

         6

         7       Q.   Do you recall a response to the effect, "Yes", "it was

         8       reasonable, because it reflected the costs of insurance and

         9       transportation throughout the country in difficult

        10       circumstances; Alia was providing a real service, and AWB

        11       was paying for that service; it was the only trucking

        12       company that was reliable and that AWB could use to offload

        13       wheat into trucks at Umm Qasr; no-one in AWB knew of any

        14       money being channelled to the Iraq regime through Alia; AWB

        15       had conducted an independent legal review which hadn't

        16       turned up any wrong doing" - do you remember conversation

        17       to that effect?

        18       A.   Can I just read the paragraph, please?  I can't

        19       remember whether I said that.  I can only go back to my

        20       state of knowledge at the time, which was that AWB were -

        21       Alia were providing a genuine service, that the price did

        22       increase over that time, and the advice I had was that the

        23       price wasn't all that different from the cost of doing

        24       something in reverse in Australia.

        25

        26       Q.   Do you recall Ms Carayanides saying words to the

        27       effect that it was important for AWB to be able to justify

        28       in the US public arena the fees charged and paid, and that

        29       if she were in AWB's shoes she would get all this in

        30       writing from Alia as a testimonial to be used publicly to

        31       refute allegations?

        32       A.   I don't recall her saying that.  I do recall her

        33       giving advice that it would be good to get testimonials

        34       from other companies that had used Alia.

        35

        36       Q.   Might she have said that you should get a testimonial

        37       from Alia?

        38       A.   She might have.  I don't recall her saying that.

        39

        40       Q.   It would have been pretty good advice, would it not,

        41       if one was available?

        42       A.   I am sorry?

        43

        44       Q.   It would have been pretty good advice?

        45       A.   Yes.  I can't remember her giving it, though.

        46

        47       Q.   And you can't remember whether anybody attempted to
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         1       get such a testimonial?

         2       A.   Not at this time, no.

         3

         4       Q.   We have a document which is exhibit 663.  Could we

         5       bring up, please, AWB.0359.0092.  This is a document about

         6       which Dr Fuller gave some evidence.  It was a document

         7       about which I asked Dr Fuller some questions when he gave

         8       evidence earlier this week.

         9       A.   Could I have a copy of it, please?  Yes, sir.

        10

        11       Q.   I asked Dr Fuller about the circumstances of how it

        12       came about that that memo had been drawn up - this is at

        13       page 5262, line 16.  In relation to the information,

        14       I said:

        15

        16            Q.  ...were you given information by

        17            somebody else?  Did you compose it from

        18            your own resources?  Was it workshopped

        19            before it was settled?

        20            A.   No, I didn't draw this up.  This would

        21            have been drawn up by the Project Rose

        22            group.

        23            Q.   In your name?

        24            A.   In my name, yes.

        25            Q.   And based upon information that you

        26            held?

        27            A.   This would have been information that

        28            the Project Rose group had, and it would

        29            have been public messaging that had been

        30            prepared and also information to the board

        31            that had been prepared, and this was then

        32            put into a form which could be sent out,

        33            and it was - I think it was sent out the

        34            day before the Volcker Report was published

        35

        36       Did you have a hand in drafting or settling that document,

        37       Mr Hargreaves?

        38       A.   Yes, I did.

        39

        40       Q.   Did you in fact draft it?

        41       A.   I was on leave at the time.  I think it was drafted by

        42       one of the legal advisers.

        43

        44       Q.   And did you contribute to it?

        45       A.   I may have.  I don't recall.

        46

        47       Q.   When you said, "Yes, I did", what did you have in mind
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         1       that you had done in relation to this document?

         2       A.   Well, I am sure that Richard had asked for a report,

         3       and I asked for one to be prepared.

         4

         5       Q.   Did you have any hand in its construction, any input

         6       into its content?

         7       A.   I don't remember, I'm sorry.

         8

         9       Q.   Could I ask you to turn to the second page, 0148?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   You will see there is a paragraph which has four dot

        13       points commencing "The following points should also be

        14       noted".  The second-last dot point reads:

        15

        16            . Payment of trucking fees at the direction

        17            of the IGB to enable the distribution of

        18            the wheat to the Iraqi people was in fact

        19            consistent with Security Council Resolution

        20            661 (and later resolutions), which

        21            specifically authorized payments in

        22            humanitarian circumstances; and

        23            . That was the view the Australian

        24            Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade

        25            ("DFAT") itself expressed to AWB

        26            in November 2000.

        27

        28       Do you know what the source of those two dot points was?

        29       A.   No, I don't recall, I'm sorry.

        30

        31       Q.   Nobody from AWB has provided a statement or given any

        32       evidence to that effect, and neither have we had any

        33       statement or evidence to that effect from the Department of

        34       Foreign Affairs and Trade.  Is that information that you

        35       were privy to whilst you were appointed to Project Rose,

        36       that payment of trucking fees at the direction of IGB to

        37       enable the distribution of the wheat to the Iraqi people

        38       was consistent with the Security Council Resolution 661,

        39       and that that was the view of the Department of Foreign

        40       Affairs expressed by it to AWB in November 2000?

        41       A.   I will just read the dot points, I am sorry.  I think

        42       I recall a piece of advice provided by DFAT to a proposal

        43       that AWB had at one stage to - I can't remember whether the

        44       words were to set up a trust fund, or some other device at

        45       the time to provide an incentive to speed unloading.

        46       I think there was mention of something in there about what

        47       was allowed including distribution.
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         1

         2       Q.   Was that a proposal by AWB to approach Jordanian

         3       trucking companies?

         4       A.   No, it was a different matter, sir.

         5

         6       Q.   You are aware of the one I am speaking of?

         7       A.   Yes, I am.

         8

         9       Q.   The letter from Mr Stott to DFAT and the reply from

        10       Ms Drake-Brockman of November 2000?

        11       A.   Yes, yes, I know the one you are referring to.

        12

        13       Q.   You are speaking of a different proposition?

        14       A.   I think - yes, I am.

        15

        16       Q.   Was it an earlier one that related to demurrage?

        17       A.   I think it might have been earlier.

        18

        19       Q.   And did it relate to demurrage?

        20       A.   I don't recall, I'm sorry.

        21

        22       Q.   And possible renegotiation of contract terms?

        23       A.   That doesn't ring a bell, I'm sorry.

        24

        25       Q.   Otherwise you can't help us with those two dot points?

        26       A.   I will just read it again, if you don't mind.  No,

        27       that's the only thing I can think of there, sir.

        28

        29       Q.   Mr Hargreaves, had you seen either of these

        30       documents - could we bring up, please, exhibit 664,

        31       AWB.0213.0049?

        32       A.   Can you go back up to the top, please?  I don't recall

        33       seeing this document, I'm sorry.

        34

        35       Q.   It is dated 19 October 2004?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   It indicates that the Iraqi trade ministry has about

        39       49 per cent of Alia capital.  Did you ever become aware

        40       that AWB had received such a communication from Alia?

        41       A.   I haven't seen this communication before, I'm sorry.

        42

        43       Q.   So you weren't aware of the content of it?

        44       A.   No, not this one - no, not this.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   No, but did you become aware of

        47       what's in there, or the substance of it?
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         1       A.   Oh, I'm sorry.  I was aware of a part ownership in

         2       Alia by the ministry of - well, a department.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Q.   An Iraqi department?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   When did you become aware of that?

         8       A.   Shortly after my appointment to Rose, I was told that

         9       there was a link and a possible - a part ownership.

        10

        11       Q.   Who told you that?

        12       A.   It would have been Jim Cooper or Chris Quennell.

        13

        14       Q.   It doesn't seem that you ever passed that on to DFAT?

        15       A.   I'm sorry?

        16

        17       Q.   It doesn't seem that you ever passed that on to DFAT;

        18       is that right?  You never told anybody at the Department of

        19       Foreign Affairs and Trade that AWB was aware of any

        20       possible link between an Iraqi entity and Alia?

        21       A.   No, I didn't.

        22

        23       Q.   In fact, you told DFAT officers quite the opposite,

        24       didn't you?

        25

        26       MR CLELLAND:   Can I ask what Mr Agius means by telling

        27       DFAT officers "quite the opposite"?

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You gave DFAT officers to believe that AWB

        30       was not aware of any connection between the Iraqis and the

        31       AWB, didn't you?

        32       A.   When, sorry?

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Between the Iraqis and Alia.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Between the Iraqis and Alia?

        37       A.   When, sir?

        38

        39       Q.   Well, did you ever do it?

        40

        41       MR CLELLAND:   Can the specific statement that formed the

        42       basis for that question be put to the witness, please?

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will allow the question.

        45

        46       MR CLELLAND:   Can I press the objection, Commissioner?

        47       That's just unfair, the question in that form.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   He has now been asked did he ever do

         3       it.

         4

         5       MR CLELLAND:   It was being put to him --

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   I realise that.  He didn't answer it.

         8

         9       MR CLELLAND:   -- that he had "told DFAT officers quite the

        10       opposite".  If there is evidence to support that, then the

        11       witness should have an opportunity to respond to it.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        14

        15       MR CLELLAND:   The witness, just while I am on my feet, has

        16       been asked for the last half an hour about a series of

        17       documents none of which were included in a folder of

        18       documents he was recently provided where he was asked to

        19       address them, as he did, as fully as he could in his

        20       statement, and he has come along here today and the only

        21       documents that have been put to him are documents that

        22       weren't in that folder.  That's objectionable, and this

        23       question is objectionable.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why is that objectionable?

        26

        27       MR CLELLAND:   If the purpose of providing those documents

        28       is to assist the witness so that he can prepare himself to

        29       give evidence, so that he can turn his mind to the matters,

        30       reflect on them, give them consideration, it seems to us,

        31       with respect, to be fairly pointless to give him documents

        32       he is not asked about and not give him documents that he is

        33       then asked about in this forum.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   The document, singular, upon which I have been

        38       examining the witness is a statement which was tendered and

        39       made available to all the parties as a confidential

        40       exhibit.

        41

        42       MR CLELLAND:   This witness has not received the notice

        43       then.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   More than a week ago.  It is counsel's duty to

        46       read documents that are tendered.

        47
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         1       MR CLELLAND:   This witness had not received the notice at

         2       that stage.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   The documents were tendered and were available

         5       to be examined.  We've had no notice to cross-examine this

         6       witness --

         7

         8       MR CLELLAND:   If that's the thinking behind the tactic of

         9       doing that, then it is flawed, Mr Agius.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   We have had no notice to cross-examine this

        12       witness and I was simply, as a matter of fairness, because

        13       we had no notice to cross-examining her, putting to him

        14       what she says was his conversation.

        15

        16       MR CLELLAND:   I will address my comment to you,

        17       Commissioner.  If that was the thinking behind it, it

        18       should have been brought to our attention directly so that

        19       this witness could consider it before he came here to give

        20       evidence.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  You go on, Mr Agius.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Hargreaves, did you ever tell any DFAT

        25       officer that Alia was not connected with the Iraqi regime?

        26       A.   I don't recall saying that.

        27

        28       Q.   Did you ever tell any DFAT officer that Alia was not

        29       channelling money to Iraq?

        30       A.   Well, I - based on my knowledge at the time, I would

        31       have said that we didn't - there was no evidence that we

        32       had that they were - that Alia were channelling money to

        33       Iraq.

        34

        35       Q.   Why didn't you ever tell any DFAT officer that AWB had

        36       information that Alia was part owned by an Iraqi entity?

        37       A.   Well, with hindsight, I should have.

        38

        39       Q.   But why didn't you?

        40       A.   It was something that AWB didn't come to a position

        41       on, in terms of what the company would say.  It should

        42       have.  It is information that was not handled well.

        43

        44       Q.   But from what I understand to be your evidence - and

        45       I am happy to be corrected - it was information that was

        46       provided to you shortly after you joined the Project Rose

        47       team in June of 2004; is that right?
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         1       A.   June/July of 2004.

         2

         3       Q.   And you had meetings with DFAT in March of 2005 in

         4       Canberra?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   And you had meetings with embassy officials in

         8       Washington in June of 2005?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   You were specifically asked questions about Alia?

        12       A.   Yes.  Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Indeed, you were aware that there was some concern at

        15       the IIC that Alia might have been a front company for the

        16       Iraqi regime?

        17       A.   I don't know whether I used the words "front company",

        18       but I knew that there was concern by the IIC that money was

        19       going from Alia to the regime.

        20

        21       Q.   I am not suggesting that "front company" are your

        22       words, but you had a concern that that was a matter that

        23       the IIC was interested in, whether or not Alia was a front

        24       company or a mechanism for the Iraqis to receive money?

        25       A.   No, that's not my - I was aware that there was a

        26       concern that they were passing money on.

        27

        28       Q.   That they were receiving money and passing it on?

        29       A.   Passing some money on.  I was aware that there was a

        30       concern within the IIC of that.

        31

        32       Q.   And did you not believe it relevant, in relation to

        33       that concern, that AWB had information that Alia was part

        34       owned by an Iraqi entity?

        35       A.   Well, as I said, it was information that the company

        36       didn't get its head around how it was going to present that

        37       information as a company.  I do recall, though, that in

        38       preparing briefing notes for Mr Lindberg for his

        39       presentation to government in June, I did include in that

        40       presentation speaking points to ensure that he did raise

        41       that with government.

        42

        43       Q.   You didn't raise it with the embassy staff in

        44       Washington?

        45       A.   No, I didn't.

        46

        47       Q.   Did you do that deliberately?  In other words, did you
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         1       refrain from raising that with the embassy staff in

         2       Washington deliberately?

         3       A.   I don't think so.  I can't account for why I didn't.

         4       As I said, it wasn't an issue that was handled well by the

         5       company.  It was --

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Hargreaves, in the

         8       presentation, the slide presentation, you gave DFAT, the

         9       fourth-last slide, I think, under the heading "Issues,

        10       "Focus - inland trucking arrangements", states:

        11

        12            Questioning seems designed to establish

        13            whether, through the use of Alia, AWB had

        14            wittingly or unwittingly paid money to the

        15            Government of Iraq in violation of the

        16            Security Council Resolutions 661 and 986.

        17

        18       And then you list some other matters that the questioning

        19       sought to establish?

        20       A.   Yes, sir.

        21

        22       Q.   Why didn't you, with that as the topic, indicate to

        23       government that AWB was aware that 49 per cent of Alia was

        24       owned by an Iraqi Government instrumentality?

        25       A.   Well, I don't know whether I was aware of that figure

        26       at the time, sir.  I knew there was a part ownership.  With

        27       hindsight, the company should have been --

        28

        29       Q.   This presentation was March 2005 --

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   -- and you told me that you learnt of this shortly

        33       after you joined Project Rose in June or July 2004?

        34       A.   I knew of a part ownership, yes.

        35

        36       MR CLELLAND:   Just on that point, Commissioner, can

        37       I refer you to the page of that presentation under the

        38       heading "AWB's Response", which was some six pages from the

        39       back - "AWB's Response", "AWB interviewees told the IIC",

        40       et cetera, and I just refer you to the third dot point.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        43

        44       MR CLELLAND:   It is the first and third dot points,

        45       Commissioner.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   My concern was a rather different one,
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         1       as to why government wasn't informed.

         2

         3       MR CLELLAND:   I understand that, Commissioner.  You

         4       referred to the presentation on 24 March.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

         7

         8       MR CLELLAND:   I am referring you to the first and third

         9       dot points which deal with the issue.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I see, yes.  Thank you.

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Could we bring up, please, the next page of

        14       that exhibit, AWB.0213.0050.  This is a letter from the

        15       Ministry of Transport of 23 May 2005 that was provided to

        16       the inquiry by AWB.  Were you aware of the existence of

        17       this letter?

        18       A.   Yes, sir.  I received a copy of this.

        19

        20       Q.   Did you become aware of it shortly after May of 2005,

        21       or shortly after the date that it bears?

        22       A.   It would have been around about the same time -

        23       perhaps a bit later in the month, but around that time.

        24

        25       Q.   And did you bring this letter to the attention of

        26       others within Project Rose?

        27       A.   I brought it to the attention of the legal team.

        28

        29       Q.   Well, was there any doubt in your mind by May of 2005,

        30       after the receipt of this letter, that 49 per cent of Alia

        31       was owned by an Iraqi instrumentality?

        32       A.   I recall the response of the legal team was that they

        33       wondered about the authenticity of it, but, as far as I was

        34       concerned, it indicated a substantial ownership.

        35

        36       Q.   Well, by 23 May 2005 it seems that AWB had a letter

        37       from Alia indicating that 49 per cent of its capital was

        38       owned by an Iraqi instrumentality --

        39       A.   And it was on that basis, sir, that I prepared talking

        40       points for Mr Lindberg to draw it to the government's

        41       attention.

        42

        43       Q.   So that by May of 2005 there wouldn't have been any

        44       doubt, would there, within AWB that Alia had been

        45       49 per cent owned by an Iraqi instrumentality?

        46       A.   Well, there was certainly an awareness within the Rose

        47       team at that point, and within the legal team.  I can't
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         1       speak on behalf of others in the company.

         2

         3       Q.   On your account, Mr Hargreaves, did it not make it

         4       more likely than not that if Alia was 49 per cent owned by

         5       the Iraqis it might have been funneling money to the

         6       Iraqis, even without the knowledge of AWB?

         7       A.   Well, we had no evidence of that, sir.  The advice

         8       I had was that we had no evidence of that.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius.  I see the time.  Perhaps we

        11       should stop very shortly.

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.

        14

        15       Q.   That wasn't my question, Mr Hargreaves.

        16       A.   I am sorry?

        17

        18       Q.   Did it not make it more likely, on your own account -

        19       that is, in your own mind - that if Alia was 49 per cent

        20       owned by the Iraqis it might have been funneling money to

        21       the Iraqis, even without AWB's knowledge?

        22       A.   Well, it was possible, but my state of mind was that

        23       we had no evidence of it, but it wasn't happening.

        24

        25       Q.   So these letters weren't evidence?

        26       A.   They weren't evidence to me that money was being

        27       passed back to the government, no, and I took advice.

        28

        29       Q.   Finally today, I just want to try to cover this a

        30       little further with you.  Could we bring up, please, what

        31       is annexure 9 to your statement - AWB.0332.0412.  Did you

        32       prepare this document?

        33       A.   Yes, I did.

        34

        35       Q.   What was the source of the information that you used

        36       to draft that portion we see under the heading "Meetings

        37       with Federal Government".  You say:

        38

        39            Chairman and MD met with

        40            . PM's office - senior Foreign Affairs

        41            Advisor.

        42

        43       What was your source of information for that?

        44       A.   It would have been a variety of sources - the program

        45       of meetings; I probably had some assistance from the

        46       government relations team, in terms of who the meetings

        47       were with; and, you know, that would be it.
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         1

         2       Q.   What about the next line:

         3

         4            John Anderson and his chief of staff.

         5

         6       A.   The same.

         7

         8       Q.   Well, might you have relied alone on what was the

         9       intended program?

        10       A.   I might have, yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Can you say today that you had confirmation that there

        13       was a meeting with Mr Anderson and his chief of staff?

        14       A.   No, I can't.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Perhaps that might be a convenient time to

        17       stop, Mr Commissioner.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Yes, Mr Barker.

        20

        21       MR BARKER:   Could I make a 10-second application,

        22       Mr Commissioner?

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        25

        26       MR BARKER:   That is that my instructing solicitors borrow

        27       three tapes of interviews with Mr Emons to take them to

        28       Perth and have them transcribed.  It has been the subject

        29       of some correspondence, but so far we haven't got very far

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Has there been some discussion about

        32       it?

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   There has been correspondence about it.

        35       I haven't spoken to my learned friend, but to this point in

        36       time there has not been demonstrated sufficient reason why

        37       these tapes ought to be made available.  There is no issue

        38       joined with Mr Emons, as we understand it.  We do not know

        39       the reason why it is that these tapes need to be borrowed

        40       or transcribed.  We are not proposing to permit an

        41       investigation of this inquiry's investigation.  It seems to

        42       us to be no more than a fishing expedition.  We have

        43       written and asked for better reasons as to why it is that

        44       access should be given to the tapes of the interviews with

        45       Mr Emons, and to date we have not received what we regard

        46       as a satisfactory explanation.

        47
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         1       MR BARKER:   Perhaps, Commissioner, would you look at our

         2       affidavit and see if you regard it as satisfactory?  As we

         3       all know, Mr Emons imputes knowledge to Mr Flugge, which

         4       Mr Flugge denies.  That's the area of contention.  It would

         5       surely be relevant, or may be relevant, the material on

         6       these tapes.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   That hasn't been put to us in any letter.

         9

        10       MR BARKER:   It is consistent with your granting access to

        11       the tapes of --

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   I really have to adjourn now, but if

        14       you let me have the letter I will have a look at it.  We

        15       have an appointment with an ambassador at 5 o'clock and we

        16       have to set up this room and the shorthand writers have got

        17       to have a break.

        18

        19       MR CLELLAND:   Commissioner, rather than adjourning

        20       Mr Hargreaves' evidence to Monday, would you permit me to

        21       just take some instructions and just have some discussions

        22       with counsel assisting?

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Make a convenient arrangement, yes,

        25       Mr Clelland.  I will adjourn until 5 o'clock.

        26

        27       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        28

        29       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        30

        31            (Telephone hook-up to Beijing established)

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Hello, is that Mr Nicholas?

        34

        35       MR ROBERTSON:   Commissioner, may I seek leave to appear

        36       for Mr Nicholas?

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, leave is granted on the usual

        39       terms.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:  Mr Nicholas, can you hear us?

        42

        43       MR McPHILLIPS:   It is Justin McPhillips of the Australian

        44       Embassy in Beijing.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is Mr Nicholas present?

        47
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         1       MR McPHILLIPS:   Good afternoon.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Good afternoon.  Can you hear me?

         4

         5       MR McPHILLIPS:   Yes.  It is Justin McPhillips at the

         6       Australian Embassy in Beijing.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am Commissioner Cole.  I am the

         9       Commissioner who has been appointed to inquire into certain

        10       matters concerning the Oil-for-Food Program.

        11

        12       MR McPHILLIPS:  Good afternoon, Commissioner.  I have with

        13       me Mr Alistair Nicholas.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        16

        17       MR NICHOLAS:   Good afternoon.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Good afternoon, Mr Nicholas.  I should

        20       tell you that these proceedings are being recorded and that

        21       there are, amongst others, in the court room Mr Agius, who

        22       is counsel assisting, Mr Robertson, who is appearing for

        23       you, Mr Barker, who is appearing for Mr Flugge, and

        24       Mr Carter, who is appearing for Mr Snowball.  Did you

        25       understand that?

        26

        27       MR NICHOLAS:   Yes, I understand it.  We do have a very bad

        28       line.  You are occasionally dropping out, Commissioner.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   All right.  I will try and speak up.

        31       I must ask you to take an oath or an affirmation.  Which

        32       would you prefer?

        33

        34       MR NICHOLAS:   I will take the oath.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   All right.  I shall read it out to you.

        37

        38       <ALISTAIR NICHOLAS, sworn:                   [5.02pm]

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will now pass the speaking role over

        41       to Mr Agius, who is counsel assisting the Commission.

        42

        43       THE WITNESS:   Okay.

        44

        45

        46

        47
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         1       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can you hear me, Mr Nicholas?

         4       A.   Only just.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Just a minute while we reorganise a

         7       little.

         8

         9       THE WITNESS:   Sure.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can you hear me now?

        12       A.   Yes, that's better.

        13

        14       Q.   We've got two statutory declarations from you.  Do you

        15       have copies of them with you?

        16       A.   Yes, I do.  I have both of them here in front of me.

        17

        18       Q.   The first is dated 27 January?

        19       A.   Yes.  I'm just trying to see the date.  I have got one

        20       in front of me.

        21

        22       Q.   That's a one-page statutory declaration?

        23       A.   Yes, that's right.

        24

        25       Q.   The second is three pages, and it is dated 14 March?

        26       A.   Yes, that's correct.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I shall mark those exhibits 701 and 702

        29       respectively.

        30

        31       EXHIBIT #701 FIRST STATUTORY DECLARATION OF ALISTAIR

        32       NICHOLAS, DATED 27/1/2006

        33

        34       EXHIBIT #702 SECOND STATUTORY DECLARATION OF ALISTAIR

        35       NICHOLAS, DATED 14/3/2006

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   May we take it that the contents of those

        38       are true and correct to the best of your knowledge and

        39       belief, Mr Nicholas?

        40       A.   Yes, they are true and correct to the best of my

        41       belief.

        42

        43       Q.   We also have from you - that is, authored by you - a

        44       cable entitled "Australian Wheat Board dealings with Iraq

        45       under UN oil-for-food."  It is dated 11 March 2000.

        46       A.   Yes, I have a copy of that here as well.

        47
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         1       Q.   Was that a cable that you composed?

         2       A.   Yes, I do believe it was a cable that I composed.

         3

         4       Q.   May we take it that, to the best of your knowledge and

         5       belief, the contents of that are also true?

         6       A.   Yes, you can.

         7

         8       Q.   I want to ask you just a few questions about your

         9       meeting with Ms Johnston.  She is the chief of the

        10       contracts processing section.

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Perhaps the shortest way to do this is to ask you, do

        14       you have a copy of the cable from Bronte Moules of

        15       13 January 2000?

        16       A.   I believe I do.  Let me just have a look for that one.

        17

        18       Q.   It should be at pages 9 and 10 of your bundle, I am

        19       told.

        20       A.   Yes, I do have that, then, yes.

        21

        22       Q.   Do you see that in paragraph 2 of Bronte Moules' cable

        23       she sets out advice that she has received from Ms Johnston?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   Can I ask you to take a moment and read that

        27       paragraph 2?

        28       A.   Okay.  Give me one minute.  Yes.  I have read that

        29       paragraph 2.

        30

        31       Q.   And would you read paragraph 3 as well?

        32       A.   Sure.  Yes, I have read that paragraph as well.

        33

        34       Q.   Now, when Ms Johnston spoke to you, as you have set

        35       out in your cable - do you have that?

        36       A.   Yes, I do.  Do I need to turn back to it?

        37

        38       Q.   Yes.

        39       A.   Sure.

        40

        41       Q.   Paragraph 2 of your cable.

        42       A.   Yes, I have that.

        43

        44       Q.   You see that part-way through the paragraph you say

        45       this:

        46

        47            Johnston said there were continuing
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         1            concerns by the Mission of a third country

         2            that the AWB had agreed to irregular

         3            payment terms required by the Grain Board

         4            of Iraq.

         5

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   In that connection, did Ms Johnston say anything to

         9       you about the subject matter that you have read in

        10       paragraphs 2 and 3 of Ms Moules' cable?

        11       A.   Not to my recollection.

        12

        13       Q.   To the best of your recollection, then, did

        14       Ms Johnston say anything to you about the detail of what

        15       you call in your cable "irregular payment terms"?

        16       A.   Not to my recollection, she did not.

        17

        18       Q.   Do you have with you a copy of an email from

        19       Mr Snowball to Mr Emons of 16 --

        20       A.   Can you give me a page number for that?

        21

        22       Q.   Yes.  I hope to.

        23       A.   I am sure I have it.  I have seen it, but I just can't

        24       recall which page it was.

        25

        26       Q.   I am told it might be the last document in your

        27       bundle?

        28       A.   Just a minute.  I need to put the handset down to flip

        29       the pages, I am sorry.  Yes.  I do have it.  It is the last

        30       document here.

        31

        32       Q.   Have you read it?

        33       A.   Sorry?  I couldn't hear you.

        34

        35       Q.   Have you read it?

        36       A.   Yes, I did read it.

        37

        38       Q.   Could you just take a moment to read it again?

        39       A.   Yes, I will do that.

        40

        41       Q.   Would you read the first three numbered paragraphs?

        42       A.   Okay.  Yes, I have read those first three paragraphs.

        43

        44       Q.   Is that in any way an accurate summary of what

        45       occurred during the course of your meeting with Mr Flugge

        46       and Mr Snowball when you met with them in Washington?

        47       A.   To the best of my recollection, yes, it is.
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         1

         2       Q.   Well, you will see, then, that paragraph 2 says:

         3

         4            Alistair mentioned that someone at the UN

         5            was asking him quietly/informally about

         6            payments AWB was making to Iraq for

         7            discharge/trucking.  Alistair suggested to

         8            us that the request for information on the

         9            above contract clause was linked to this

        10            discharge/trucking payment issue.

        11

        12       Do you see that?

        13       A.   Yes.  I am sorry, I focused on paragraph 3 just now

        14       when I read it, in responding to that question.  I don't

        15       believe there was a discussion in Washington with me that

        16       specifically dealt with the issue of discharge and

        17       trucking.  To the best of my recollection, that was not

        18       part of the discussion.

        19

        20       Q.   Right.  So this reference to Alistair mentioning that

        21       somebody at the UN was asking you quietly or informally

        22       about payments AWB was making, you say that that never

        23       occurred?

        24       A.   To the best of my recollection, there was no

        25       discussion of payments or discharge of trucking.  The

        26       discussion was about irregularities in the contract and the

        27       possible existence of parallel contracts.

        28

        29       Q.   You recall a discussion to that effect with Mr Flugge

        30       and Mr Snowball?

        31       A.   I am fairly certain that, if there was a discussion of

        32       anything else, it would have been in my cable.

        33

        34       Q.   Had you spoken to anybody informally at the UN, or

        35       quietly?

        36       A.   Only to Ms Johnston.  The only discussion that I am

        37       aware of is the one that was referred to in my cable with

        38       Ms Johnston at the UN.

        39

        40       Q.   Have you any recollection of any discussion on the

        41       topic of discharge or trucking and payments being made by

        42       AWB in that regard when you met with Mr Flugge and

        43       Mr Snowball?

        44       A.   No, I do not.

        45

        46       Q.   And so would you dispute that you mentioned those

        47       topics during the course of that meeting?
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         1       A.   I would say that I don't recall a discussion of those

         2       topics, and I believe that if there was a discussion of

         3       those topics it would have been reported in my cable.

         4

         5       Q.   Might it be that you deliberately suppressed reporting

         6       that material in your cable for any particular reason -

         7       I am not suggesting a sinister reason, but for any other

         8       reason, perhaps wanting to have the matter dealt with more

         9       confidentially than a cable might cause?

        10       A.   Well, I couldn't imagine any more confidential way to

        11       deal with something than a secret cable.

        12

        13       Q.   Thank you, Mr Nicholas.  That's the examination that

        14       I have for you.  It may be that other people want to ask

        15       you some questions.  Would you just wait a moment?

        16       A.   Yes, thank you, Mr Agius.

        17

        18       <EXAMINATION BY MR ROBERTSON:

        19

        20       MR ROBERTSON:   Q.   Mr Nicholas, it is Alan Robertson

        21       here.  Can you hear me?

        22       A.   Yes, I can, Mr Robertson.

        23

        24       Q.   I have got two questions for you about the 9 March

        25       2000 meeting with AWB representatives in Washington?

        26       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        27

        28       Q.   At that meeting, to the best of your recollection,

        29       were contract prices discussed?

        30       A.   To the best of my recollection, no, they were not.

        31

        32       Q.   Do you recall for how long the meeting with the AWB

        33       representatives lasted?

        34       A.   I do not at this time.

        35

        36       MR ROBERTSON:   Thank you, Mr Nicholas.  They are the only

        37       questions I have.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Barker?

        40

        41       MR BARKER:   No, we don't need to now, thank you.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Carter?  Yes.

        44

        45

        46

        47
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         1       <EXAMINATION BY MR CARTER:

         2

         3       MR CARTER:   Q.   Hello, Mr Nicholas.  My name is Lachlan

         4       Carter.  I am appearing with another barrister, Mr Forrest,

         5       on behalf of Tim Snowball and some other employees.  Can

         6       you hear me?

         7       A.   Mmm-hmm.  Sorry, I missed the last part.

         8

         9       Q.   I am appearing on behalf of Tim Snowball, as is

        10       relevant to these questions.

        11       A.   Okay.

        12

        13       Q.   I just want to take you back over a couple of the

        14       documents you have already been asked about, in particular

        15       your cable of 11 March.

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   Do you have that in front of you, sir?

        19       A.   Just a moment.  I will turn back to that page.  Yes,

        20       I do have that in front of me now.

        21

        22       Q.   Just before I proceed, I want to make it clear that

        23       none of my questions will be suggesting any deliberate

        24       suppression of information --

        25       A.   Sure.

        26

        27       Q.   -- but this document partly relates to events over six

        28       years ago; correct?

        29       A.   Mmm-hmm, true.

        30

        31       Q.   To the extent that you have got a memory at all of

        32       them, it is really something - and I don't say this as a

        33       criticism - that is reconstructed by reference to your

        34       cable; is that a fair comment?

        35       A.   I suppose it is possible that it took the cables to

        36       bring the memories back, yes.

        37

        38       Q.   You are reliant upon the cable to be able to give

        39       evidence about March 2000 at all?

        40       A.   I am reliant on the details of the cable, yes.

        41

        42       Q.   Yes.  Now, when you met with Felicity Johnston at the

        43       chief contracts processing section in New York, was that a

        44       meeting that took place just between the two of you?

        45       A.   To the best of my recollection, yes, it was.

        46

        47       Q.   There could have been other people there but, based on
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         1       your cable, you say it was the two of you?

         2       A.   Yes, that's correct.

         3

         4       Q.   Are you able to recall whether she had any documents

         5       with her at that time?

         6       A.   I can't recall that level of detail.

         7

         8       Q.   Can I suggest to you that it is likely, if you look at

         9       the last three lines in paragraph 2 of your cable, that she

        10       in fact had with her a contract?

        11       A.   It is possible.

        12

        13       Q.   And that what she was doing was drawing your attention

        14       to an AWB Limited Australian wheat contract that contained

        15       at the bottom of it a phrase "All other terms and

        16       conditions as per AWB Limited and Grain Board of Iraq

        17       standard terms and conditions"?

        18       A.   It is possible.  I can't recall if that was an actual

        19       clause of a contract I did see at that time.

        20

        21       Q.   If you look, then, at the following point in your

        22       cable - it is the top of the following page - you state

        23       that Johnston asked whether you could follow up with any

        24       parallel contracts; do you see that?

        25       A.   Yes, I do.

        26

        27       Q.   What I want to suggest to you, sir - and, again, it is

        28       not a criticism - is that by "parallel contracts", what you

        29       are in fact referring to is the wording that I have just

        30       taken you to contained in an AWB Limited short-form

        31       Australian wheat contract, and that that had been shown to

        32       you by Ms Johnston?

        33       A.   Either shown to me or quoted to me by her, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Could I ask now that you go to the document that you

        36       were taken to - I think it was at the back of your pack; an

        37       email from Mr Snowball to Mark Emons of 15 March 2000.

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   You were asked to read over the first three points of

        41       that.  Do you remember that, when Mr Agius asked you that

        42       down the telephone?

        43       A.   Yes, I do.

        44

        45       Q.   Do you see the second point - I will just ask you to

        46       read that to yourself for a moment.  Do you see that?

        47       A.   Yes, I do.  I have read that.
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         1

         2       Q.   Do you see there that what Mr Snowball is doing is

         3       specifically identifying, he says, the section of a

         4       short-form contract that a UN official had asked you to

         5       seek clarification on; correct?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   It is exactly the terminology that you have agreed was

         9       likely to have been drawn to your attention, either by way

        10       of the written contract or by way of her describing what

        11       was contained in it?

        12       A.   That is - the terminology that's in the quotation

        13       marks?

        14

        15       Q.   Yes.

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   In other words, what I am suggesting to you - and

        19       I don't think there is any mystery about this, sir - is

        20       that what you did following the communication with

        21       Ms Johnston is what your cable says you would do, that is,

        22       you went probably with a contract, or a copy of a contract,

        23       and drew that clause to the attention of the people that

        24       were present on behalf of AWB; do you accept that?

        25       A.   I am not entirely sure that's correct - that I had a

        26       copy of the contract.  I don't believe I did.

        27

        28       Q.   You certainly don't have any contracts there with you

        29       now, do you?

        30       A.   No, I do not.

        31

        32       Q.   But if you can accept from me that the state of the

        33       evidence in this Commission is that there were at least

        34       four contracts that contained explicit reference to the

        35       requirement to pay a fee to the nominated maritime agents

        36       in Iraq, in the context of the cargo having to be

        37       discharged free into truck - would you accept that that's

        38       the evidence --

        39       A.   I am sorry, I am not sure that I understand the

        40       question.  Could you please repeat it?

        41

        42       Q.   All I am coming to, sir, is that it is very likely,

        43       I suggest, that Mr Snowball's record of what occurred at

        44       the meeting is entirely accurate and consistent with the

        45       documentation that you had been shown by Ms Johnston first

        46       of all and then that you had raised with the AWB in this

        47       meeting?
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         1

         2       MR ROBERTSON:   Mr Commissioner, I know it is very

         3       difficult, but is my learned friend saying --

         4

         5       THE WITNESS:   I am sorry, I'm still not sure.  Is the

         6       question do I agree that this is accurate?

         7

         8       MR CARTER:   Yes.

         9

        10       MR ROBERTSON:  Could I just interrupt for a moment?  I am

        11       sorry, I know it is difficult.

        12

        13       THE WITNESS:   I am sorry, I can't hear what's being said.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Just wait a minute, please,

        16       Mr Nicholas.

        17

        18       MR ROBERTSON:   Is my learned friend asking Mr Nicholas

        19       about paragraph 2 at the moment of this --

        20

        21       MR CARTER:   Yes.

        22

        23       MR ROBERTSON:   I don't know if that is clear, if I may say

        24       so.  The question seemed to roll up --

        25

        26       MR CARTER:   It is pretty clear, Commissioner.  I asked him

        27       if he could read paragraph 2 to himself.  I haven't moved

        28       from it.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Ask him about paragraph 2.

        31

        32       MR CARTER:   Q.   Sir, I am still asking you about point 2

        33       of Mr Snowball's email to Mr Emons?

        34       A.   Yes.  I am sorry, I couldn't hear what was being said.

        35       I could only hear muffled voices in the background, so

        36       I wasn't sure whether I should speak or what was being

        37       discussed.

        38

        39       Q.   You understand the section of Mr Snowball's email I am

        40       directing you to, it is paragraph 2?

        41       A.   Yes, I do.

        42

        43       Q.   Perhaps the shorthand way to do it is you don't have

        44       any reason to dispute the accuracy of what he records

        45       there, do you, sir?

        46       A.   The only reason I would have is that I believe that if

        47       details were discussed they would have been referred to in
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         1       my cable.  If I had a copy of the contract, I believe

         2       I would have sent them on to people in Canberra or to

         3       someone else who should have received a copy of the

         4       contract.

         5

         6       Q.   All right.  Do you accept that by your reference to

         7       "parallel contracts" in paragraph 3 of your cable --

         8       A.   Mmm-hmm.

         9

        10       Q.   -- and you have put the words in inverted commas -

        11       what you are in fact referring to is the phrase "All other

        12       terms and conditions as per AWB Limited and Grain Board of

        13       Iraq standard terms and conditions"; in other words, that

        14       that wording triggered in Ms Johnston's mind, and then as

        15       requested to you, a need to get hold of other

        16       documentation?

        17       A.   Yes.  I believe that's correct.  I believe she would

        18       have used the words "parallel contracts" to me, and that's

        19       why I placed it in inverted commas in my cable.

        20

        21       Q.   Thank you.  Can I just ask you a couple of other

        22       matters, Mr Nicholas.  Do you agree with me that it was a

        23       fairly unusual function for Austrade to be performing;

        24       namely, raising with the AWB questions as to terms of

        25       contracts?

        26       A.   Yes, it was not part of my normal duties.

        27

        28       Q.   Yes.  This was a very isolated case.  Ordinarily those

        29       inquiries of the AWB would come from the Australian Mission

        30       to the United Nations directly?

        31       A.   Correct.

        32

        33       Q.   I have just a couple more matters, sir.  When

        34       Ms Johnston first met with you and stated that informal

        35       concerns had been raised about irregularities in payment,

        36       as I understand your evidence, she did not descend to any

        37       detail?

        38       A.   Correct.

        39

        40       Q.   That is something, in fairness to you, that is your

        41       recollection based on your own cable?

        42       A.   Correct.

        43

        44       Q.   You don't deny that she might have referred to detail?

        45       A.   I think if she had referred to detail I would have

        46       reported it in the cable.

        47
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         1       Q.   Can I just suggest to you that the natural human

         2       response that you would have made when she indicated that

         3       there were irregularities - and, as you have accepted, it

         4       is likely that she had some documentation, or at least had

         5       referred to documentation in the course of the discussion -

         6       is for you to ask for some specificity as to the alleged

         7       irregularity, rather than just leave it in a vacuum?

         8       A.   It is possible that I did ask her for specifics of it.

         9       I think she was reluctant to give me specifics, including

        10       naming the third country.

        11

        12       Q.   Do you know why she was talking to you as well as the

        13       Australian Mission to the United Nations?

        14       A.   My understanding was that she had raised it with the

        15       Mission, had not had a response, and saw me as another

        16       possibility to get a response from the Wheat Board on the

        17       matters she was trying to get some more information on.

        18

        19       Q.   In other words, she was making the same request of you

        20       as she had made of the Australian Mission?

        21

        22       MR ROBERTSON:   That's not fair.  That's not fair.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I reject that question.

        25

        26       THE WITNESS:   [STRIKE-OUT BEGINS] Yes, I believe it was

        27       the same request or a similar request. [STRIKE-OUT ENDS]

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   You can strike that answer out.

        30

        31       MR CARTER:   Sir, that, with respect, is entirely unfair.

        32       To reject the question that the witness was perfectly

        33       capable of answering, especially in these circumstances --

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have rejected the question.

        36

        37       MR CARTER:   Well, the transcript will also record my

        38       objection to the striking out of evidence.

        39

        40       THE WITNESS:   I am sorry, I didn't hear that.

        41

        42       MR CARTER:   Q.  Sir, that last answer that you gave has

        43       been rejected and struck from the record.  One final

        44       matter, sir, is this:  did it appear to you from your

        45       conversation with Felicity Johnston that she was frustrated

        46       that the Australian Mission hadn't got back to her?

        47       A.   Reading the cable, I would say yes, she was frustrated
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         1       that she hadn't received a response.

         2

         3       Q.   And that that provides the explanation as to why it

         4       was that she was taking the unusual course of going via

         5       Austrade?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Do you agree with me, then, that it is entirely

         9       logical that she would tell you what she had told the

        10       Australian Mission?

        11       A.   Would I agree with that - in my opinion, I don't

        12       believe so, because I think she would have seen my role as

        13       more of a commercial officer.  My role was to promote

        14       Australian commercial interests, whereas the Mission's role

        15       would have been - would have warranted her giving them that

        16       detail.  Perhaps she felt that it wasn't my role,

        17       therefore, she didn't want to give me as much detail, but

        18       asked me if I could pursue it to see if we could help to

        19       get a response from the Mission or the Wheat Board.

        20

        21       Q.   All right.  Now, just one final matter - I know

        22       barristers have a habit of saying that three or four times

        23       before they finish - Austrade had people working in Jordan

        24       in the year 2000; is that right?

        25       A.   I am sorry, I can't hear you.

        26

        27       Q.   Austrade - that's who you worked for?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   You don't work for them anymore; is that right?

        31       A.   That is correct.

        32

        33       Q.   You are no longer an employee of the Commonwealth of

        34       Australia?

        35       A.   That is correct.

        36

        37       Q.   In 2000, did Austrade have people working in Jordan?

        38       A.   To the best of my recollection, we had a post in

        39       Amman.

        40

        41       Q.   Yes.  What I am interested in is when concerns as to

        42       irregularities in AWB contracting under oil-for-food were

        43       raised, did you make some inquiries with your people in

        44       Amman?

        45       A.   No, I did not, to the best of my recollection.

        46

        47       Q.   You might have?
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         1       A.   I don't think so.

         2

         3       Q.   What about in Iraq - did Austrade have people in Iraq?

         4       A.   I don't recall if we had a post in Baghdad, but

         5       I don't think I had any contact with the post in Baghdad.

         6

         7       Q.   Leaving aside this issue, did you from time to time

         8       have contact with the Austrade post in Amman?

         9       A.   We may have.  I don't recall specifically an issue

        10       that we had contact with, but quite possibly, due to the

        11       role in Washington, I would have.

        12

        13       Q.   Was your role in Washington that of - was that the

        14       central international office, if you like, of Austrade?

        15       A.   It was the central office for pursuit of projects

        16       through multilateral agencies such as the World Bank and

        17       the United Nations, which meant I did have contact with a

        18       number of posts around the world where there were

        19       World Bank or UN projects under way.

        20

        21       Q.   If an issue was being raised about contracting with

        22       Iraq under the Oil-for-Food Program, with Austrade,

        23       wouldn't it be obvious that you would get hold of people in

        24       the area that worked for Austrade and see what they could

        25       help you with?

        26       A.   My role was to report, through my own executive

        27       general manager based in Los Angeles, and, as it said in my

        28       cable, upon his advice, my communication was via cable to

        29       the managing director and deputy managing director of

        30       Austrade.

        31

        32       Q.   Why was your cable also sent to Dr Calvert, who, as

        33       I understand it, was the secretary of DFAT at the time?

        34       A.   To tell the truth, I don't know, and I don't recall

        35       that I had included Dr Calvert on the distribution, but

        36       possibly because it was classified "secret".

        37

        38       Q.   I should say as a matter of fairness to you, sir, I am

        39       not suggesting that you submitted it to Dr Calvert, but his

        40       name does appear under "Limited Distribution".  You will

        41       see that at the end of the cable.

        42       A.   Yes.  I do.

        43

        44       MR CARTER:   Thank you very much, sir.

        45

        46       THE WITNESS:   Thank you.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Robertson?

         2

         3       MR ROBERTSON:   No questions, thank you.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius?

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Just one matter.

         8

         9       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Nicholas, it is John Agius again.  I am

        12       counsel assisting the inquiry.

        13       A.   Yes, Mr Agius.

        14

        15       Q.   In your cable you begin it with a summary --

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   -- which ends with this sentence:

        19

        20            Trade Commissioner is concerned that AWB

        21            did not understand the seriousness nor the

        22            urgency of the matter.  It may be necessary

        23            to advise the minister of the situation.

        24

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   Do you recollect why it is that you wrote that in your

        28       cable?

        29       A.   To the best of my recollection, my concern would have

        30       been that future wheat contracts with Iraq, which I knew to

        31       be a major market for Australian Wheat, could have been

        32       jeopardised if we did not respond to that; that there was a

        33       third country likely to take formal action if no response

        34       was received; and I believed that the minister should be

        35       made aware of these matters.

        36

        37       Q.   What was there about irregular payment terms that

        38       caused you any concern?

        39       A.   I think I was more concerned about the fact that the

        40       UN was asking for a response and hadn't received it, and

        41       that could trigger action by a third country that could

        42       jeopardise our contracts.  I don't recall that

        43       I specifically had concerns about what may or may not have

        44       been in the contracts.

        45

        46       Q.   When you concluded the cable with the words "Note that

        47       distribution of this cable has been restricted", can you
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         1       recall, did you restrict the distribution of the cable to

         2       Mr Jamieson at Austrade, or did you have in mind a broader

         3       distribution?

         4       A.   I think the opening of the cable, where it says who

         5       the cable was sent to within Austrade on the advice of my

         6       EGM - executive general manager - Michael Johnson in

         7       Los Angeles is who I intended the distribution of the cable

         8       to.

         9

        10       Q.   That is Austrade managing director, Sydney,

        11       Charles Jamieson?

        12       A.   Yes, and Austrade deputy managing director

        13       Pete Langhorne.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Nicholas, this is the Commissioner

        18       again.  Thank you very much for coming to the embassy and

        19       taking this call.  That concludes our discussion with you.

        20       Thank you.

        21

        22       THE WITNESS:   Okay, thank you, Commissioner.

        23

        24       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Mr Barker has asked me to tender a document,

        27       which is a schedule of appointments for Mr Flugge during

        28       the course of this visit to Washington.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   He has a copy of it.  I am not otherwise aware

        33       of it.  We may have other copies.  Might I tender it,

        34       Mr Commissioner?

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   I believe the copy Mr Barker has is signed by

        39       Mr Flugge.

        40

        41       MR BARKER:   It is headed "Overseas travel diary".  The

        42       point of it is to show the details of the meetings on that

        43       day.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   All right.  I shall mark that document

        46       exhibit 703.

        47
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         1       EXHIBIT #703 SCHEDULE OF APPOINTMENTS FOR MR FLUGGE DURING

         2       THE COURSE OF A VISIT TO WASHINGTON

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, we have a further

         5       34 statements from DFAT to tender.  I tender them as

         6       exhibits.  I would ask that they be confidential exhibits

         7       but that my learned friends have access to them for the

         8       purpose, of course, of obtaining instructions and

         9       determining whether any of them wish to make application to

        10       examine any of these witnesses.  I will tender a schedule

        11       as well and ask that it be marked as a confidential

        12       exhibit.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   The schedule will be confidential

        15       exhibit 285C.

        16

        17       EXHIBIT #285C SCHEDULE OF 34 DFAT STATUTORY DECLARATIONS

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   The statutory declarations will be

        20       confidential exhibits 286C to 319C inclusive.  I make a

        21       non-publication order in respect of those exhibits until

        22       they are tendered as a public exhibit.

        23

        24       EXHIBIT #286C-319C STATUTORY DECLARATIONS

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Copies of them will be available.

        27       Mr Commissioner, we would ask that my learned friends and

        28       those who have appeared and who have authorisation to

        29       appear consider whether or not they wish to make

        30       application to examine any of the witnesses, being past or

        31       present employees of the Commonwealth.  There are now a

        32       very large number of statements that have been provided on

        33       a confidential basis and we would seek to have an

        34       indication in that regard early next week.  I would ask you

        35       to make an order in that respect.  Could I also indicate

        36       that the inquiry has written and requested additional

        37       statements from two ministers, the Minister For Foreign

        38       Affairs and the Minister for Trade and Deputy Prime

        39       Minister, Mr Vaile.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Very well.  What's a convenient

        42       time for a response to those documents?

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Early next week.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Tuesday?

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   Tuesday, by 5 o'clock?

         2

         3       MR CARTER:   Sir, can I just briefly say - we will try to

         4       meet that.  It is just that if the response comes in, as I

         5       have indicated previously to the last matter mentioned by

         6       my learned friend, it might be that that cuts out a lot of

         7       other witnesses that we might otherwise want.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   I'm afraid we can't approach it on that basis.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   You will have to make up your mind, I'm

        12       afraid.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   All of the DFAT statements that we expect,

        15       I think perhaps without exception - there may be one or two

        16       exceptions, I have to check the list - are now in.  My

        17       learned friends have all of them.  I ask them to consider

        18       those statements as they stand, because we won't be

        19       entertaining applications after the ministers have provided

        20       their statements and given their evidence.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   All right.  Mr Barker?

        23

        24       MR BARKER:   Could I re-raise the Emons tapes?

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I think you ought to be entitled

        27       to see anything on the tapes which relates to the two

        28       matters referred to, or hear anything on the tapes which

        29       relates to the two matters in your letter of 29 March.

        30       Whether that involves listening to the whole lot or whether

        31       some distillation can be made by those assisting me is a

        32       matter you can negotiate, I have no doubt.

        33

        34       MR BARKER:   Very well.  I had hoped that they could be

        35       taken to Perth tonight, so that we could have them before

        36       the cross-examination.  Thank you.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   We only have the original copies, and we would

        39       not propose to pass those out.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, we certainly can't pass those out.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   We provided Mr Lacava with an electronic copy,

        44       which is why they got to him so late yesterday.  We would

        45       propose to do the same with these.  We might be able to

        46       reduce them to sound files and electronically transmit them

        47       to Perth, if that would be of any assistance.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   That sounds like hieroglyphics to me.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   We will do our best to get them out as soon as

         5       we can.  We won't be able to get them put on a disk

         6       tonight.  It will have to occur during the course of the

         7       day tomorrow.

         8

         9       MR BARKER:   I am by nature a Luddite and I don't

        10       understand what that's all about.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   You put a disk in a machine and press the play

        13       button.

        14

        15       MR BARKER:   I don't approve of that sort of thing.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will adjourn until 10am on Monday.

        18

        19       AT 5.45PM THE COMMISSION WAS ADJOURNED

        20       TO MONDAY 3 APRIL 2006 AT 10AM

        21

        22

        23

        24

        25

        26

        27

        28

        29

        30

        31

        32

        33

        34

        35

        36

        37

        38

        39

        40

        41

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47



            .30/3/06 (57)              5796

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters



�








